

THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy with Older Adults and Psychosocial Adjustment to Mild Cognitive Impairment

> Kerry Ross Doctorate in Clinical Psychology The University of Edinburgh May 2018

DCLINPSYCHOL DECLARATION OF OWN WORK

Name:	Kerry Ross
Title:	Acceptance and commitment therapy with older adults and
	psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment

I confirm that this work is my own except where indicated, and that I have:

- Read and understood the Plagiarism Rules and Regulations
- · Composed and undertaken the work myself
- Clearly referenced/listed all sources as appropriate
- Referenced and put in inverted commas any guoted text of more than three words (from books, web, etc.)
- Given the sources of all pictures, data etc. that are not my own
- Not made undue use of essay(s) of any other student(s), either past or present (or where used, this has been referenced appropriately)
- Not sought or used the help of any external professional agencies for the work (or where used, this has been referenced appropriately)
- Not submitted the work for any other degree or professional gualification except as specified
- Acknowledged in appropriate places any help that I have received from others (e.g. fellow students, technicians, statisticians, external sources)
- Complied with other plagiarism criteria specified in the Programme Handbook
- I understand that any false claim for this work will be penalised in accordance with the University regulations
- Received ethical approval from the School of Health in Social Science, University • of Edinburgh

OR

Received ethical approval from an approved external body and registered this application and confirmation of approval with the School of Health in Social Science's Ethical Committee

 Signature:
 K-*cMKKK* Date: 25th April 2018

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to my Mum and her mastery in keeping me company during those long journeys on the M8.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful to the participants who gave up their time to take part in this research. Thank you for being willing to share your experiences with me.

I would like to thank my clinical supervisors Dr Amanda Stevenson and Dr Tom Weavers for their guidance and support throughout this process. Thank you to my colleagues in the Lothian Older People's Psychology Service, in particular Sandy McAfee for his assistance with recruitment and Rachel Gibson for accompanying me to home visits.

Thank you to my academic supervisors Dr David Gillanders and Dr Azucena Guzmán for your teaching and encouragement. I am grateful to Henry Whitfield for translation support and Laura Alexander for co-rating papers.

My fellow trainees, thank you for the past two and a half years, they've been full of *'sparkling moments'*.

I wouldn't have been able to get through the highs and lows of training without the support of Mum, Kevin and my wonderful friends. I'm very lucky to have you all.

Finally, biggest love and thanks to Simon - you're my best pal. Thank you for giving up the station and keeping me on my toads.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	3
Overview to thesis portfolio	8
Thesis portfolio abstract	9
Lay summary	10
Chapter 1: Systematic review	11
Abstract	12
Introduction	14
Methods	21
Results	25
Discussion	45
Conclusion	49
References	50
Chapter 2: Empirical project	65
Abstract	66
Introduction	68
Methods	73
Results	83
Discussion	95

Conclusion
References
Thesis portfolio references120
List of appendices148
Appendix A: Journal of Contextual Behavioural Science author guidelines 149
Appendix B: Quality assessment criteria164
Appendix C: Psychology and Aging author guidelines168
Appendix D: Ethical approval documentation173
Appendix E: Demographic questionnaire175
Appendix F: Participant information sheet176
Appendix G: Preliminary statistical analyses

List of figures

Figure A1: Flow chart of screening process for systematic review	25
Figure B1: Process of recruitment	80
Figure B2: Conditional process analysis – anxiety models	91
Figure B3: Conditional process analysis – depression models	92
Figure B4: Conditional process analysis – quality of life models	93

List of tables

Table A1: Characteristics of included studies 2	28
Table A2: Methodological quality ratings of included studies	35
Table A3: Summary of treatment effects on distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility (excluding case studies)	40
Table A4: Summary of treatment effects on distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility (case studies)	43
Table B1: Descriptive statistics for the study sample	84
Table B2: Descriptive statistics for independent, mediator and outcome variables with comparative data	85
Table B3: Correlation matrix between independent, mediator and outcome variables	88
Table B4: Linear regression for predictor of depression, anxiety and quality of life Results	89
Table C1: Variable transformations 18	82

Word count: 17,894 (excluding abstracts, references and appendices)

OVERVIEW TO THESIS PORTFOLIO

This thesis was completed in part fulfilment of the Doctorate in Clinical Psychology. It is divided into two chapters: chapter one is a systematic review of the literature investigating Acceptance and Commitment Therapy with older adults; and chapter two is an empirical study investigating psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment.

Both chapters are presented in journal article format.

THESIS PORTFOLIO ABSTRACT

Purpose: The systematic review summarised the research investigating Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) with older adults. The empirical study explored psychosocial adjustment patterns to a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment, a condition characterised by memory or thinking problems.

Method: The review included 14 studies identified through database searches using predefined eligibility criteria. The empirical study employed a cross-sectional design. Thirty-five participants completed a short cognitive assessment and a series of questionnaires measuring perceptions of MCI, cognitive fusion (i.e. how caught up someone is with their thoughts), anxiety, depression and quality of life.

Results: The review found initial evidence to suggest that ACT is an acceptable and effective intervention for reducing distress in older adults. The empirical study found that threatening perceptions of MCI were more strongly related to psychosocial adjustment outcomes than objective level of cognitive impairment. The study also found evidence to suggest that cognitive fusion is associated with adjustment outcomes in an MCI population.

Conclusions: The systematic review highlights the limited, but promising evidence-base for the application of ACT with older adults. The review emphasises the need for further research with improved methodological rigor. Findings from the empirical study need to be replicated with a larger sample, however the results indicate that psychological interventions such like ACT could have utility for MCI patients with adjustment difficulties.

LAY SUMMARY

This project has two parts.

Part one is a review of research studies. The studies aimed to find out whether Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) could help older people reduce feelings of distress (e.g. anxiety or low mood) or improve physical ability. Most of the studies found that ACT could help lower distress in older people. Some of the studies found that ACT helped to improve the physical ability of older people with long-term pain. The review uncovered only a small amount of research focusing on ACT for older people. The studies did show that ACT could be used with older people living in the community and care home settings. More research is needed to work out how helpful ACT is compared to other types of therapy for older people.

Part two is a research study. It focuses on how people adjust to a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (i.e. thinking or memory problems). The people who took part in the study had been diagnosed with MCI in the past three to nine months. The study found that people's beliefs about MCI influenced their quality of life and their mood. The severity of people's memory or thinking problems was found to have no influence on feelings or quality of life. The study also looked at a process linked to ACT called cognitive fusion, which is about how caught up people can get with their thoughts. The study found that cognitive fusion was related to distress levels in people adjusting to MCI. Further research is needed with more people taking part to confirm the study findings.

Chapter 1: Systematic review

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy with older adults: a systematic review of psychological and physical health outcomes

K. Ross¹*, H. Whitfield³, D. Gillanders², A. Guzmán²

¹Lothian Older People's Psychology Service, MacKinnon House, Royal Edinburgh Hospital, Morningside Place, Edinburgh, UK.

² Department of Clinical Psychology, School of Health in Social Sciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK.

³ Mindfulness Training Ltd., Clare Lane, London, N1 3DB

*Correspondence to: Kerry Ross Lothian Older People's Psychology Service MacKinnon House, Royal Edinburgh Hospital Morningside Place Edinburgh, EH10 5HF Email: kerry.ross@nhs.net

> Prepared in accordance with guidelines for submission to Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science (Appendix A)

Word count: 9049 (excluding abstract and references)

Abstract

Background: Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) has established an evidence-base as an effective therapeutic intervention, with favourable outcomes across a range of psychological and physical health domains. There is growing interest in the application of ACT for older adults, however a broad review of the literature is lacking. The current review aims to collate the research investigating ACT with older people, appraise the methodological quality and report on the effectiveness of ACT in areas of emotional distress, psychological flexibility and physical functioning.

Method: A systematic review of the literature was conducted. Multiple databases including EMBASE, PsycINFO and MEDLINE® were searched. Reference lists of relevant papers were hand-searched and study authors were contacted for unpublished works. Eligible articles were subject to methodological quality appraisal and a narrative synthesis of the results was compiled.

Results: Fourteen studies were included in the review. Studies varied in their application of ACT (individual and group-based) across older adults with chronic pain, depression and anxiety, both in community and care home settings. Study quality was mixed and overall risk of bias was increased by virtue of poor study design and small sample sizes. Preliminary evidence suggests that ACT is an effective intervention for reducing distress in older adults, however the evidence for improving psychological flexibility and physical functioning is less conclusive.

Conclusions: The evidence-base for ACT with older adults is not yet wellestablished, however the reviewed studies provide valuable information regarding the clinical application of ACT across a range of problems in older adults. Preliminary evidence indicates that ACT is effective for reducing distress in older adults, however further randomised controlled trials (RCTs) are required employing larger samples, active comparison groups and longitudinal designs.

Keywords: Acceptance and Commitment Therapy; distress; older adults; psychological flexibility; physical functioning; systematic review

Highlights

- Evidence suggests that ACT is effective for alleviating distress in older adults.
- Evidence is less conclusive for physical functioning or psychological flexibility.
- ACT demonstrates acceptability amongst older adults with chronic pain, depression and anxiety.
- Further good quality research is warranted to support the evidencebased delivery of ACT with older adults.

Abstract word count: 278

Declarations of interest: None

Introduction

The UK has an ageing population and by 2046, a projected one quarter of people living in Britain will be aged 65 or over (Office for National Statistics, July 2017). By 2050, the number of 60 year olds living worldwide is projected to double (World Health Organisation, 2015). Adapting to this demographic shift requires fundamental societal change in how we perceive the ageing process and what it means to be 'old'. A common misperception is that poor mental wellbeing is an inevitable part of ageing (Law, Laidlaw & Peck, 2010), however research indicates otherwise. Evidence supports that old age is associated with increased emotional stability, resilience and improved interpersonal functioning (Scheibe & Carstensen, 2010; Charles & Carstensen, 2014).

The health and social challenges associated with ageing (e.g. chronic illness, bereavements, loneliness, frailty and cognitive impairment) can compromise the emotional wellbeing and quality of life of some older adults (Cole & Dendukuri, 2003; Luanaigh & Lawler, 2008). Prevalence of mental health problems in old age is difficult to determine due to large heterogeneity across the age range, however best estimates suggest that around 20% of community-dwelling older adults, and up to 40% of care home residents experience clinical depression (Djernes, 2006; Volkert, Schulz, Härter, Wlodarczyk, & Andreas, 2013). An estimated 10% to 17% of older people experience clinical levels of anxiety (Canuto et al., 2018; Kessler et al., 2005), with much higher rates amongst individuals with co-morbid physical health problems and cognitive impairment (Gould, O'Hara, Goldstein & Beaudreau, 2016). Although numbers have fallen, suicide rates remain high amongst older adults when compared to other age groups (Conwell, Duberstein & Caine, 2002). Research has extensively demonstrated the negative consequences associated with late-life anxiety and depression including increased admissions to acute hospital care, poorer outcomes for recovery and rehabilitation from physical health problems (Coventry & Gellatly, 2008), higher likelihood of nursing home placement (Gibbons *et al.*, 2002), increased suicide rates (Conwell, Duberstein & Caine, 2002; Turvey *et al.*, 2002) and accelerated cognitive decline (Cherbuin, Kim & Anstey, 2015; Mourao, Mansur, Malloy-Diniz, Castro-Costa & Diniz, 2016).

Older adults and mental health care provision

An ageing population presents a particular challenge to mental health services, which have predominantly been developed to meet the needs of working-age adults (Anderson, 2011). Specialist knowledge and skills are required to meet the often chronic and complex needs of older people, due to their experience of mental health problems over a longer life course, in addition to physical comorbidities and cognitive decline. Age discrimination, both direct and indirect, exists in mental health care provision and has been widely documented (see 'All Things Being Equal'; Mental Health Foundation, 2009; 'Age Discrimination in Mental Health Services: Making Equality a Reality'; Royal College of Psychiatrists, 2009), with clear assertions that people aged 65 and over are not receiving the same level or quality of care as their working-age counterparts. Ageist attitudes, age-restrictive services and a lack of specialist knowledge amongst clinicians is said to contribute to the underrecognition and treatment of psychiatric problems in later life (Beecham et al., 2008). The Royal College of Psychiatrists (2009) reported that an estimated 85% of people aged 65 or over with depression in the UK receive no National Health Service (NHS) treatment at all.

Older people are far more likely to be offered pharmacological rather than psychological interventions (Gum, Iser & Petkus, 2010). This is in spite of recommendations discouraging over-prescription of psychotropic medications in older people, amid concerns regarding polypharmacy and safety (Brooks & Hoblyn, 2007; Markota, Rummans, Bostwick & Lapid, 2016). Evidence suggests that psychological approaches are accepted and preferred by older adults (Gum *et al.*, 2006), whilst also demonstrating effectiveness (Chaplin, Farquharson, Clapp & Crawford, 2015) and offering a suitable alternative or adjunct to drug treatments. Nevertheless, there are currently fewer evidencebased, psychotherapeutic treatment options recommended in national guidelines (e.g. The Scottish Government, 2005) for older-age compared to working-age adults. As response to treatment is not necessarily determined by age, the evidence-base pertaining to working-age adults could be applicable to the older-age population. Nevertheless, age specific augmentations are recommended and utilised in clinical practice to optimise psychotherapy outcomes for older people (Laidlaw & Kishita, 2015). It is therefore important to achieve equity in terms of evidence-based treatment options that match the specific needs of older people as a large, heterogeneous group, where complexity, co-morbidities, and cohort differences exist, but are not inevitable.

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) is the psychological treatment of choice for a range of emotional problems in older-age adults (The Scottish Government, 2015). Meta-analytic findings support that CBT is significantly more effective than treatment-as-usual or waiting list control conditions in treatment of late-life anxiety and depression, with comparable effect sizes to other active treatments, including pharmacological approaches (e.g. antidepressants) and other psychotherapies (e.g. interpersonal therapy and problem solving therapy) (Cuijpers, Andersson, Donker & van Straten, 2011; Gould, Coulson & Howard 2012^a; 2012^b). A number of studies have also demonstrated the effectiveness of CBT for older adults with early dementia (Paukert et al., 2010; Scholey & Woods, 2003), Parkinson's disease (Dobkin et al., 2011) and post-stroke depression (Broomfield et al., 2011). Despite positive outcomes, CBT does not outperform other psychotherapeutic approaches and with regard to treatment of anxiety, may be less effective with older compared to younger-age adults (Gould, Coulson & Howard, 2012^b; Kishita & Laidlaw, 2017). CBT may also be sub-optimal for older chronic pain populations. A meta-analysis of 12 outcome studies investigating CBT for

chronic pain in older adults found significant improvements in self-reported pain experience, with a medium pooled effect (z=0.47, 95% CI 0.34 to 0.60), however found limited effects on depression symptoms, physical functioning or medication use (Lunde & Nordhus, 2009). This meta-analysis may have been limited by few randomised control trials (RCTs), however it could highlight the limited reach of CBT in addressing physical and emotional health outcomes simultaneously during a single intervention. Maximizing the therapeutic benefits of psychological treatments beyond one domain or disorder seems optimal for older people who are more likely to present with multi-morbidities (Barnett *et al.*, 2012). Given the acknowledged limitations of CBT, it is important to explore the applicability of other psychotherapeutic approaches with this population group.

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy

An alternative to traditional CBT is Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT; Hayes, Strosahl & Wilson, 1999). ACT is a 'third wave' therapeutic approach emerging from research investigating the influence of language on behaviour. It is rooted in the philosophy of functional contextualism and is influenced, in part, by the ideological concepts of Relational Frame Theory (RFT: Hayes, Barnes-Holmes & Roche, 2001). ACT differs from CBT as it focuses on the function rather than the content of inner experiences (e.g. thoughts, memories, feelings). Whilst CBT aims to modify or eliminate distress, ACT utilises acceptance and mindfulness-based techniques to help individuals experience distress, rather than avoiding or fighting against it. It encourages individuals to take committed action to living a meaningful life that is in accordance with their values, in spite of personal challenges that are considered to be an inevitable part of life. Rather than targeting a specific symptom or problem, ACT more broadly aims to increase 'psychological flexibility', which is: "The ability to contact the present moment more fully as a conscious human being, and to change or persist in behaviour, when doing so serves valued ends" (Hayes et al., 2006, p7).

ACT has a growing evidence-base of over 170 RCTs across a range of mental and physical health conditions (Association for Contextual Behavioural Science; ACBS, https://contextualscience.org/state of the act evidence, last accessed February 2018). Meta-analyses of RCTs have reported moderate effect sizes for ACT on primary outcome measures at post-treatment and follow-up (Ruiz, 2012). In addition, meta-analyses report favourable outcomes for ACT when compared to control conditions (A-Tjak et al., 2015; Hacker, Stone & Macbeth, 2016) and comparable effect sizes when compared to traditional cognitive behavioural approaches. ACT has strong empirical support in chronic pain populations (Hughes, Clark, Colclough, Dale, & McMillan, 2017; Veehof, Trompetter, Bohlmeijer & Schreurs, 2016) and modest support in treatment of psychosis (Bach & Hayes, 2002; Bach, Hayes & Gallop, 2012; Gaudiano & Herbert, 2006), mixed anxiety (Bluett, Homan, Morrison, Levin & Twohig, 2014), obsessive-compulsive disorder (Bluett et al., 2014) and depression (Twohig & Levin, 2017). Mediation analyses support that processes within the 'psychological flexibility' model are mechanisms of change in producing positive outcomes in ACT interventions (Ruiz, 2012).

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy with older adults

Published literature has provided a strong conceptual rationale for the application of ACT with older adults across community and care home settings (Petkus & Wetherell, 2013; Gillanders & Laidlaw, 2014). Firstly, the transdiagnostic nature of ACT means that few adaptations are required for particular problems or diagnoses. Approximately 66% of people aged 65 and over experience two or more long term conditions at any one time (e.g. chronic pain, sensory impairment, psychological problems or cognitive decline) (Barnett *et al.*, 2012), and as a consequence are more likely to have symptoms which cut across diagnostic categories. ACT can therefore offer greater

flexibility in breadth of application compared to traditional psychotherapies (e.g. CBT), which tend to be symptom or disorder-focused.

Petkus and Wetherell (2013) suggest that acceptance and mindfulness techniques could have greater utility over traditional cognitive control strategies for late-life anxiety. The negative beliefs or worries older adults may hold regarding their physical health, cognitive functioning or developmental losses, although unhelpful, could be realistic. In this context, cognitive modification techniques that directly challenge the validity of thought content would be inappropriate. In contrast, ACT-based techniques would encourage older adults to 'step back' from negative cognitive content and realign focus on living in accordance with personally held values, in spite of health or social challenges. Ferssizidis et al. (2010) found significant associations between connection to core values and improved emotional wellbeing and quality of life in an older adult sample. Moreover, a systematic review of 15 mindfulnessbased intervention (MBI) studies found evidence of both acceptability and feasibility of techniques with older adults (Geiger et al., 2016). However, conclusions regarding the efficacy of MBIs were limited due to the small number of RCTs, variability in mindfulness protocols and poor methodological rigor across the studies (Geiger et al., 2016).

The ACT model, in particular the focus on value-directed living, parallels with the well established Selective Optimisation and Compensation (SOC) Model of Successful Ageing (Baltes & Baltes, 1990). The SOC model endorses that older adults should select and optimise their strengths and intact capabilities, in spite of declines in functioning and/or personal losses (Baltes & Baltes, 1990). The model encourages individuals to continue to engage with valued pursuits, which are achievable and realistic, much like ACT. Interestingly, training in the SOC approach has been combined with ACT to treat chronic pain in elderly care home residents and has demonstrated both applicability and acceptability (Alonso-Fernández, López-López, Losada, González & Wetherell, 2016). Empirical research has demonstrated associations between the core processes of the ACT 'psychological inflexibility' model and psychiatric problems in old age. Experiential avoidance has been associated with increased suicidality in late-life depression (Cukrowicz, Ekblad, Cheavens, Rosenthal & Lynch, 2008), and more generally increased anxiety and reduced mindfulness in older people (Mahoney, Segal & Coolidge, 2015). Thought suppression, a form of experiential avoidance, has been associated with increased psychopathology and somatic symptoms in homebound older people with chronic illness (Petkus, Gum & Wetherell, 2012) and poorer treatment outcomes for late-life depression (Rosenthal, Cheavens, Compton, Thorp & Lynch, 2005). In addition, Butler and Ciarrochi (2007) found greater psychological acceptance in older people to be associated with increased quality of life.

Rationale and aims of the current review

Published literature has clearly outlined the importance of developing treatment options to meet the varied psychological needs of older people. In addition, a strong theoretical rationale has been provided to support the clinical application of ACT with older populations. Previous reviews have included studies investigating ACT with older adults (Kishita, Takei & Stewart, 2017; Twohig & Levin, 2017), however a systematic review exclusively examining the outcomes of ACT with this population is lacking.

The current review aims to provide a broad overview of the literature investigating the application of ACT with older adults experiencing elevated levels of emotional distress and/or physical health problems. The methodological quality of the literature will be appraised and the current evidence-base for ACT will be evaluated. The systematic review will address whether ACT is an acceptable and effective intervention for: 1) reducing emotional distress; 2) improving physical functioning; and 3) increasing psychological flexibility, in adults aged 60 years and over.

Methods

The review was conducted in accordance with PRISMA guidance (Moher *et al.*, 2015) and specific recommendations set out by Shenkin, Harrison, Wilkinson, Dodds & Ioannidis (2017) for systematic reviews of gerontological research. The protocol for the review was pre-registered with PROSPERO (ID: CRD42017062413) to increase transparency and reduce risk of bias.

Inclusion/ exclusion criteria

Studies were included if they: (a) described an ACT intervention with adults aged 60 years or over¹; (b) included at least one measure of emotional distress (e.g. depression), physical functioning (e.g. pain severity) or psychological flexibility (e.g. Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQ); Bond *et al.*, 2011); and (c) employed a quantitative methodology. Studies were excluded if they: (a) employed an ACT intervention that did not seek to improve psychological flexibility through at least two of the core processes (e.g. cognitive defusion or enhancing value-directed behaviour); or (b) employed an intervention that included only one component of ACT (e.g. mindfulness).

The systematic literature review broadly included all quantitative study designs. Single-n case studies and case series, with pre and post outcome data, were included based on recommendations set out by Shenkin *et al.* (2017) to increase clinical applicability. The review did not exclude studies

¹ An age cut off of 60 years was selected based on the United Nations definition of an older adult (United Nations, 2015).

based on comparison groups, follow-up period, sample size or publication status. No date or language restrictions were applied to the search.

Search strategy

The following electronic databases were searched between July 2017 and October 2017. EMBASE, PsycINFO, OVID MEDLINE® and Allied and Complementary Medicine (AMED) via the OVID gateway. CINAHL Plus, ERIC and AgeLine via EBSCO host. Applied Social Sciences Index and Abstracts (ASSIA), Social Services Abstracts, Sociological Abstracts and ProQuest Dissertations, and Theses Global via ProQuest. The 'Science' and 'Social Sciences and Humanities' collections of the Conference Proceedings Citation Index via Web of Science and SCOPUS.

'Grey literature' was searched via OpenGrey, Google Scholar and the British Library Electronic Theses Online System (EThOS). The reference lists of relevant papers and reviews identified via the search were also hand searched for additional studies. Research papers listed on the Association of Contextual Behaviour Science (ACBS) website were also searched. The first authors of included studies were contacted, where possible, for any unpublished works.

Search terms

Search terms were developed in consultation with an expert librarian, in addition to, the third and fourth authors (DG & AG) who have specialist knowledge of ACT and gerontology. Search terms included English, Spanish and French terms, due to the known interest in ACT within countries with these native languages.

The following terms were used:

"Acceptance and Commitment Therapy" **OR** "Third wave" **OR** "3rd wave" **OR** "Acceptance-based" **OR** "Acceptance based" **OR** "Contextual cognitive behavio*" **OR** "Terapia de aceptación y compromiso" OR "Traitement d'acceptation et d'engagement" **AND** "Old* adult*" **OR** "Old* people" **OR** "Elder*" **OR** "Late* life" **OR** "Old-age" **OR** "Old age" **OR** "Aged" **OR** "Over 60*" **OR** "Over 65*" **OR** "Geriatric*" **OR** "Gero*" **OR** "Adulto mayor" OR "Adulte âgé"

Data extraction and management

A data extraction tool was developed to extract key demographic and study information. The first author (KR) extracted data regarding study design, setting, participants, intervention, comparators, follow-up period, outcome measures and key findings. The second and fourth author repeated data extraction for the studies published in French (HW) and Spanish (AG) (n=2) to ensure accuracy. Any disagreements were resolved through discussion until full agreement was reached.

Where studies did not report effect sizes, the first author (KR) calculated the effect sizes from the intervention scores, if available within the publication. The first author of an included study (Wetherell *et al.*, 2016) was contacted for additional information in order to calculate effect sizes, however they were unable to meet this request.

Quality appraisal

Existing quality criteria were deemed insufficient to fully address the objectives set out by this review. A new quality assessment tool was developed *a priori* from several well-regarded checklists for assessment of intervention studies, including: Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) Methodology Checklist for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (SIGN, n.d.) and the

Downs and Black (1998) Quality Checklist for Health Care Intervention Studies.

The final checklist (Appendix B) contained thirteen items, each with a quality rating of either 'good', 'fair', 'poor' or 'unsatisfactory/ unclear/ not applicable'. The thirteen items were operationalised, as far as possible, to improve clarity and reduce bias. To provide an indication of overall quality, each study was given an overall descriptive rating of 'high', acceptable' or 'low' based on study performance across the thirteen items. The studies had to achieve 75% or more 'good' category ratings to achieve 'high' overall quality and 50% or more 'good' category ratings to achieve 'acceptable' overall quality. Studies with fewer than 50% of 'good' category ratings were awarded 'low' overall quality. The overall quality ratings were descriptive rather than numerical, in accordance with best practice guidelines (Higgins & Green, 2011).

All studies (excluding case studies) (n=8) were subject to quality assessment by the first author (KR). To improve accuracy and validity, all studies were then blindly re-rated by a second doctoral-level researcher. Inter-rater agreement was high [K=.82 (95% CI, .72-.92, p<0.05)] (Altman, 1991). Discrepancies were resolved through discussion and final ratings were agreed upon.

Data synthesis

A narrative synthesis of the main findings from each of the identified studies was conducted. Meta-analysis was deemed inappropriate due to the heterogeneity of the included studies in terms of study design, population, clinical setting, intervention format and primary outcome measures.

Results

A total of 1267 studies were identified from the initial database search. Once duplicates were removed (445), the title and abstract of 822 studies were reviewed for inclusion in the review. Of this, 134 publications were retrieved in full and reviewed for eligibility. No additional studies were identified via other sources (e.g. reference lists, ACBS website or following contact, where possible, with lead authors). Therefore, a total of 14 studies were eligible for inclusion in the current review (Figure A1).





Description of included studies

A descriptive overview of the included studies is presented in Table A1. Of the fourteen included papers, there were four RCTs (Alonso-Fernández et al., 2016; Davison, Eppingstall, Runci & O'Connor, 2017; Wetherell et al., 2011^a; 2016), one non-randomised controlled trial (Alonso, López, Losada & González, 2013), three repeated measures studies (Karlin et al., 2013; McCracken & Jones, 2012; Scott, Daly, Yu & McCracken, 2017), one caseseries (Ruiz Sánchez, Cangas Díaz & Barbero Rubio, 2014) and five single-n case studies (Coniasse-Brioude, 2016; Jourdain & Dulin, 2009; Lunde & Nordhus, 2009; Petkus & Wetherell, 2013; Roberts & Sedley, 2016). The case studies did not employ experimental research designs, however they all included pre, post and follow-up, or session-by-session scores on primary outcome measures. Of the studies utilising statistical analyses (n=8), all used the appropriate analysis for the study design. In terms of comparators, two studies employed a waiting-list control (Alonso et al., 2013; Davison et al., 2017) and three employed active control conditions including a 'minimal support group' (Alonso-Fernández et al., 2016), individual CBT (Wetherell et al., 2011^a) and group CBT (Wetherell et al., 2016). Eight studies assessed outcomes at follow-up (Davison et al., 2017; Lunde & Nordhus, 2009; McCracken & Jones, 2012; Roberts & Sedley 2016, Ruiz Sánchez et al., 2014; Scott et al., 2017; Wetherell et al., 2011^a; 2016). The average length of followup period ranged from 1.5 to 12 months.

Studies investigated application of ACT for a range of problems in older adults including chronic pain (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; McCracken & Jones, 2012; Scott *et al.*, 2017; Wetherell *et al.*, 2016), depression (Karlin *et al.*, 2013; Ruiz Sánchez *et al.*, 2014), anxiety (generalised anxiety, fear of falling and health anxiety) (Coniasse-Brioude, 2016; Jourdain & Dulin, 2009; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a) and mixed depression and anxiety (Davison *et al.*, 2017; Petkus & Wetherell, 2013; Roberts & Sedley, 2016). Ten of the studies investigated community-dwelling older adults and four investigated older people residing in care homes. All studies were

carried out in clinical, rather than university settings. The weighted mean age across the studies (excluding data from Karlin *et al.* (2013) which was not reported) was 76.6 years (range 64-87). The mean percentage of females across the studies was 57.5% (range 0% - 100%).

The ACT-based interventions varied in terms of delivery. Five studies employed group-based ACT (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; McCracken & Jones, 2012; Scott *et al.*, 2017; Wetherell *et al.*, 2016) and eight studies utlised individual ACT (Coniasse-Brioude, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2017; Jourdain & Dulin, 2009; Karlin *et al.*, 2013; Lunde & Nordhus, 2009; Roberts & Sedley, 2016; Ruiz Sánchez *et al.*, 2014; Petkus & Wetherell, 2011; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a).

Study (Year) / Country	Design	% female	Participants / Mean age (SD)	Intervention arm(s) (Baseline n/ post n/ follow-up n)	ACT duration (total hours)	Follow-up period (Months)	Outcome measure(s)
Randomised controlle	d trials						
Alonso-Fernández	RCT	78.1	Care home residents with	Group ACT	9 weeks	1	Distress
et al.			chronic pain	(53/27/-)	(18)		GDS-30
(2016)							PASS-20
Spain			83 years	Minimal support group			Physical functioning
			(SD=6.82)	(48/26/-)			BPI (severity) BPI (interference)
Davison	RCT	88	Care home residents with	Individual ACT	6 weeks	3	Distress
et al.			depression and anxiety	(22/20/15)	(12)		CSDD
(2017)			-				GAI-20
Australia			85.3 years	Waiting list			GDS-15
			(SD=9.2)	(19/15/-)			
Wetherell	RCT	47.5	Community-dwelling with	Individual ACT	12 weeks	9	Distress
et al.			generalised anxiety	(11/7/7)	(12)		HAMA
(2011 ^a)							PSWQ
ÚSA			70.8 years	Individual CBT			BDI-II
			(SD=6.5)	(9/7/5)			SF-36 (mental)
Wetherell	RCT	48	Community-dwelling with	Group ACT	8 weeks	9	Distress
et al.			chronic pain	(6/6/6)	(12)		BDI-II
(2016/ 2011 ^b)				•			Physical functioning
USA			73.1 years	Group CBT			BPI (interference)
			(SD=7.8)	(12/12/12)			
Controlled studies							
Alonso	Controlled	80	Care home residents with	Group ACT	5 weeks	I	Distress
ct al. (2013)	arddy						Physical Functioning
Spain			87 years	Waiting list			BPI (interference)
			(SD=2.44)	(-/2/2)			Psychological flexibility AAQ

Table A1: Characteristics of included studies

44	Decirun	%	Darticinants /	Intervention arm(c)	ACT	Enllow-un	Outcome measure(s)
) / try		female	Mean age (SD)	(Baseline n/ post n/ follow-up n)	duration (total hours)	period (Months)	
ated measures s	tudies						
	Repeated measures	5.3	Community-dwelling veterans with depression NR (all participants >65)	Individual ACT (76/59/-)	12 – 16 weeks (12 –16)	1	Distress BDI-II
acken &	Repeated measures	62.5	Community-dwelling with chronic pain 64.3 years (SD=4.7)	Group ACT (40/40/22)	3-4 weeks (97.5-130)	n	Distress BCMDI PASS-20 Physical functioning SIP (physical) SIP (psychosocial) Psychological flexibility AAQ-II
	Repeated measures	61.7	Community-dwelling with chronic pain 69.3 years (SD=4.2)	Group ACT (64/60/30)	2-4 weeks (65-130)	Ø	Distress PHQ-9 SF-36 (mental) Physical functioning SF-36 (physical) Psychological flexibility AAQ-II
studies/ series							
asse-Brioude) ce	Case study	100	Community dwelling with fear of falling 86 years	Individual ACT (1/1/-)	24 weeks (7.5)	1	Distress BAI BDI-II
tain & Dulin) Zealand	Case study	0	Community-dwelling veteran with health anxiety 68 years	Individual ACT (1/1/-)	8 weeks (7)	1	Distress DASS HAQ PANAS

Study (Year) / Country	Design	% female	Participants / Mean age (SD)	Intervention arm(s) (Baseline n/ post n/ follow-up n)	ACT duration (total hours)	Follow-up period (Months)	Outcome measure(s)
Case studies/ series							
Lunde & Nordhus (2009) Norway	Case study	100	Community-dwelling with chronic pain 70 years	Individual ACT with CBT components (1/1/1)	8 weeks (12)	۵	Distress BDI-II Physical functioning SF-MPQ Psychological flexibility CPAQ
Roberts & Sedley (2016) New Zealand	Case study	100	Community-dwelling with depression and generalised anxiety disorder 89 years	Individual ACT (1/1/1)	8 weeks (6)	1.5	Distress GDS-30 HAMA
Ruiz Sánchez e <i>t al.</i> (2014) Spain	Case series	33.3	Care home residents with depression 65, 80, 83 years	Individual ACT (3/3/3)	6 weeks (4-9)	5 & 12	Distress GDS-30 HAM-D
Petkus & Wetherell (2013) USA	Case study	0	Community-dwelling with depression and anxiety 69 years	Individual ACT (1/1/-)	12 weeks (12)		Distress BDI
N040.							

Note

Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale, HAM-D; Hamilton Depression Scale, HAQ; Health Anxiety Questionnaire, PANAS; Positive and Negative Affect Schedule, PASS; Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale, PSWQ; Penn State Worry Questionnaire, PHQ-9; Patient Health Questionnaire, SF-36; Short BAI; Beck Anxiety Inventory, BCMDI; British Columbia Major Depression Inventory, BDI-II; Beck Depression Inventory – 2nd Edition, BPI; Brief Pain Inventory, CPAQ; Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire, CSDD; Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia, DASS; Depression Anxiety Stress Scales, GAI; Geriatric Anxiety Inventory, GDS; Geriatric Depression Scale, HADS; Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, HAMA; Form Self-Report Health Survey, SF-MPQ; Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire, SIP; Sickness Impact Profile.

Quality appraisal

Methodological quality ratings for the studies (excluding case studies/ case series) are presented in Table A2. Wetherell and colleagues' (2016) study was the strongest methodologically and received a 'high' overall quality rating. Five studies were rated as having 'acceptable' overall quality (Alonso-Fernández *et al.,* 2016; Davison *et al.,* 2017; Karlin *et al.,* 2013; Scott *et al.,* 2017; Wetherell *et al.,* 2011^a) and two studies were rated as having 'low' overall quality (Alonso *et al.,* 2013; McCracken & Jones, 2012). Performance across methodological domains was varied and will now be discussed.

Study design and sample representativeness

Four studies employed an RCT design and all achieved an overall 'high' or 'acceptable' quality rating (Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2017; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a; 2016). One study employed a non-randomised control trial and received the lowest overall quality rating across the studies (Alonso *et al.*, 2013). The remainder of the studies were repeated measures designs and received a mixture of 'low' (McCracken & Jones, 2012), 'adequate' (Scott *et al.*, 2017, and 'high' (Karlin *et al.*, 2013) ratings.

All eight of the appraised studies utilised convenience-sampling methods, however appropriate eligibility criteria were employed across five of the studies to ensure adequate sample representativeness (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2017; Karlin *et al.*, 2013; Wetherell *et al.*, 2013). Two studies explicitly excluded individuals with any degree of cognitive impairment (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Scott *et al.*, 2017), which limits generalisability to a clinical older adult population. One of the studies did not clearly report their inclusion and exclusion criteria (McCracken & Jones, 2012) and therefore it was difficult to assess whether the sample was representative.

Interventions and fidelity

All of the studies included a sufficiently detailed intervention protocol within the published text or provided a reference for the protocol, if published elsewhere. This was an area of methodological strength, with all studies achieving the highest quality ratings. Adherence to protocol was monitored via fidelity checks in several studies, including use of audio/ video recordings (Karlin *et al.*, 2013; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a; 2016) and clinical supervision with an experienced ACT practitioner (Davison *et al.*, 2016; McCracken & Jones, 2012). Three studies did not report or were unclear regarding adherence to therapy protocol (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Scott *et al.*, 2017). Therapist training was adequate in six studies (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Karlin *et al.*, 2012; Wetherell *et al.*, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2016; Karlin *et al.*, 2012; Scott *et al.*, 2017). There was variation between the studies in terms of the professionals delivering ACT including doctoral and masters level psychologists, occupational therapists and nurses.

Five studies compared ACT to an active or waiting list control condition (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2017; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a; 2016). The active control conditions (group CBT and a minimal support group) were adequately matched in terms of length and intensity, allowing for equal comparison. Allocation to groups across the two waiting list control studies was inadequate (poor or no randomisation and investigators not blinded to allocation), however random allocation was employed in the studies with an active control.

Outcome measures

All studies included at least one outcome measure to assess psychological distress, physical functioning or psychological flexibility following ACT. All of the studies utilised self-report outcome measures shown to have good

psychometric properties with an older adult population, except for one study (McCracken & Jones, 2012), which employed the British Columbia Major Depression Inventory (BCMDI; Iverson & Remick, 2004). To our knowledge, the BCMDI has not been validated with an older adult population. Furthermore, the measure is arguably less applicable for retired older people, as it includes an item to evaluate the impact of depression symptoms on school or work.

Sample size and power

Sample sizes were small across the included studies. There were seven single-n case studies and a case series with a sample size of 3. The remainder of the studies, which underwent quality assessment, recruited sample sizes ranging from 14 to 101, with a total sample size across the studies of 385. Post-hoc power calculations were conducted and four of the studies were inadequately powered to detect medium or large effects, with a power level of 0.80 and a significance level of <0.05 (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2017; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011).

Attrition and acceptability

Attrition rates provide some indication of acceptability of ACT with older adults. Several studies reported attrition rates clearly, alongside reasons for treatment incompletion. Attrition was varied across the included studies from pre to post treatment, ranging from low (=<20%) (Davison *et al.*, 2017; Karlin *et al.*, 2013; McCracken & Jones, 2012, Scott *et al.*, 2017, Wetherell *et al.*, 2016), moderate (=<40%) (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a) and high (>40%) (Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016). The average attrition rate across the eight experimental studies was 17% at post treatment (range 0% to 49%) and 34% (range 0% to 54%) at follow-up (n=5). Attrition was slightly higher in care home settings (20%) than in community settings (13%), but relatively equal between individual ACT (18%) and group-based ACT interventions (17%). Reasons for treatment drop-out were clearly reported by five studies (Alonso *et al.*, 2013,

Alonso-Fernández *et al.*, 2016; Davison *et al.*, 2017; Karlin *et al.*, 2013; Wetherell *et al.*, 2011^a) and included health problems, speech and communication issues, questionnaire completion burden, time constraints, death and symptom relief.

			0	0	a)		a)	0	
	Overall quality	Low	Acceptable	Acceptable	Acceptable	Low	Acceptable	Acceptable	High
	Missing data	Unclear	Unclear	Good	Good	Unclear	Fair	Unclear	Good
	Attrition 2	N/A	N/A	Fair	N/A	Poor	Poor	Fair	Good
	Attrition 1	Fair	Poor	Fair	Good	Good	Good	Fair	Good
7	Analyses	Fair	Good	Good	Good	Good	Good	Poor	Fair
ise series	Fidelity	Poor	Poor	Fair	Good	Fair	Unclear	Good	Good
studies/ca	Protocol	Good	Good	Good	Good	Good	Good	Good	Good
ing case :	Follow-up	V/A	N/A	Poor	N/A	Poor	Fair	Fair	Fair
atings of included studies (excluding ca	Measures	Good	Good	Good	Good	Fair	Good	Good	Good
led studie	Equal groups	Poor	Fair	Poor	N/A	N/A	V/N	Poor	Fair
dological quality ratings of included stu	Allocation	Fair	Good	Fair	N/A	N/A	V/N	Good	Good
	Power	Poor	Poor	Poor	Good	Fair	Good	Unsatis factory	Un- clear*
	Recruitment	Fair	Fair	Fair	Fair	Un- clear	Poor	Fair	Poor
Aethodolo	Design	Fair	Good	Good	Poor	Poor	Poor	Good	Good
Table A2: N		Alonso et al. (2013)	Alonso- Fernández <i>et al.</i> (2016)	Davison et al. (2017)	Karlin et al. (2013)	McCracken & Jones (2012)	Scott <i>et al.</i> (2017)	Wetherell <i>et al.</i> (2011 ^a)	Wetherell <i>et al.</i> (2016/ 2011 ^b)

oup. ר ר 2 ל ב Note: See Appendix B for full quality assessment criteria. 35

Emerging evidence for ACT with older adults

The included studies employed ACT-based interventions with older adults to foster change in emotional distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility. The current evidence-base for ACT when applied to each of these outcomes will now be discussed. A summary of the key findings and effect sizes are presented in Table A3 and A4.

Emotional distress

All 14 studies (including case studies/ case series) measured whether ACT had an impact on distress in older adults. Unfortunately, effect size data was unavailable for the methodologically strongest paper (Wetherell *et al.*, 2016) and accordingly will not be reported. Six of the studies found a significant reduction in measures of distress following ACT intervention, with within-group effect sizes ranging from small to large (d=0.32-0.97) at post-treatment, and from medium to large (d=0.40-1.30) across the three studies which included a follow-up period (Davison *et al.*, 2017; McCracken & Jones, 2012; Scott *et al.*, 2017). Only one study (Alonso *et al.*, 2013) observed no effect of ACT on any measure of distress, however it should be noted that the study was greatly underpowered (n=10) and received the lowest overall methodological quality rating.

Two RCTs with 'acceptable' overall quality ratings, reported between group effect sizes for distress outcome measures. Alonso-Fernández *et al.* (2016) compared an ACT group with an active control condition ('minimal support group') for care home residents with chronic pain and found significantly greater improvements on the Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale (PASS; McCracken, Zayfert & Gross, 1992) following the ACT group (d=.45, p<0.05). This study found no significant between group effects on the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-30; Yesavage *et al.*, 1982), however reduction in depression could have been a secondary treatment outcome in this study,
which was primarily focused on increasing pain acceptance and functional autonomy (Alonso-Fernández *et al.,* 2016).

Davison *et al.* (2017) compared individual ACT with a waiting list control condition for care home residents with anxiety and depression, and found significant between group differences on the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15; Yesavage & Sheikh, 1986) (d=.66, p<0.05) and the Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia (CSDD; Alexopoulos, Abrams, Young & Shamoian, 1988) (d=.59, p<0.05), both with medium effect sizes. The study found no significant between group differences in Geriatric Anxiety Inventory (GAI; Pachana *et al.*, 2007) scores (Davison *et al.* 2017).

All six case studies found clinically significant improvements on distress measures following individual ACT-based interventions for older adults with anxiety, depression or chronic pain, except for one study (Lunde & Nordhus, 2009), which describes an intervention with a 70 year old, community-dwelling male with chronic pain. Although a small reduction on the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II; Beck, Steer & Brown, 1996) was noted (8 at pre-treatment to 6 at post-treatment and follow-up), his pre-treatment score was sub-clinical, thus ruling out clinically significant reductions (Lunde & Nordhus, 2009).

Psychological flexibility

Three studies investigated changes in psychological flexibility, as measured by the AAQ-II (Bond *et al.*, 2011). Two studies found no significant change in AAQ-II score following group-based ACT interventions for chronic pain (Alonso *et al.*, 2013; McCracken & Jones, 2012), however these studies both received the lowest ratings for methodological quality. In contrast, Scott *et al.* (2017) did find a significant improvement on the AAQ-II following their ACT group for community-dwelling older adults with chronic pain (*d*=.35, *p*<0.01). The intervention protocols were similar for both McCracken & Jones (2012) and Scott *et al.* (2017) studies, however the latter study was carried out in a

secondary rather than tertiary care setting, meaning the overall sample had fewer chronic pain symptoms. Furthermore, Scott *et al.* (2017) study recruited a larger sample (n=65) and had better methodological quality.

Four case studies included psychological flexibility measures including the AAQ-II and the Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire (CPAQ; McCracken, Vowles & Eccleston, 2004). Three studies found improvements in AAQ-II scores following individual ACT for a range of difficulties, including health anxiety in an older veteran (Jourdain & Dulin, 2009), mixed anxiety and depression in an older community-dwelling male (Roberts & Sedley, 2016) and depression in two nursing home residents (Ruiz Sanchez *et al.* 2014). Lunde and Nordhus (2009) found improvements in pain willingness and activity engagement on CPAQ (from 65 to 77) in an older community-dwelling male with chronic pain.

Physical functioning

Five studies investigated ACT groups for chronic pain in older adults and included a measure of subjective physical functioning. Two studies (McCracken & Jones, 2012; Scott et al. 2017) of low and acceptable quality, found significant improvements in community-dwelling older adults' scores on the Sickness Impact Profile (SIP; Bergner, Bobbitt, Carter & Gilson, 1981) subscales (d=.40-.67) and the Short Form Self-Report Health Survey (SF-36) physical; Ware Jr & Sherbourne, 1992) (d=.50-.61), at post-treatment and follow-up. The methodologically strongest study by Wetherell et al. (2016) compared treatment responses to an ACT group and a CBT group for older adults (65+) with chronic pain. Treatment response was defined by a \geq 30% decrease on the Brief Pain Inventory (BPI; Cleeland & Ryan, 1994) (as recommended by Farrar, Portenoy, Berlin, Kinman & Strom, 2000), and the study found a 38% greater treatment response for the ACT group compared to the CBT group at post-treatment, which increased to 42% at follow-up. Alonso-Fernández et al. (2016) found significantly greater improvements on the BPI 'walking ability' subscale for the ACT group when compared to a 'minimal

support group' for care home residents with chronic pain (*d*=.56, *p*<0.05). Alonso *et al.* (2013) also utilised the BPI, but found no significant within or between-group effects following an ACT group intervention, however the study was greatly underpowered (n=10) and received a 'low' overall methodological quality rating.

Lunde & Nordhus' (2009) case study detailed application of a hybrid ACT intervention with some add-on CBT components for a community-dwelling 70 year old male with chronic pain and found a clinically significant reduction in pain quality on the Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire (SF-MPQ; Melzack, 1987) at post-treatment and six month follow-up. However no significant reduction was found on the 'pain intensity' subscale.

Table A3: Su	mmary of treatment effects on distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility			
Study (Year)	Measures-specific, pre-post change following intervention	Effect size (Pre-post within subjects' change)	Effect size (Pre-post between subjects' change)	Effect size Pre-follow- up change
Controlled stur	dies			
Alonso <i>et al.</i> (2013)	Distress No significant change in GDS-10 from pre to post in either group and no significant between group difference.	d=69	d=75	N/A
	Psychological flexibility No significant change in AAQ-II from pre to post in either group and no significant between group difference.	d=-1.28	d=-1.39	
	Physical functioning No significant change in BPI interference subscales from pre to post in either group and no significant between group difference.			
Alonso- Fernández <i>et</i> al.	Distress Significant reduction in GDS-30 from pre to post in ACT group . No significant difference between ACT group and 'minimal support group'.	d=32*	d=28	N/A
(0102)	Significant reduction in PASS from pre to post in ACT group. Significant between group difference	d=46**	d=45*	
	Physical functioning No significant change in BPI severity or BPI interference scales pre to post in either group, except for the 'mood' subscale which had a significant reduction in the ACT group. Significant between group difference in 'walking ability' subscale of BPI interference.	(Mood) d=44 *	(Walking ability) d=56*	
Davison <i>et al.</i> (2017)	Distress Significant reduction in GDS-15 from pre to post in ACT group. Significant between group difference. Significant reduction in GDS-15 from pre to follow-up in ACT group	d=55*	<i>d</i> =66*	d=85*
	Significant reduction in CSDD from pre to post in ACT group. Significant between group difference. Significant reduction in CSDD from pre to follow up in the ACT group.	d=62*	d=59*	<i>d</i> =-1.30*
	No significant change in GAI from pre to post, between groups or at follow up.	d=27	<i>d</i> =04	d=57

Study (Year)	Measures-specific, pre-post change following intervention	Effect size (Pre-post within subjects' change)	Effect size (Pre-post between subjects' change)	Effect size Pre-follow- up change
Controlled stut	lies			
Wetherell et al.	Distress No significant change in HAMA from pre to post in ACT group.	η ² =.51	Not	Not
(1107)	Significant reduction in PSWQ from pre to post in ACT group.	η ² =.54*	reported	reported
	Significant reduction in BDI-II from pre to post in ACT group	η ² =.65*		
	No significant change in SF-36 (mental) from pre to post in ACT group	η ² =.41		
Wetherell <i>et al.</i> (2016/2011 ^b)	Physical functioning Significantly more responders (≥30% reduction on BPI) in the ACT group compared to the CBT group at post-treatment (CBT=17%/ ACT=57%) and follow-up (CBT=25%/ ACT=67%).	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
	Study found that as age in years increased, the odds of response (responder ≥30% reduction on BPI) to CBT decreased (OR=0.97), but increased for ACT (OR=1.04). (Participants aged 18-89 years).			
Repeated mea	isures studies			
Karlin et al. (2013)	Distress Significant reduction in BDI-II from pre to post intervention.	d=0.95***	N/A	N/A
McCracken & Jones (2012)	Distress Significant reduction in BCMDI from pre to post intervention and pre to follow-up. Significant reduction in PASS-20 from pre to post intervention and pre to follow-up.	d=.53** d=.39*	N/A	d=.62** d=.43***
	Physical functioning Significant reduction in SIP (Physical) from pre to post intervention and pre to follow-up. Significant reduction in SIP (Psychosocial) from pre to post intervention and pre to follow-up.	d=.67*** d=.50***		d= .40** d= .56**
	Psychological flexibility No significant change in AAQ-II from pre to post intervention but significant increase in AAQ-II from pre to follow-up	d=.25		<i>d</i> =0.38 *

Study	Measures-specific. pre-post change following intervention	Effect size	Effect size	Effect size
(Year)		(Pre-post	(Pre-post	Pre-follow-
		within	between	up change
		subjects'	subjects'	
		change)	change)	
Repeated me	asures studies			
Scott	Distress			
et al.	Significant reduction in PHQ-9 from pre to post intervention and pre to follow-up.	<i>d</i> =.64***	N/A	<i>d</i> =.40*
(2017)				
	Significant reduction in SF-36 (mental) from pre to post intervention, but effects not significant	d=.97***		d=.32
	If off pre-to-to-up.			
	Physical functioning			
	Significant increase in SF-36 (physical) from pre to post intervention and pre to follow-up.	<i>d</i> =.61***		d=.50*
	Psychological flexibility Significant increase in AAO-II from pre to post intervention but effects not significant from pre	d= 35**		d= 20
	to follow-up.	0		04.
Note:				

Hamilton Depression Scale, PASS; Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale, PHQ-9; Patient Health Questionnaire, SF-36; Short Form Self-Report Health BAI; Beck Anxiety Inventory, BCMDI; British Columbia Major Depression Inventory, BDI-II; Beck Depression Inventory – 2nd Edition, BPI; Brief Pain Inventory, CSDD; Cornell Scale for Depression in Dementia, GAI; Geriatric Anxiety Inventory, GDS; Geriatric Depression Scale, HAM-D; Survey, SIP; Sickness Impact Profile.

*=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001

Cohen (1988) suggests the following 'rule of thumb' for interpretation: d=0.20 small effect/ d=0.50 medium effect/ d=0.80 large effect

Effect sizes were calculated at https://www.psychometrica.de (last accessed on 21st April 2018).

Table A4: Summary of treatment effects on distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility (case studies/ case series)

Study (Year)	Population	Intervention	Outcomes for distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility
Coniasse- Brioude (2016)	Community dwelling 86 year old female with fear of falling	10 sessions of individual ACT	Distress Clinically significant reduction in anxiety (BAI) from 'moderate-severe' range to 'normal- minimal' range. Reduction in depression score (BDI) at post- treatment, however pre-treatment score indicated minimal/ no symptoms of depression.
Jourdain & Dulin (2009)	Community dwelling 68 year old male veteran with health anxiety	7 weekly sessions of individual ACT plus 1 review session	Distress Clinically significant improvement in health anxiety (HAQ) from 53 'clinical' to 23 'sub- clinical' at post-treatment and 25 'sub-clinical' at 6 week follow-up. Reduction in DASS-21 subscales from 'moderate to extremely severe' to non-clinical levels at post-treatment and 6 week follow-up Clinically significant improvement in 'negative affect' (PANAS) from 47 'extremely high' to within the 'average range' (10) at post treatment and 6 week follow-up. No significant improvement in positive affect. Psychological flexibility Reduction in psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance: AAQ-II score reduced from 55 to 13 at post- treatment and 30 at 6 week follow-up.
Lunde & Nordhus (2009)	Community dwelling 70 year old with chronic pain	8 weekly sessions of combined CBT and ACT	 Distress Reduction in depression score (BDI) from 8 'minimal/ no symptoms' at pre-treatment to 6 at post-treatment and 6 month follow-up. Physical functioning Clinically significant improvement in pain quality (SF-MPQ) from 26 'moderate to severe' at pre-treatment to 16 at post treatment and 10 at 6 month follow-up, but no change in pain intensity. Psychological flexibility Improvements in pain willingness and activity engagement on CPAQ from 65 to 77, indicative of greater acceptance of pain.

Study (Country)	Population	Intervention	Outcomes for distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility
Petkus & Wetherell (2013)	Community dwelling 69 year old with depression and anxiety	12 sessions of individual ACT	Distress Clinically significant reduction in depression on BDI from 31 'severe' to 18 'mild'.
Roberts & Sedley (2016)	Community dwelling 89 year old with depression and generalised anxiety	8 weekly sessions of individual ACT	Distress Clinically significant reduction in depression and anxiety scores: GDS-30 reduced from 16 'mild' to 7 'normal'; HADS-depression reduced from 12 'moderate' to 2 'normal'; and HADS-anxiety reduced from 8 'mild' to 1 'normal'. Psychological flexibility Reduction in psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance: AAQ-II score reduced from 19 to 10.
Ruiz Sánchez <i>et al.</i> (2014)	Care home residents. 1x 65 year old male, 1x 80 year old female and 1x 83 year old female with depression	6 weekly sessions of individual ACT	 Distress Clinically significant reduction in depression score (HAM-D) in 3/3 from pre-treatment to post-treatment and pre-treatment to 12 month follow-up. Clinically significant reduction in depression score (GDS – Spanish version) in 1/3. Psychological flexibility Improvement in psychological flexibility (AAQ-II) in 2/3 and decrease in psychological flexibility in 1/3.

Note:

BAI; Beck Anxiety Inventory, **BDI-II**; Beck Depression Inventory – 2nd Edition, **CPAQ**; Chronic Pain Acceptance Questionnaire, **DASS**; Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scales, **GDS**; Geriatric Depression Scale, **HADS**; Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, **HAM-D**; Hamilton Depression Scale, **HAQ**; Health Anxiety Questionnaire, **PANAS**; Positive and Negative Affect Schedule, **SF-MPQ**; Short Form McGill Pain Questionnaire.

Discussion

Summary of findings: the utility of ACT with older adults

The current review has synthesized the research investigating ACT with older adults and has found the application of ACT to be wide-ranging across problem areas (chronic pain, depression and varied sub-types of anxiety), populations (care home residents, community-dwellers, veterans) and outcomes (psychological distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility). The broad scope of applications suggests workability of the ACT model for clinical use with this population group. Although the research is in its relative infancy, the published literature reflects a growing interest amongst clinicians and researchers in ACT, and how it can be utilised with older people across clinical settings. The review highlights the preliminary nature of the research in this area, with studies trialing diverse protocols across pilot and exploratory studies. Accordingly, it is difficult to reliably provide conclusions on the effectiveness or comparability of ACT to other active treatments in this population. Encouragingly, all but one reviewed study (Alonso et al., 2008) found significant improvements in outcome measures of distress following ACT intervention, with moderate to large effect sizes. In addition, five case studies found clinically significant improvements in distress measures following ACT. Significant improvements were also found across some measures of physical functioning in older chronic pain populations, however only six studies including a case study, measured this outcome. Findings were even less conclusive for psychological flexibility, with two out of three studies finding no significant improvements on the AAQ-II post intervention.

Overall, it is difficult to draw firm conclusions regarding effectiveness, based on any of the three outcome areas (psychological distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility) due to the paucity of studies, their heterogeneity, the varied methodological quality and the lack of RCTs. It is impossible to extrapolate reliably, given the study designs, whether findings are attributable to the varied ACT-based interventions or merely a consequence of placebo or regression to the mean. Furthermore, as many of the studies were underpowered, they may have been susceptible to type II error, thus potentially not detecting effects even if they were present. This seems particularly likely in the case of Alonso and colleagues' (2013) study, which detected very large, but non-significant effects.

The majority of studies included within the review had low attrition rates, suggesting that ACT is an acceptable intervention for older adults. Nevertheless, there was considerable variability in the range of attrition rates, with one study (Alonso-Fernández et al., 2016) reporting an attrition rate of almost 50%. The study investigated a 9-week, group-based ACT intervention for care home residents with chronic pain. The main reason for drop out was 'loss of interest in the study', in addition to medical illness, problems understanding the between-session exercises and systemic issues involving other residents and staff. To increase engagement, ACT interventions delivered in care homes may need to be shorter in duration, or delivered on an individual basis to allow for specific adaptations based on residents' individual physical or cognitive abilities. Indeed, Davison et al. (2017) achieved superior participant retention ($\leq 20\%$) with a shorter ACT protocol (over 7 weeks), delivered on an individual basis within a care home setting. Further research is warranted to determine the optimal delivery method and effectiveness of ACT in care home settings.

Limitations of reviewed studies

Overall, the main limitations of the reviewed studies included low statistical power, poor study design, a lack of matched, active control groups, insufficient follow-up periods and poor monitoring of treatment fidelity.

Some studies were also restricted in their ability to demonstrate clinically significant change following ACT due to floor effects on outcome measures. Baseline levels of distress were low prior to the intervention in these studies, thus leaving limited scope for improvement.

Implications for future research

Further research should incorporate the positive aspects of the reviewed studies in terms of intervention protocol reporting, inclusion of clinically representative samples and utilisation of outcome measures with good psychometric properties for older adults. Inclusion of objective measures of behavioural activity (e.g. pedometers) would enhance the chronic pain literature by reducing potential bias incurred via self-report measures. Other areas for improvement are evidently regarding study design, where utilisation of RCTs, with matched active controls and longer-term follow-up is necessary. Furthermore, it will be essential for studies to employ larger sample sizes as the research area grows, in order to provide more robust data regarding clinical effectiveness. This will assist in providing a more stringent evidencebase for practitioners who are already applying ACT clinically in older adult settings (e.g. Coniasse-Brioude, 2016; Jourdain & Dulin, 2009; Lunde & Nordhus, 2009; Petkus & Wetherell, 2013; Roberts & Sedley, 2016; Ruiz Sánchez et al., 2014). An estimated 46.8 million people are living with dementia worldwide and prevalence is continuing to rise (Prince et al., 2015). Future research could be extended to explore utilisation of ACT for people with mild cognitive impairment or early dementia.

Future ACT case study research should focus on reporting atypical or complex older adult presentations. This would be invaluable for clinicians to assess the feasibility of ACT for older patients with psychological problems that go beyond the scope of the current evidence-base. Future case studies could also be enhanced by implementation of single case experimental design methods (Backman & Harris, 1999; Smith, 2012; Manolov & Moeyaert, 2017). By employing statistical techniques, albeit single-case, the studies would garner much richer data regarding the statistical significance of change in outcome measures across the course of an intervention.

Strengths and limitations of the current review

The current review has several limitations, which should be acknowledged. A meta-analysis could not be completed due to the limited number of RCTs per outcome area and heterogeneity between the reviewed studies in terms of design, population group and clinical setting. The current review synthesizes study data based upon three outcome areas (emotional distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility). This approach was chosen due to the transdiagnostic nature of ACT; however grouping results based on mode of intervention delivery, clinical setting or diagnostic group, arguably may have been clearer. A third limitation relates to study quality assessment and the use of descriptive 'overall quality ratings' based upon percentage cut-off scores. This method of categorisation could be viewed as arbitrary and may oversimplify readers' interpretation of study quality. Accordingly, readers are encouraged to remain cognizant of specific ratings awarded for each of the thirteen quality domains. Finally, the current review was limited by the inability to report effect sizes for the methodologically strongest paper (Wetherell et al., 2016). The lead author was contacted for this data, however this request was not met.

Several strengths of the current review should also be highlighted. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review of solely ACT interventions for older adults. The review was broad-based and included English, French and Spanish papers, in addition to published case studies, which provide a useful descriptive account of the applicability of ACT for older adults within clinical settings. In addition, the quality appraisal process was conducted rigorously due to the inclusion of a second quality rater. A high level of interrater reliability was achieved.

Clinical implications

Although more research is required, initial evidence suggests that ACT is effective for reducing distress in older adults. The review did not uncover sufficient evidence to assess the viability of ACT as a suitable alternative to other therapeutic approaches, for example CBT, which has a more established evidence-base for late-life depression and anxiety (Gould, Coulson & Howard, 2012^a; 2012^b). Only two of the included studies compared ACT with a CBT control condition (Wetherell *et al.,* 2011^a, 2016) and both studies did not report the between-group effect sizes. Further research comparing the effectiveness of ACT and CBT with older adults will be required to establish the optimality of the different therapeutic approaches to support evidence-based clinical practice.

The current review highlights that ACT is not yet well established within care home settings. Further research is necessary to determine the true utility of ACT within this context, however initial findings are encouraging.

Conclusion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review to investigate the effectiveness of ACT interventions for older adults in areas of emotional distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility. Conclusions are restricted due to study heterogeneity, mixed methodological quality and the limited number of RCTs. The evidence-base for ACT with older adults is in its relative infancy, however the review uncovered promising initial findings. Broadly, the review suggests that ACT-based interventions are acceptable and effective for reducing distress in older adults in community and care home settings. Findings are less conclusive for physical functioning and psychological flexibility outcomes. This is likely to reflect the limited number of published studies assessing these outcomes. Further research is warranted, particularly with larger samples and improved methodological rigor.

References

* = Studies included within the review

Age UK. (2018). Later life in the UK. London: Age UK.

- Alexopoulos, G. S., Abrams, R. C., Young, R. C., & Shamoian, C. A. (1988). Cornell scale for depression in dementia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 23(3), 271-284.
- *Alonso, M. A., López, A., Losada, A., & González, J. L. (2013). Acceptance and commitment therapy and selective optimization with compensation for older people with chronic pain: A pilot study. *Psicologia Conductual*, 21(1), 59.
- *Alonso-Fernández, M., López-López, A., Losada, A., González, J. L., & Wetherell, J. L. (2016). Acceptance and commitment therapy and selective optimization with compensation for institutionalized older people with chronic pain. *Pain Medicine*, *17*(2), 264-277.
- Altman, D. G. (1991). *Practical statistics for medical research*. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Anderson, D. (2011). Age discrimination in mental health services needs to be understood. *The Psychiatrist*, 35(1), 1-4.
- A-Tjak, J. G., Davis, M. L., Morina, N., Powers, M. B., Smits, J. A., & Emmelkamp, P. M. (2015). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of acceptance and commitment therapy for clinically relevant mental and physical health problems. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *84*(1), 30-36.

- Bach, P. & Hayes, S. C. (2002). The use of acceptance and commitment therapy to prevent the rehospitalization of psychotic patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *70*(5), 1129-1139.
- Bach, P., Hayes, S. C., & Gallop, R. (2012). Long term effects of brief acceptance and commitment therapy for psychosis. *Behavior Modification*, 36, 165-181.
- Backman, C. L., & Harris, S. R. (1999). Case studies, single-subject research, and N of 1 randomised trials: Comparisons and contrasts. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 78(2), 170-176.
- Baltes, P. B., & Baltes, M. M. (1990). Psychological perspectives on successful aging: The model of selective optimization with compensation. *Successful aging: Perspectives from the Behavioral Sciences*, 1(1), 1-34.
- Barnett, K., Mercer, S. W., Norbury, M., Watt, G., Wyke, S., & Guthrie, B. (2012). Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet*, *380*(9836), 37-43.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. (1996). Beck depression inventory-II. San Antonio, 78(2), 490-8.
- Beecham, J., Knapp, M. R. J., Fernández, J. L., Huxley, P., Mangalore, R., McCrone, P., ... & Winter, B. (2008). Age discrimination in mental health services. PSSRU Discussion Paper 2536, Kent, UK: PSSRU.

- Bergner, M., Bobbitt, R. A., Carter, W. B., & Gilson, B. S. (1981). The Sickness Impact Profile: development and final revision of a health status measure. *Medical Care*, 787-805.
- Bluett, E. J., Homan, K. J., Morrison, K. L., Levin, M. E., & Twohig, M. P. (2014). Acceptance and commitment therapy for anxiety and OCD spectrum disorders: An empirical review. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 28(6), 612-624.
- Brooks, J, O., & Hoblyn, J. C. (2007). Neurocognitive costs and benefits of psychotropic medications in older adults. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*. 20, 199-214.
- Broomfield, N. M., Laidlaw, K., Hickabottom, E., Murray, M. F., Pendrey, R.,
 Whittick, J. E., & Gillespie, D. C. (2011). Post-stroke depression: the case for augmented, individually tailored cognitive behavioural therapy. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *18*(3), 202-217.
- Butler, J., & Ciarrochi, J. (2007). Psychological acceptance and quality of life in the elderly. *Quality of Life Research*, *16*, 607-615.
- Canuto, A., Weber, K., Baertschi, M., Andreas, S., Volkert, J., Dehoust, M. C., ... & Crawford, M. J. (2018). Anxiety disorders in old age: psychiatric comorbidities, quality of life, and prevalence according to age, gender, and country. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(2), 174-185.
- Carstensen, L., Isaacowitz, D., & Charles, S. T. (1999). Taking time seriously: A theory of socioemotional selectivity. *American Psychologist*, *54*, 165-181.

- Chaplin, R., Farquharson, L., Clapp, M., & Crawford, M. (2015). Comparison of access, outcomes and experiences of older adults and working age adults in psychological therapy. *International Journal of Psychiatry*, 2, 178-184.
- Charles, S. T., & Carstensen, L. L. (2014). Emotion regulation and aging. In J.
 J. Gross (Ed.) *Handbook of Emotion Regulation* (2nd Ed.), New York:
 Guilford Press.
- Cherbuin, N., Kim, S., & Anstey, K. J. (2015). Dementia risk estimates associated with measures of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ open*, *5*(12), e008853.
- Cleeland, C. S., & Ryan, K. M. (1994). Pain assessment: global use of the Brief Pain Inventory. *Annals, Academy of Medicine, Singapore*.
- Cole, M. G., & Dendukuri, N. (2003). Risk factors for depression among elderly community subjects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(6), 1147-1156.
- *Coniasse-Brioude, D. (2016). Traitement d'une phobie de la chute chez une personne âgée. *Journal de Thérapie Comportementale et Cognitive*, 26(2), 70-78.
- Conwell, Y., Duberstein, P. R., & Caine, E. D. (2002). Risk factors for suicide in later life. *Biological Psychiatry*, *52*(3), 193-204.
- Coventry, P. A., & Gellatly, J. L. (2008). Improving outcomes for COPD patients with mild-to-moderate anxiety and depression: A systematic review of cognitive behavioural therapy. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 13(3), 381-400.

 Cuijpers, P., Andersson, G., Donker, T., & van Straten, A. (2011).
 Psychological treatment of depression: results of a series of metaanalyses. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, *65*(6), 354-364.

- Cukrowicz, K. C., Ekblad, A. G., Cheavens, J. S. Rosenthal, M. Z., & Lynch, T. R. (2008). Coping and thought suppression as predictors of suicidal ideation in depressed older adults with personality disorders. *Aging & Mental Health*, *12*, 149-157.
- *Davison, T. E., Eppingstall, B., Runci, S., & O'Connor, D. W. (2017). A pilot trial of acceptance and commitment therapy for symptoms of depression and anxiety in older adults residing in long-term care facilities. *Aging & Mental Health*, *21*(7), 766-773.
- Djernes, J. K. (2006). Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: a review. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *113*(5), 372-387.
- Dobkin, R. D., Menza, M., Allen, L. A., Gara, M. A., Mark, M. H., Tiu, J.,...& Friedman, J. (2011). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for depression in Parkinson's disease: a randomized, controlled trial. *American Journal* of Psychiatry, 168(10), 1066-1074.
- Downs, S. H., & Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *52*, 377-384.
- Farrar, J. T., Portenoy, R. K., Berlin, J. A., Kinman, J. L., & Strom, B. L. (2000). Defining the clinically important difference in pain outcome measures. *Pain*, 88(3), 287-294.

- Ferssizidis, P., Adams, L. M., Kashdan, T. B., Plummer, C., Mishra, A., & Ciarrochi, J. (2010). Motivation for and commitment to social values: The roles of age and gender. *Motivation and Emotion*, *34*(4), 354-362.
- Gaudiano, B. A., & Herbert, J. D. (2006). Acute treatment of inpatients with psychotic symptoms using acceptance and commitment therapy. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *44*, 415-437.
- Geiger, P. J., Boggero, I. A., Brake, C. A., Caldera, C. A., Combs, H. L., Peters, J. R., & Baer, R. A. (2016). Mindfulness-based interventions for older adults: a review of the effects on physical and emotional wellbeing. *Mindfulness*, 7(2), 296-307.
- Gibbons, L. E., Teri, L., Logsdon, R., McCurry, S. M., Kukull, W., Bowen, J., ...
 & Larson, E. (2002). Anxiety symptoms as predictors of nursing home placement in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Clinical Geropsychology*, 8(4), 335-342.
- Gillanders, D., & Laidlaw, K. (2014). ACT and CBT in older age: Towards a wise synthesis. In N. Pachana & K. Laidlaw (Eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Clinical Geropsychology* (pp. 637-657), Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Gould, R. L., Coulson, M. C., & Howard, R. J. (2012^a). Cognitive behavioural therapy for depression in older people: A meta-analysis and metaregression of randomised controlled trials. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, 60(10), 1817-1830.
- Gould, R. L., Coulson, M. C., & Howard, R. J. (2012^b). Efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety disorders in older people: A metaanalysis and meta-regression of randomized controlled trials. *Journal* of the American Geriatrics Society, 60(2), 218-229.

- Gould, C. E., O'Hara, R., Goldstein, M. K., & Beaudreau, S. A. (2016).
 Multimorbidity is associated with anxiety in older adults in the Health and Retirement Study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *31*(10), 1105-1115.
- Graham, C. D., Gouick, J., Krahé, C., & Gillanders, D. (2016). A systematic review of the use of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) in chronic disease and long-term conditions. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 46, 46-58.
- Gum, A. M., Arean, P. A., Hunkeler, E., Tang, L., Katon, W., Hitchcock, P., Steffens, D. C.,...Unützer, J. (2006). Depression treatment preferences in older primary care patients. *Gerontologist*, 46, 14-22.
- Gum, A. M., Iser, L., & Petkus, A. (2010). Behavioral health service utilization and preferences of older adults receiving home-based aging services. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *18*(6), 491-501.
- Hacker, T., Stone, P., & MacBeth, A. (2016). Acceptance and commitment therapy–Do we know enough? Cumulative and sequential metaanalyses of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *190*, 551-565.
- Hayes, S. C., Barnes-Holmes, D., & Roche, B. (Eds.). (2001). Relational frame theory: A post-Skinnerian account of human language and cognition.
 New York: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Hayes, S. C., Luoma, J., Bond, F., Masuda, A., & Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: Model, processes, and outcomes. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44(1), 1-25.

Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). *Acceptance and Commitment Therapy*. New York: Guilford Press.

- Higgins, J. P. T. & Green, S. (2011). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. The Cochrane Collaboration. Version 5.1.0.2011. Retrieved 7th February 2018 from <u>www.handbook-5-</u> <u>1.cochrane.org/</u>
- Hughes, L. S., Clark, J., Colclough, J. A., Dale, E., & McMillan, D. (2017). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) for Chronic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 33(6), 552-568.
- Iverson, G. L., & Remick, R. (2004). Diagnostic accuracy of the British Columbia major depression inventory. *Psychological Reports*, 95(3_suppl), 1241-1247.
- *Jourdain, R. L., & Dulin, P. L. (2009). "Giving It Space" A case study examining acceptance and commitment therapy for health anxiety in an older male previously exposed to nuclear testing. *Clinical Case Studies*, *8*(3), 210-225.
- *Karlin, B. E., Walser, R. D., Yesavage, J., Zhang, A., Trockel, M., & Taylor, C. B. (2013). Effectiveness of acceptance and commitment therapy for depression: Comparison among older and younger veterans. *Aging & Mental Health*, *17*(5), 555-563.
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters,
 E. E. (2005). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of
 DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey
 Replication. Archives of General Psychiatry, 62(6), 593-602.

- Kishita, N., Takei, Y., & Stewart, I. (2017). A meta-analysis of third wave mindfulness-based cognitive behavioral therapies for older people. *International journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 32(12), 1352-1361.
- Kishita, N. & Laidlaw, K. (2017). Cognitive behaviour therapy for generalised anxiety disorder: Is CBT equally efficacious in adults of working age and older adults? *Clinical Psychology Review*, *52*, 124-136.
- Laidlaw, K., Davidson, K., Toner, H., Jackson, G., Clark, S., Law, J.,...& Cross, S. (2008). A randomised controlled trial of cognitive behaviour therapy vs treatment as usual in the treatment of mild to moderate late life depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23(8), 843-850.
- Laidlaw, K., & Kishita, N. (2015). Age-appropriate augmented cognitive behaviour therapy to enhance treatment outcome for late life depression and anxiety disorders. *Geropsych*, *28*, 57-66.
- Law, J., Laidlaw, K., & Peck, D. (2010). Is depression viewed as an inevitable consequence of age? The "understandability phenomenon" in older people. *Clinical Gerontologist*, 33(3), 194-209.
- Luanaigh, C. Ó., & Lawlor, B. A. (2008). Loneliness and the health of older people. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *23*(12), 1213-1221.
- *Lunde, L. H., & Nordhus, I. H. (2009). Combining acceptance and commitment therapy and cognitive behavioral therapy for the treatment of chronic pain in older adults. *Clinical Case Studies*, *8*(4), 296-308.

- Lunde, L. H., Nordhus, I. H., & Pallesen, S. (2009). The effectiveness of cognitive and behavioural treatment of chronic pain in the elderly: a quantitative review. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, *16*(3), 254-262.
- Mahoney, C. T., Segal, D. L., & Coolidge, F. L. (2015). Anxiety sensitivity, experiential avoidance, and mindfulness among younger and older adults: Age differences in risk factors for anxiety symptoms. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, *81*(4), 217-240.
- Manolov, R., & Moeyaert, M. (2017). Recommendations for choosing singlecase data analytical techniques. *Behavior Therapy*, *48*(1), 97-114.
- Markota, M., Rummans, T. A., Bostwick, J. M., & Lapid, M. I. (2016).
 Benzodiazepine use in older adults: dangers, management, and alternative therapies. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *91*(11), 1632-1639.
- *McCracken, L. M., & Jones, R. (2012). Treatment for chronic pain for adults in the seventh and eighth decades of life: A preliminary study of acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). *Pain Medicine*, *13*(7), 861-867.
- McCracken, L. M., Vowles, K. E., & Eccleston, C. (2004). Acceptance of chronic pain: component analysis and a revised assessment method. *Pain*, 107(1-2), 159-166.
- McCracken, L. M., Zayfert, C., & Gross, R. T. (1992). The Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale: development and validation of a scale to measure fear of pain. *Pain*, *50*(1), 67-73.

Melzack, R. (1987). The short-form McGill pain questionnaire. *Pain*, *30*(2), 191-197.

- Mental Health Foundation. (2009). *All things being equal: Age equality in mental health care for older people in England.* London: Mental Health Foundation.
- Moher, D., Shamseer, L., Clarke, M., Ghersi, D., Liberati, A., Petticrew, M.,...& Stewart, L. A. (2015). Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Systematic Reviews*, 4(1), 1.
- Mourao, R. J., Mansur, G., Malloy-Diniz, L. F., Castro Costa, E., & Diniz, B. S. (2016). Depressive symptoms increase the risk of progression to dementia in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 31(8), 905-911.

Office for National Statistics. (2017). *Overview of the UK population*. Retrieved 5th January 2018 from www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigrati on/populationestimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulation/july2017

Pachana, N. A., Byrne, G. J., Siddle, H., Koloski, N., Harley, E., & Arnold, E.
(2007). Development and validation of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *19*(1), 103-114.

Paukert, A. L., Calleo, J., Kraus-Schuman, C., Snow, L., Wilson, N., Petersen, N. J., ...& Stanley, M. A. (2010). Peaceful Mind: an open trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety in persons with dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 22(6), 1012-1021.

- Petkus, A. J., Gum, A., & Wetherell, J. L. (2012). Thought suppression is associated with psychological distress in homebound older adults. *Depression and Anxiety*, *29*(3), 219-225.
- *Petkus, A. J., & Wetherell, J. L. (2013). Acceptance and commitment therapy with older adults: Rationale and considerations. *Cognitive and Behavioural Practice*, *20*(1), 47-56.
- Prince, M. J., Wimo, A., Guerchet, M. M., Ali, G. C., Wu, Y-T., & Prina, M. (2015) World Alzheimer's Report 2015 The Global Impact of Dementia: An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends. London: Alzheimer's Disease International. Retrieved 10th March 2018 from https://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2015.pdf
- *Roberts, S. L., & Sedley, B. (2016). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy With Older Adults: Rationale and Case Study of an 89-Year-Old With Depression and Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Clinical Case Studies*, *15*(1), 53-67.
- Rosenthal, M. Z., Cheavens, J. S., Compton, J. S., Thorp, S. R., & Lynch, T.
 R. (2005). Thought suppression and treatment outcome in late-life depression. *Aging & Mental Health*, 9(1), 35-39.
- Royal College of Psychiatrists. (2009). *Age discrimination in mental health services: making equality a reality*. (Position Statement PS2/2009). London: Royal College of Psychiatrists.
- Ruiz, F. J. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy versus traditional cognitive behavioral therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of current empirical evidence. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, 12(3), 333-357.

- *Ruiz Sánchez, L. J., Cangas Díaz, A. J., & Barbero Rubio, A. (2014). Intervención breve de Terapia de Aceptación y Compromiso (ACT) en ancianos institucionalizados con sintomatología depresiva. International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy, 14(3), 445-458.
- Scheibe, S., & Carstensen, L. L. (2010). Emotional aging: Recent findings and future trends. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 65B(2), 135-144.
- Scholey, K. A., & Woods, B. T. (2003). A series of brief cognitive therapy interventions with people experiencing both dementia and depression: a description of techniques and common themes. *Clinical Psychology* & *Psychotherapy*, *10*(3), 175-185.
- *Scott, W., Daly, A., Yu, L., & McCracken, L. M. (2017). Treatment of chronic pain for adults 65 and over: Analyses of outcomes and changes in psychological flexibility following interdisciplinary acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). *Pain Medicine*, *18*(2), 252-264.
- Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). (n.d.). *Methodology checklist 1: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses*. Retrieved 23rd May 2017 from <u>http://www.sign.ac.uk/checklists-and-notes.html</u>
- Serfaty, M. A., Haworth, D., Blanchard, M., Buszewicz, M., Murad, S., & King, M. (2009). Clinical effectiveness of individual cognitive behavioral therapy for depressed older people in primary care: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(12), 1332-1340.
- Shenkin, S. D., Harrison, J. K., Wilkinson, T., Dodds, R. M., & Ioannidis, J. P. (2017). Systematic reviews: guidance relevant for studies of older people. *Age and Ageing*, *46*(5), 722-728.

- Smith, J. D. (2012). Single-case experimental designs: A systematic review of published research and current standards. *Psychological Methods*, *17*(4), 510.
- The Scottish Government. (2015). 'The Matrix': A guide to delivering evidence based psychological therapies in Scotland. Edinburgh: National Education for Scotland (NES) and The Scottish Government.
- Turvey, C. L., Conwell, Y., Jones, M. P., Phillips, C., Simonsick, E., Pearson, J. L., & Wallace, R. (2002). Risk factors for late-life suicide: a prospective, community-based study. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *10*(4), 398-406.
- Twohig, M. P., & Levin, M. E. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a treatment for anxiety and depression: A review. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 40(4), 751-770.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. (2015). *World Population Ageing 2015*. Retrieved 24th March 2017 from <u>http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ag</u> <u>eing/WPA2015_Report.pdf</u>
- Veehof, M. M., Trompetter, H. R., Bohlmeijer, E. T., & Schreurs, K. M. G. (2016). Acceptance-and mindfulness-based interventions for the treatment of chronic pain: a meta-analytic review. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 45(1), 5-31.
- Volkert, J., Schulz, H., Härter, M., Wlodarczyk, O., & Andreas, S. (2013). The prevalence of mental disorders in older people in Western countries–a meta-analysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 12(1), 339-353.

- Ware Jr, J. E., & Sherbourne, C. D. (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36): I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, 473-483.
- *Wetherell, J. L., Afari, N., Rutledge, T., Sorrell, J. T., Stoddard, J. A., Petkus, A. J.,...& Atkinson, J. H. (2011^b). A randomized, controlled trial of acceptance and commitment therapy and cognitive-behavioral therapy for chronic pain. *Pain*, *152*(9), 2098-2107.
- *Wetherell, J. L., Liu, L., Patterson, T. L., Afari, N., Ayers, C. R., Thorp, S. R., ... & Petkus, A. J. (2011^a). Acceptance and commitment therapy for generalized anxiety disorder in older adults: A preliminary report. *Behavior Therapy*, *42*(1), 127-134.
- *Wetherell, J. L., Petkus, A. J., Alonso-Fernández, M., Bower, E. S., Steiner, A. R., & Afari, N. (2016). Age moderates response to acceptance and commitment therapy vs. cognitive behavioral therapy for chronic pain. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *31*(3), 302-308.
- World Health Organisation. (2015) Ageing and health: Fact sheet N°404. Retrieved 10th March 2018 from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs404/en/
- Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer, V. O. (1982). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *17*(1), 37-49.

Chapter 2: Empirical project

Psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment: the role of illness perceptions, cognitive fusion and cognitive impairment

K. Ross¹*, A. Stevenson³, T. Weavers¹, D. Gillanders², A. Guzmán²

¹Lothian Older People's Psychology Service, MacKinnon House, Royal Edinburgh Hospital, Morningside Place, Edinburgh, UK.

² Department of Clinical Psychology, School of Health in Social Sciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK.

³ Psychological Therapies for Older People, Houldsworth Centre, Wishaw, Lanarkshire, UK.

*Correspondence to: Kerry Ross Lothian Older People's Psychology Service MacKinnon House, Royal Edinburgh Hospital Morningside Place Edinburgh, EH10 5HF Email: kerry.ross@nhs.net

> Prepared in accordance with guidelines for submission to *Psychology and Aging* (Appendix C)

Word count: 8845 (excluding abstract and references)

Abstract

Objective: This study analyses the relative contribution of cognitive impairment, illness perceptions and cognitive fusion in influencing distress and quality of life (QoL) in older adults with mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

Method: A cross-sectional study was conducted with 35 community-dwelling older adults with MCI. All participants completed the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) and six questionnaires measuring illness perceptions, cognitive fusion, depression, anxiety and QoL. Relationships between the variables were analysed using correlation, regression and conditional process analyses.

Results: Regression analyses indicated that illness perceptions were a stronger predictor of depression and QoL, than objective cognitive impairment. Illness perceptions did not directly predict anxiety symptoms, however cognitive fusion significantly mediated this relationship. Cognitive fusion also significantly mediated the relationship between illness perceptions and depression. Illness perceptions had a direct effect on QoL, however there was no indirect effect via cognitive fusion.

Conclusion: Illness perceptions were more strongly associated with depression and QoL in people with MCI, than severity of cognitive impairment. Greater fusion with threatening illness perceptions was significantly related to increased anxiety and depression. Psychological treatments such as Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT), which target cognitive fusion, could warrant further investigation in this population.

Key words: Acceptance and Commitment Therapy; anxiety; cognitive fusion; depression; mild cognitive impairment; older adults; quality of life

Running title: Psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment

Highlights:

- Illness perceptions were found to be a stronger predictor of depression and QoL in people with MCI than objective cognitive impairment.
- Cognitive fusion significantly mediated the relationship between illness perceptions and anxiety in people with MCI.
- Cognitive fusion significantly mediated the relationship between illness perceptions and depression in people with MCI.
- Psychological interventions that directly target negative illness perceptions and cognitive fusion may reduce distress and improve QoL in people adjusting to MCI.

Abstract word count: 194

Introduction

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a diagnostic classification, adopted by health professionals and researchers, to describe the intermediary state between normal cognition and early dementia (Petersen, 2004). The diagnostic term emerged in the late eighties (Reisberg *et al.*, 1988) and has become more widely utilised since the publication of Petersen and colleagues formal definition (Petersen *et al.*, 1999). Although the definition has evolved over the past decade, it is generally accepted that MCI is characterised by: (a) self or informant reported cognitive complaints; (b) objective evidence of cognitive impairment; (c) intact functional abilities; and (d) no dementia (Petersen *et al.*, 2014). Data from population studies, adopting Peterson's expanded definition of MCI, indicate that approximately 18% of older adults have MCI, with incidence rates of 47.9 (range: 21.5-71.3) per 1000 person-years (Peterson *et al.*, 2014).

People diagnosed with MCI are at increased risk of developing dementia, particularly Alzheimer's disease. Research evidence from a large metaanalysis of 41 studies suggests that annual progression rates are around 5% to 10% (Mitchell & Shiri-Feshki, 2009), however many people diagnosed with MCI experience no further cognitive decline and an estimated 16% revert back to 'normal' cognitive functioning (Koepsell & Monsell, 2012; Sachdev *et al.,* 2013). It should be noted that conversion rates vary widely between studies due to differences in study sampling procedures (e.g. memory clinics or community based studies) and variation in the operationalisation and implementation of diagnostic criteria across settings.

Limited research has focused on individual experiences of receiving an MCI diagnosis. Adjusting to MCI may be challenging, particularly given the uncertain clinical trajectory surrounding progression to dementia. Some researchers argue that an MCI diagnosis merely causes undue distress for individuals and their carers, about what may be part of a 'normal' ageing

process (Beard & Neary, 2013; Fang *et al.*, 2017; Whitehouse, 2007). This is particularly salient, given the absence of any evidence-based interventions for people diagnosed (Fang *et al.*, 2017; Karakaya, Fußer, Schroder & Pantel, 2013). Patients diagnosed with MCI are challenged with managing the practical, social and emotional consequences of living with cognitive impairment, in a context of having limited information regarding the cause or prognostic course of their difficulties.

Emergence of the MCI diagnosis has facilitated a surge of research activity regarding biomarkers for dementia and pharmacological treatments (Fitzpatrick-Lewis, Warren, Ali, Sherifali & Raina, 2015; Karakaya *et al.*, 2013), however comparatively there has been limited research investigating the psychological or social implications, such as how people adjust to the diagnosis. Addressing this research gap is important, particularly given meta-analytic findings, which suggest that anxiety and depression symptoms significantly increase risk of progression from MCI to dementia by around 18% and 25% respectively (Mourao, Mansur, Malloy-Diniz, Castro-Costa & Diniz, 2016; Li & Li, 2018). Research has also demonstrated significantly higher levels of anxiety and depression in MCI patients when compared to cognitively healthy, age-matched controls (Ismail *et al.*, 2017; Mirza *et al.*, 2016).

Adjustment and the common sense model (CSM)

Variations in how people adjust psychologically to MCI could be influenced by individual beliefs or perceptions about the diagnosis. The Common Sense Model (CSM) of Self-Regulation (Leventhal, Meyer & Nerenz, 1980; Leventhal, Nerenz & Steele, 1984) offers a theoretical framework to explain diversity in individual responses to ill health and proposes that 'illness perceptions' can have a direct effect on coping behaviour and emotional wellbeing. Illness perceptions are cognitions that form in response to a health threat and include beliefs about how long the illness will last, what the consequences will be, how controllable the symptoms are via self-management or formal treatment and

what the possible causes are. The CSM has an extensive evidence-base across a range of health conditions including multiple sclerosis (Dennison, Moss-Morris & Chalder, 2009), cancer (Gillanders, Sinclair, MacLean & Jardine, 2015), diabetes (Hudson, Bundy, Coventry & Dickens, 2014) and cardiovascular conditions (Foxwell, Morley & Frizelle, 2013). Broadly, evidence supports that more negative or threat-focused appraisals of health are associated with maladaptive coping responses (e.g. avoidance or rumination), poorer physical health outcomes, increased emotional distress and reduced quality of life (QoL) (Dempster, Howell & McCorry, 2015; Hagger & Orbell, 2003; Hagger, Koch, Chatzisarantis & Orbell, 2017; O'Donovan, Painter, Lowe, Robinson & Broadbent, 2016). Furthermore, studies in populations with rheumatoid arthritis, chronic pain and multiple sclerosis have found that illness perceptions have greater predictive value than objective disability level in determining adjustment outcomes (Groarke, Curtis, Coughlan & Gsel, 2004; Severeijins, Vlaeyen, van den Hout & Weber, 2001; Spain, Tubridy, Kilpatrick, Adams & Holmes, 2007).

Individual perceptions of MCI have been studied outwith the framework of the CSM in several qualitative studies, which have identified a possible tension between worry and relief when diagnosed with MCI (Dean & Wilcock, 2012; Gomersall *et al.*, 2015; 2017; Meilak, Partridge, Willis & Dhesi, 2016). Commonly identified themes across qualitative studies include: uncertainty about the future; ambiguity about the MCI diagnosis; fears of progression to dementia; and relief following memory assessment that the outcome is MCI and not Alzheimer's disease (Beard & Neary, 2013; Dean & Wilcock, 2012; Frank *et al.*, 2006; Gomersall *et al.*, 2015; 2017; Meilak *et al.*, 2016). This research has been extended by a small number of quantitative studies, which have directly explored the influence of illness perceptions on coping and emotional responses in an MCI population. Lin and Heidrich (2012) explored the relationship between illness perceptions and coping behaviour in 63 older adults with MCI and found significant associations between perceptions of MCI, self-reported symptoms and coping. Lin, Gleason and Heidrich (2012)

found no significant association between illness perceptions and distress in 30 MCI patients, when utilising the same measure of illness perception, the Illness Perception Questionnaire – Mild Cognitive impairment (IPQ-MCI) (Lin *et al.*, 2012), however this study was greatly limited by their recruitment of a small homogeneous sample of predominantly well-educated males who had been diagnosed with MCI on average two years prior to taking part in the study. Thus, potentially not capturing the adjustment period following diagnosis.

In contrast, Stevenson, Gillanders, Ferreira and Gilroy (2014) found perceptions regarding the consequences and emotional impact of MCI (as measured by the IPQ-MCI) to be associated with depression and anxiety symptoms in their sample of 19 older adults with the condition. However no association was found between perceptions of MCI and QoL in their sample (Stevenson *et al.*, 2014). Stevenson and colleagues (2014) do provide some partial evidence to support the CSM with an MCI population, however only tentative conclusions could be drawn from this study, as a result of the small sample size.

Currently, the evidence-base for the applicability of the CSM to adjustment processes in people with MCI is equivocal. This could be attributed to the limited number of studies with relatively small samples sizes, or it could be the case that the CSM does not provide a robust enough framework to conceptualise the psychological processes involved in adjustment to this condition.

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: the role of cognitive fusion

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT; Hayes, Strosahl & Wilson, 1999; 2012) offers an alternative perspective regarding the processes involved in adjustment to a health condition. While the CSM places emphasis on the content of an individual's beliefs or perceptions about their health, the ACT model would propose that how one relates to internal experiences (e.g.

symptoms and their appraisal), independent of content or form, is more salient. Six inter-related processes comprise the ACT model of psychological flexibility. It is conceptualised as the present-moment, non-judgmental acceptance of unwanted internal experiences, that may otherwise by ruminated over or suppressed, to allow for flexible and committed behaviour, consistent with personal values (Hayes, Strosahl & Wilson, 2012). Adjusting to MCI may therefore be influenced by different processes, which are central to ACT, but are not considered within the CSM. The current study is interested in the ACT process of cognitive fusion, and the inverse cognitive defusion, which has conceptual overlap with meta-cognitive awareness (Teasdale et al., 2002) and decentering (Safran & Segal, 1990) in mindfulness literature and practice. Cognitive fusion describes the process of becoming excessively caught up or entangled with internal experiences (e.g. thoughts, bodily symptoms), to the extent that it can control or overly regulate behaviour (Gillanders et al., 2014). Studies indicate that cognitive fusion is a significant predictor of psychological distress and QoL in a range of health conditions including multiple sclerosis (Ferenbach, Gillanders & Harper, 2011), chronic pain (McCracken & Vowes, 2014) and cancer (Gillanders et al., 2015). To date, there have been no studies investigating the role of cognitive fusion in adjustment to MCI.

Study aims and hypotheses

The current study aims to investigate the relative influence of illness perceptions and cognitive impairment on levels of distress and QoL in people diagnosed with MCI within the past three to nine months. The study also examines whether cognitive fusion has a mediating role in relationships between predictor (illness perceptions and cognitive impairment) and outcome variables (anxiety, depression and QoL).

The study aims to provide information for health care professionals regarding the factors involved in patient adjustment to MCI. This could assist with development of assessment and early intervention procedures for patients with increased distress or reduced life satisfaction following diagnosis.
It was hypothesized that:

(1) Increased perceptions of MCI as threatening and greater cognitive impairment will be significantly associated with increased distress (anxiety and depression) and reduced QoL.

(2) Illness perceptions will significantly predict, and account for greater variance in psychosocial variables (depression, anxiety and QoL) than level of cognitive impairment.

(3) Cognitive fusion will significantly mediate the relationship between threat appraisals and psychosocial variables (depression, anxiety and QoL).

(4) Cognitive fusion will significantly mediate the relationship between cognitive impairment and psychosocial variables (depression anxiety and QoL).

Methods

Design

The study was cross-sectional and adopted a questionnaire design to explore the possible inter-relationships between the following variables: perceptions of MCI, cognitive impairment, cognitive fusion, anxiety, depression and QoL. A group of older adults registered with the Patient and Public Advisory Service (ACCORD: <u>http://accord.scot/public-access-patient-and-public-involvement/patient-and-public-advisory-service</u>, last accessed on 26th April 2018) were involved in the design of the study.

Ethics

Ethical approval was granted from the South of Scotland Research Ethics Committee (reference: 16/SS/0215), NHS Lothian and NHS Lanarkshire Research and Development (R&D) (reference: 2016/0320 and L17015) and The University of Edinburgh, School of Health in Social Science. Ethical approval documentation is included in Appendix D.

Statistical power and sample size

Power calculations were carried out *a-priori* to determine the minimum sample size required for correlation, regression and conditional process analyses (Hayes, 2013).

G*power (version 3.1) (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner & Lang, 2009) was used to calculate sample size estimates for correlation analysis to detect medium and large effect sizes, with a power of 0.80 and an alpha of <0.05. Estimates were n=67 to detect medium effects and n=23 to detect large effects.

To estimate sample size for multiple regression analysis, Green (1991) proposes the formula '50+8*m*' (where *m* equates to the number of predictors). As the study employs two predictor variables (threat appraisal and cognitive impairment), the formula suggests a sample of at least n=66 to establish the overall fit of the regression model, with a power of 0.80 and an alpha of <0.05. In order to compare the two predictor variables, Green (1991) proposes the formula '104+*m*', which suggests a sample size of at least n=106, with a power of 0.80 and an alpha of 0.05.

For conditional process analysis (Hayes, 2013), Fritz and MacKinnon (2007) provide 'rule of thumb' sample size estimates for simple mediation analyses, utilising a bootstrapping approach. Fritz and MacKinnon (2007) recommend that sample size should be based on the magnitude of the expected effects for the 'a' and 'b', indirect pathway in the mediation model. As previous research has found medium to large effects (Ferenbach *et al.*, 2011; Gillanders *et al.*, 2015; Graham, Gouick, Ferreira & Gillanders, 2016; Scott, Daly, Yu & McCracken, 2017; Solé *et al.*, 2015; Scott *et al.*, 2017; Stevenson *et al.*, 2014)

with comparable populations, Fritz and Mackinnon (2007) suggest a sample size of 54 to detect medium effects and 34 to detect large effects.

In order to be adequately powered for the most conservative analyses, the study needed to recruit a sample of 106 participants.

Participants

Participants were eligible to take part if they had received a diagnosis of MCI according to ICD-10 criteria (World Health Organisation, 1992) in the last three to nine months, were aged sixty years or over, were fluent in English and were deemed to have capacity to consent to taking part. Participants were excluded if they resided in a care home, had a significant physical or mental health problems (e.g. Parkinson's disease or schizophrenia), significant sensory impairment, a history of pre-morbid cognitive difficulties, stroke or brain injury, and past or present substance misuse. Participants were not eligible to take part if their score on the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA; Nasreddine *et al.*, 2005) fell below the threshold for MCI (<18), suggestive of greater cognitive impairment (Freitas, Simões, Alves & Santana, 2013).

Measures

Participants completed the following measures:

(1) Demographic questionnaire (see Appendix E)

A short self-report questionnaire asking participants to provide the following demographic data: age; gender; marital status; educational attainment (years); length of time since diagnosis; onset of cognitive difficulties (months); previous or current occupation; and age at retirement, if applicable.

(2) Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA; Nasreddine et al., 2005)

The MoCA is a cognitive screening tool assessing several domains of cognition including: memory; language skills; visuospatial abilities; and executive functioning. Validation studies suggest that the MoCA has high test-retest reliability, good internal consistency (Cronbach's α = 0.83) and adequate levels of sensitivity (90%) and specificity (87%) for detecting MCI (Nasreddine *et al.*, 2005). The maximum MoCA score is 30 and scores between 26 and 18 are clinically indicative of MCI (Nasreddine *et al.*, 2005).

(3) Geriatric Depression Scale – 5 (Hoyl et al., 1999)

The GDS-5 is a five item, self-report measure of depression intended for use with older adults (aged 60+). It has demonstrated greater sensitivity (.97) and specificity (.85) than the longer fifteen-item version (GDS-15; Yesavage & Sheikh, 1986) and has been successfully administered to MCI patients in previous studies (Lin, Gleason & Heidrich, 2012; Stevenson *et al.*, 2014). A score greater than 2 out of 5 is indicative of clinical levels of depression (Hoyl *et al.*, 1999).

(4) Geriatric Anxiety Inventory – Short Form (GAI-SF; Byrne & Pachana, 2011)

The GAI-SF is a five item, self report measure of anxiety intended for use with older adults (aged 60+). The measure is adapted from the original twenty-item GAI (Pachana *et al.*, 2007). The GAI-SF has been shown to have adequate sensitivity (.75) and internal consistency (Cronbach's α =0.71), and good specificity (.87) in a community-dwelling older adult sample (Byrne & Pachana, 2011; Johnco, Knight, Tadic & Wuthrich, 2015). The GAI-SF has been administered successfully with an MCI population (Stevenson *et al.*, 2014) and a sample of memory clinic attendees (Byrne, Pachana, Arnold, Chalk & Appadurai, 2008). A score greater than 3 out of 5 is indicative of clinical levels of anxiety (Byrne & Pachana, 2011).

(5) Illness Perception Questionnaires – Mild Cognitive Impairment (IPQ-MCI; Lin *et al.*, 2012)

The IPQ-MCI is measure of illness perceptions intended for use with an MCI population. It is based on the Illness Perception Questionnaire-Revised (IPQ-R; Moss-Morris et al., 2002), which is a broad-based measure of illness perceptions that can be utilised across a range of health conditions. The IPQ-MCI has nine subscales: identity; cause; consequences; chronic timeline; cyclic; personal control; treatment control; coherence; and emotional representation. The cause subscale was omitted in this study to reduce respondent burden and because the qualitative interpretation did not fit with the planned analyses. Broadbent (2006) proposes that an overall 'illness threat' score can be computed for the brief version of the IPQ by adding the identity, chronic timeline, consequence and emotional representation subscale scores with the reverse scores for the personal control, treatment control and coherence scales. Higher scores are considered to be indicative of a more threatening perception of illness. The IPQ-MCI has been validated with an MCI population and demonstrates adequate internal consistency (Cronbach's α ranging from .62 to .86) (Lin et al., 2012; Lin & Heidrich, 2012).

(6) Cognitive Fusion Questionnaire (CFQ; Gillanders et al., 2014)

The CFQ is a seven item, self-report questionnaire measuring cognitive fusion. Research has shown the scale is reliable (Cronbach α =.88-.93) and has good concurrent validity, as demonstrated by its correlation with other established measures of ACT constructs (e.g. Acceptance and Action Questionnaire; AAQ-II; Bond *et al.*, 2011 and Valued Living Questionnaire; VLQ, Wilson, Sandoz, Kitchens & Roberts, 2010). The CFQ has not been validated with an MCI population, however research has demonstrated cognitive fusion, as measured by the CFQ, to be a good predictor of anxiety, depression and QoL in people with other health conditions including multiple sclerosis (Gillanders *et al.*, 2014; Valvano *et al.*, 2016) and cancer (Gillanders *et al.*, 2015). The CFQ has also demonstrated adequate internal consistency in an older adult population with chronic pain (Cronbach's α =.74) (Scott *et al.*, 2017)

(7) Quality of Life in Alzheimer's Disease (QoL-AD; Logsdon, Gibbons, McCurry & Teri, 2002)

The QoL-AD is a 13 item, self-report measure designed specifically to assess QoL in people with Alzheimer's disease. The QoL-AD asks respondents to rate on a four point Likert scale from 'poor' to 'excellent', their subjective QoL across broad domains such as financial situation, physical health and family. Although the measure was developed for individuals with Alzheimer's disease, rather than MCI, it was selected for use in the current study as it incorporates a memory item and has a simple format deemed potentially less challenging for individuals with compromised cognition. In addition, the QoL-AD has demonstrated good concurrent validity and internal reliability (Cronbach's α =.90) when administered to individuals with MCI (Tatsumi, Yamamoto, Nakaaki, Hadano & Narumoto, 2011).

Recruitment

Thirty-five participants were recruited from six National Health Service (NHS) Memory Clinics and a Specialist Old Age Psychology Service between March 2017 and February 2018. Participants were either identified directly by a National Health Service (NHS) clinician (Consultant Psychiatrist or Clinical Psychologist) involved in the assessment of their memory difficulties, or indirectly identified following a case-note review of former memory clinic attendee notes, which was carried out by the first author (KR). Figure B1 illustrates the two recruitment streams. All participants were sent a participant information sheet (Appendix F) in the post and were required to return an optin slip in a stamped addressed envelope if they were interested in taking part. NHS clinicians identified 33 eligible patients and 15 returned opt-in slips, equating to a 45% return rate. Ninety patients were identified as eligible following case-note review and 26 returned opt-in slips, equating to a lower return rate of 29%. The overall return rate was 34%.

Postal returns were received for 41 participants. Five were excluded for the following reasons: significant physical health problem (n=1); no longer fulfilling the eligibility criteria (n=1); and administrative issues (n=3). Another participant decided they no longer wished to take part. Thirty-five participants took part in the study, however data for one participant was excluded as they received a below threshold score on the MoCA for MCI (<18) (Nasreddine *et al.*, 2005). Henceforth, the data for 34 participants is reported.



Procedure

Participants met with the first author (KR), a doctoral student in Clinical Psychology, to complete a cognitive assessment (MoCA), a series of six outcome measures and a short demographic questionnaire. All participants were asked to provide their informed consent prior to commencement of the study. All participants were administered the assessment measures in the same order (MoCA, GDS-5, GAI-SF, IPQ-MCI, CFQ and QoL-AD). Participants completed the study during a single appointment lasting approximately one hour at a hospital, health centre location or in their own homes. Home visits were made available to participants who had health issues compromising their ability to travel.

Data analysis

Preliminary analyses were carried out to screen the data and to ensure that statistical assumptions were met for correlation and regression analyses. Conditional process analysis does not require assumption testing, due to the robust nature of the bootstrapping method (Fritz and MacKinnon, 2007).

All variables met the assumption of normality, except for GAI-SF, GDS-5 and IPQ-MCI subscales, chronic timeline and treatment control. Transformations (square root and logarithmic) were conducted and resulted in a marked improvement in normality (see Appendix G). There were no violations of linearity, homoscedasticity or multi-collinearity. Presence of outliers was assessed visually using histograms and statistically using the Mahalanobi's distance statistic. No significant outliers were identified. Little's missing completely at random (MCAR) test was employed to detect missing data. Results indicated that data was not missing at random. Non-random missing data was identified for the 'marriage' item on the QoL-AD measure, due to a proportion of participants being single or widowed (n=10). In this circumstance, a total adjusted QoL-AD score was calculated, omitting the 'marriage' item.

A simultaneous 'forced entry' method of regression was selected to analyse the relative contribution of the independent predictor variables (threat appraisals and cognitive impairment) on anxiety, depression and QoL outcome variables. A simultaneous regression was selected, over and above stepwise methods due to concerns highlighted by Field (2013), which suggest that stepwise methods can be sub-optimal for theoretically derived models. Furthermore, stepwise methods are constrained in their ability to manage random variation in the data, often resulting in models that are not generalisable to other samples (Field, 2013, p. 213). Hierarchical regression was also deemed unsuitable to address the study aim of comparing the unique explanatory power of the predictors on the outcome variables. Hierarchical regression would require the predictors to be entered one at a time, based upon evidence from prior research and theory, which is less conclusive for this population.

The bootstrapping method of simple mediation analysis (Hayes, 2013) was selected for conditional process analyses, as opposed to The Sobel Test (Sobel, 1982) or the Baron and Kenny (1986) approach, as it is considered to be a robust method of analysis in circumstances where sample size is small and data is non-parametric (Fritz and MacKinnon, 2007; MacKinnon *et al.*, 2002).

All statistical analyses were conducted using IBM Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) version 24. The PROCESS macro for SPSS developed by Hayes (2013) was used to conduct simple mediation analyses (model 4) using 5000 bootstrap resamples.

Results

Sample characteristics

Descriptive statistics were computed for all study variables and are presented in Table B1 and B2. Of the 34 participants included in the study, 47% were female and 53% were male. The mean age of participants was 76.4 years (range 62-90). Eighty-two percent of the sample was retired and the mean age at retirement (n=27) was 62.7 years (range 45-77). The majority of the sample were married (67.6%), with smaller numbers widowed (20.6%), single (8.8%) or divorced (2.9%). The average number of years in education across the sample was 14.3 years (*SD*=3.7).

Time since onset of cognitive problems was varied across the sample: 11.8% reported onset within the last year; 38.3% within the last one to three years, 32.3% within the last three to five years; and 17.6% reported onset of problems more than five years ago. The mean MoCA score was 21.9, which is in line with normative data from a comparable population (Nasreddine *et al.*, 2005). All participants were diagnosed with MCI in the past three to nine months (M=5.3, SD=2.2).

Distress and quality of life

Participants scored, on average, slightly higher for anxiety (M=1.8, range 0-5) than depression (M=1.1, range 0-5). Across the sample, 21% were experiencing clinical levels of anxiety and 12% were experiencing clinical levels of depression. Participant scores on the CFQ (M=18.8) suggest that the overall sample was relatively defused from thought content, however there was variability across the sample with scores ranging from 7 to 40, with higher scores indicating greater fusion. The mean QoL score (39 out of 52) indicates that overall, the sample perceived their QoL to be 'good' or 'excellent',

however individual scores ranged more widely from 24 to 50, indicative of greater variability in life satisfaction across the sample.

Characteristic	Mean (<i>SD</i>)
Age	76.4 (7.8)
Education (years)	14.3 (3.7)
MoCA score	21.9 (3.1)
Months since MCI diagnosis	5.3 (2.1)
Age at retirement (n=28)	62.7 (6.5)
	N (%)
Female	16 (47)
Retired	28 (82)
Marital status	
Married	23 (67.6)
Divorced	1 (2.9)
Single	3 (8.8)
Widowed	7 (20.6)
Onset of cognitive problems (years)	
<1	4 (11.8)
1 - 3	13 (38.8)
3 - 5	11 (32.3)
5+	6 (17.6)

Table B1: Descriptive statistics for the study sample

Note: MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment (Nasreddine *et al.,* 2005) SD= standard deviation

	Current s	ample ((n=34)		Comparative data	
	Max possible score	Min	Max	Mean (SD)	N	Mean (<i>SD</i>)
Independent						
MoCA	30	18	29	21.9 (3.1)	94	22 (6.1) ^a
IPQ-MCI*						
Identity	27	1.0	18	7.0 (4.3)	63	7.0 (4.3) ^b
Chronic timeline	5	2.2	5.0	4.2 (0.8)	63	3.8 (0.7) ^b
Consequences	5	1.7	4.6	3.1 (0.7)	63	3.2 (0.7) ^b
Personal control	5	1.0	4.2	3.1 (0.8)	63	2.6 (0.7) ^b
Treatment control	5	1.2	3.8	3.0 (0.5)	63	2.7 (0.6) ^b
Coherence	5	1.0	4.6	2.9 (1.0)	63	2.8 (0.9) ^b
Cyclic	5	1.0	4.3	2.4 (0.9)	63	2.8 (0.7) ^b
Emotional represenations	5	1.0	4.4	2.5 (0.9)	63	2.8 (0.7) ^b
Mediator						
CFQ	49	7	40	18.8 (9.8)	191	19.9 (9.6) ^c
Outcome						
GDS-5	5	0	5	1.1 (1.2)	30	1.6 (1.4) ^d
GAI-SF	5	0	5	1.8 (1.6)	22	1.1 (2.3) ^e
QoL-AD	52	24	50	39.3 (6.4)	50	32.1(6.9) ^f

Table B2: Descriptive statistics for independent, mediator and outcome variables with comparative normative data

Note: SD= standard deviation. *IPQ-MCI scores are adjusted mean scores (sum of scale items divided by number of items). ^aFrom Nasreddine *et al.* (2005) MCI sample; ^bFrom Lin *et al.* (2012) MCI sample. ^cFrom Graham *et al.* (2016) adults with long-term conditions sample. ^dFrom Lin *et al.* (2011) MCI sample. ^eFrom Byrne & Pachana (2011) older adult sample. ^fFrom Bárrios *et al.* (2013) MCI sample.

Cognitive appraisals of mild cognitive impairment (MCI)

The mean number of subjective symptoms reported across the sample was 12, and an average of 7 were attributed to MCI. Participants were more likely to endorse cognitive (e.g. memory and language deficits) rather than somatic symptoms (e.g. cardiovascular or sensory issues). Higher mean scores on the chronic timeline (M=4.2, SD=0.8) and consequences (M=3.1, SD=0.7) subscales, indicate more strongly held beliefs in the sample that MCI is a chronic condition with greater negative consequences. Lower mean scores on the cyclic subscale (M=2.4, SD=0.9), suggests that overall the sample did not perceived their symptoms to be cyclical in nature. Around 51% of the sample reported increased distress associated with MCI.

In terms of controllability, higher mean scores suggest the overall sample had more positive beliefs about treatments for MCI (M=3.0, SD=0.5) and perceived themselves to have greater personal control (M=3.1, SD=0.8) over managing their symptoms. On average, participant understanding of MCI was varied with scores ranging from 1 (limited understanding) to 4.9 (high understanding) out of 5.

Correlation analyses

Pearson's correlations were conducted to explore the relationships between predictor (illness perceptions and cognitive impairment), mediator (cognitive fusion) and outcome variables (depression, anxiety and QoL). Correlation coefficients for study variables are provided in Table B3. The results show a range of moderate correlations, in expected directions between objective cognitive impairment and the following three variables: chronic timeline (*r*=-.38, p<0.05); personal control (*r*=.39, p<0.05); and emotional representations (*r*=-.35, p<0.05). Contrary to hypothesis (1), there was no significant relationship found between objective cognitive impairment and depression, anxiety or QoL.

In line with hypothesis (1), moderate to strong correlations, in expected directions were found between several types of illness perceptions and psychosocial variables. Increased depression was significantly associated with a higher number of self-reported MCI symptoms (r=.41, p<0.05) and increased perceptions of MCI as a cyclic condition (r=.48, p<0.01). Increased anxiety was significantly associated with more negative emotional representations of MCI (r=.52, p<0.01). Reduced QoL was significantly associated with a higher number of self-reported MCI symptoms (r=.50, p<0.01) and increased negative appraisals regarding the consequences (r=.53, p<0.01) and cyclic nature of MCI (r=.37, p<0.05). Greater fusion with cognitions was significantly associated with increased depression (r=.36, p<0.05) and anxiety (r=.67, p<0.01), and reduced QoL (r=-.48, p<0.01), in addition to a higher number of self-reported MCI symptoms (r=.41, p<0.05), more negative emotional representations of MCI (r=.56, p<0.01) and negative appraisals regarding the consequences (r=.35, p<0.05).

Table B3: Correlation matrix between independent, mediator and outcome variables

			-	x										
		1	2	3	4	5	9	7	8	6	10	11	12	13
,	MoCA	~	10	.24	15	.20	.14	38*	60 [.]	.39*	25	.07	.24	.35*
5.	. GDS-5			.35	51**	.36*	.41*	23	.32	26	.10	.48**	18	.13
С	. GAI-SF			~	32	.67**	.20	18	.33	.29	38	21	.03	.52**
4	. QoL-AD					48**	50**	.31	53**	.29	.03	37*	.30	.11
5.	CFQ					-	.41* *	29	.59**	.12	16	.35*	17	.56**
9.	. Identity						~	27	.69**	.18	 18	.50**	32	.26
7.	. Chronic timeline							~	46**	03	17	26	.10	27
ι δ	. Consequences								←	.13	04	.39*	32	.44**
6	. Personal control									~	41*	03	.15	.29
7	0. Treatment control										~	24	14	24
÷	1. Cyclic											~	35*	.28
17	2. Coherence												-	25
¥	3. Emotional representations													-
Note: *	 = Correlation is signific ** = Correlation is signific 	ant at the ant at the	e 0.05 leve	el (2-taile el (2-taile	(þ.									

88

Multivariate analyses: multiple regression

Simultaneous 'forced entry' linear regression was conducted to test the relative contribution of cognitive impairment and illness perceptions in predicting anxiety, depression and QoL. As suggested by Broadbent (2006), seven IPQ-MCI subscales were combined to derive an overall 'threat appraisal' variable, with higher scores denoting more negative appraisals of MCI as threatening. The overall threat appraisal variable was entered into the regression model as one, as opposed to seven predictors, in an attempt to conserve power. The composite variable comprised 67 items and the Cronbach's alpha indicated adequate internal consistency (.86) in the current sample. The variable was normally distributed and had a sample mean of 25.9 (SD=5.66, range=16-42). Results of the regression analyses are summarised in Table B4.

Table B4: Linear regression for prediction of depression, anxiety and quality of
life.

	GAI-SF: Anxiety			GDS-5: Depression			QoL-AD: Quality of life		
Variable	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β	В	SE B	β
Cognitive impairment	.03	.03	.21	09	.02	15	19	.31	09
Threat appraisal	.02	.02	.21	.03	.01	.48*	65	.17	58**
R^2	.09			.24			.35		
Adj. R ²	.04		.19				.31		
F	1.6			4.9			8.3		
P-value		p=.22		p=.01**			p=.001***		

Note:

* =significant at <0.05 level; **=significant at <0.01 level; ***=significant at <0.001 level

GAI-SF: Geriatric Anxiety Inventory - Short Form; GDS-5: Geriatric Depression Scale five item; QoL-AD: Quality of Life in Alzheimer's Disease.

Prediction of anxiety, depression and quality of life

The two predictors accounted for 24% of the variance in depression symptoms (Adj R^2 =.19) and the equation was significant ($F_{(2,31)}$ =4.9,p<0.01). In line with hypothesis (2), degree of cognitive impairment did not significantly predict depression, however threat appraisals did with a moderate to large effect (β =.48, p<0.05). The two predictors accounted for 35% of the variance in QoL (Adj R^2 =.31,p<0.01) and the equation was significant ($F_{(2,31)}$ =8.3, p<0.001). In line with hypothesis (2), degree of cognitive impairment did not significantly predict QoL, however threat appraisals did with a large effect (β =.58, p<0.01). The two predictors accounted for 9% of the variance in anxiety symptoms (Adj R^2 =.04) and the equation was non-significant ($F_{(2,31)}$ =1.6, p>0.05). Contrary to hypothesis (2), there was no significant individual effect of either predictor variable on anxiety.

Conditional process analyses

Linear regression analysis provided information regarding the relative strength of the two predictors on the three psychosocial outcome variables. In order to test more complex relationships between the variables, conditional process analysis was selected (Hayes, 2013). This method allows for detection of any indirect effects between the predictor and outcome variables, via a mediating variable. A theoretically informed simple mediation model was hypothesized *a-priori*, which proposed that threat appraisals would influence psychosocial variables (depression, anxiety and QoL) directly, and also indirectly via cognitive fusion. Secondly, it was hypothesized that degree of cognitive impairment would influence psychosocial variables (depression, anxiety and QoL) directly, and also indirectly via cognitive fusion. These theoretically derived models are illustrated in Figures B2-B4.



Figure B2: Conditional process analysis – anxiety models

Note: Numbers on the path indicate unstandardised β coefficients. BCI: bootstrapped confidence interval; LL: Lower limit; UL: Upper limit *=significant at <0.05 level; **=significant at <0.01 level; ***=significant at <0.001 level



Note: Numbers on the path indicate unstandardised β coefficients. BCI: bootstrapped confidence interval; LL: Lower limit; UL: Upper limit *=significant at <0.05 level; **=significant at <0.01 level; ***=significant at <0.001 level



Note: Numbers on the path indicate unstandardised β coefficients. BCI: bootstrapped confidence interval; LL: Lower limit; UL: Upper limit *=significant at <0.05 level; **=significant at <0.01 level; ***=significant at <0.001 level Figure B2 outlines the two overall models predicting anxiety. The overall threat appraisals model explained 46% of the variance in anxiety. Threat appraisals did not have a significant direct effect on anxiety, however they did have a significant indirect effect when mediated by cognitive fusion (β =.05, bootstrapped confidence interval (BCI)= .02, .09). As hypothesized, greater fusion with negative threat appraisals is associated with increased anxiety. The overall cognitive impairment model explained 46% of the variance in anxiety. Cognitive impairment did not have a direct effect on anxiety and was not indirectly mediated by cognitive fusion (β =.02, BCI=-.02, .06).

Figure B3 outlines the two overall models predicting depression. The overall threat appraisals model explained 25% of the variance in depression. Threat appraisals did not have a significant direct effect on depression, however they did have a significant indirect effect when mediated by cognitive fusion (β =.01, BCI=.01, .03). As hypothesized, greater fusion with threat appraisals is associated with increased depression. The overall cognitive impairment model explained 27% of the variance in depression. Cognitive impairment did not have a significant direct effect on depression and was not indirectly mediated by cognitive fusion (β =.014, BCI=-.008, .044).

Figure B4 outlines the two overall models predicting QoL. The overall threat appraisals model explained 39% of the variance in QoL. Threat appraisals had a significant direct effect on QoL (β =-.52, BCI=-.900, -.149), but no significant indirect effect on QoL via cognitive fusion. The overall cognitive impairment model explained 23% of the variance in QoL. Cognitive impairment did not have a significant direct effect on QoL and was not indirectly mediated by cognitive fusion (β =-.20, BCI=-.651, .127).

Discussion

The purpose of the current study was to investigate the inter-relationships between cognitive impairment, illness perceptions, cognitive fusion, distress and QoL amongst individuals diagnosed with MCI in the past three to nine months. The study extended findings from previous research (Lin & Heidrich, 2012; Stevenson *et al.*, 2014), by providing additional support for Leventhal's CSM in psychosocial adjustment patterns to MCI. Furthermore, the study provides evidence to suggest that cognitive fusion, a construct central to ACT, may contribute to adjustment processes in this population.

Illness perceptions and adjustment to MCI

In line with Leventhal's CSM, results show significant associations, in expected directions, between several types of illness perceptions and psychosocial adjustment outcomes. A higher number of self-reported MCI symptoms was associated with increased distress and lower QoL. Furthermore, increased negative beliefs regarding the consequences, cyclic nature and emotional impact of MCI was significantly associated with increased distress or poorer QoL in this sample. These results are consistent with previous research demonstrating associations using the Illness Perception Questionnaire (Evans & Norman, 2009; Ferenbach *et al.*, 2011; Kaptein *et al.*, 2006), and correspond with findings from previous studies with MCI patients (Stevenson *et al.*, 2014; Lin & Heidrich, 2012).

Four types of illness perception, namely chronic timeline, control (personal and treatment) and coherence, were not associated with distress or QoL in this sample. This pattern of results is consistent with research investigating illness perceptions in populations with cognitive impairment (Lin *et al.*, 2012; Lingler, *et al.*, 2016; Hurt *et al.*, 2011; 2014). This pattern may reflect the unique nature of adjustment to neurological conditions. Nevertheless, it is important to attempt an explanation for this pattern of results in the current sample. Although the majority of the sample considered MCI to be a chronic condition, this was not associated with poorer psychosocial adjustment. This could be explained by research, which

suggests that older adults regard cognitive impairment to be a natural part of the ageing process (Clare, Goater & Woods, 2009). Although, the current sample had slightly more positive perceptions regarding personal and treatment control compared to Lin et al. (2012) this was not significantly associated with reduce distress or improved QoL. This result could be related to the structure of the IPQ-MCI, were participants can provide a mid-point, neutral answer ('neither agree nor disagree'). Previous research indicates that participants are more likely to select these questionnaire options when they lack knowledge on the subject matter (Baka, Figgou & Triga, 2012; Nadler, Weston & Voyles, 2015). Lack of knowledge regarding treatments for MCI and ambiguity surrounding etiology and prognostic trajectory may therefore have resulted in neutral rather positive or negative perceptions for these items (Fang et al., 2017; Gomersall et al., 2015; Karakaya et al., 2013). Moreover, executive functioning difficulties observed in MCI patients may result in compromised decision-making capabilities, potentially leading to a higher number of mid-point neutral responses. Although the IPQ-MCI was selected for use in the current study due to its specificity for people with MCI, it may increase central tendency bias. Accordingly, future studies may wish to consider the suitability of the IPQ-MCI, in its current form, for use with this population. Nevertheless, it should be acknowledged that the current study was only powered to detect large effects for correlation analyses. It could therefore be the case that small to moderate effects were present, but went undetected.

Cognitive impairment and adjustment to MCI

Contrary to previous research in populations with cognitive impairment (Biringer *et al.,* 2005; Spitz, Schönberger & Ponsford, 2013; Stillman, Rowe, Arndt & Moser 2012), there was no significant association in the current sample between severity of memory and thinking problems (as measured by the MoCA) and distress. While this was unexpected, other research in populations with neurological conditions (Ferenbach *et al.,* 2011; Spain *et al.,* 2007) have also found no significant impact of disease severity on emotional adjustment outcomes. These results may be explained by the limited scope of the MoCA, as

a short cognitive screening tool, to accurately measure participant cognitive functioning. Nevertheless, the MoCA does demonstrate high sensitivity in an MCI population (Freitas *et al.,* 2014) and all participants had been formally diagnosed with MCI following a comprehensive clinical assessment with a trained health professional.

Interestingly, a higher number of self-reported MCI symptoms was significantly associated with poorer QoL. This suggests that subjective, rather than objective MCI symptoms have more bearing on life satisfaction following diagnosis. This pattern of results is consistent with findings from Lin and Heidrich (2012), and Stevenson *et al.* (2014).

Illness perceptions versus cognitive impairment

Our results suggest that appraisals of MCI explain significantly greater variance in depression and QoL than objective cognitive impairment. This is consistent with research in other health populations (Groarke *et al.*, 2004; Severeijins *et al.*, 2001; Spain *et al.*, 2007). The results therefore suggest that patient beliefs about MCI have greater bearing on mood and life satisfaction following diagnosis, than the severity of their memory and thinking problems. Contrary to our hypothesis, neither cognitive impairment nor threat appraisals significantly predicted anxiety. This finding was unexpected, but supported our hypotheses that an additional variable (i.e. cognitive fusion) may have a mediating role in determining adjustment outcomes in this population.

The role of cognitive fusion

Consistent with previous research in older adults (Thomson, Morris, Quigley and Gillanders, 2015) and people with cancer and multiple sclerosis (Gillanders *et al.,* 2014; 2015), moderate to strong associations were found between cognitive fusion (CFQ) and psychosocial variables (anxiety, depression and QoL) in the current sample.

The results from conditional process analyses, were consistent with the ACT model, and indicated that cognitive fusion significantly mediated the relationship between threat appraisals and anxiety. In other words, the results suggest that having more threatening appraisals of MCI, combined with increased levels of cognitive fusion, predicts anxiety. This model was also found to be significant in predicting depression. Therefore, the results indicate that threatening appraisals of MCI, together with higher levels of cognitive fusion, predicts depression in this population. Cognitive fusion was not found to significantly mediate the relationship between threatening appraisals of MCI and QoL. Although this result was contrary to hypotheses, it was consistent with findings from a study investigating the role of cognitive fusion in adjustment to cancer (Gillanders *et al.,* 2015).

Theoretical implications

The current study tests a model of adjustment, utilising constructs from two distinct theoretical models (ACT and the CSM). Interestingly, our results provide initial support for the existence of inter-relationships between ACT and CSM processes, namely illness perceptions and cognitive fusion. Our results further add to the evidence-base of studies finding significant relationships between CSM and ACT constructs in people with multiple sclerosis (Ferenbach et al., 2011), cancer (Gillanders et al., 2015) and long term conditions (Graham et al., 2016). The combination of these theoretical models could guide the development and application of psychological interventions. A recently published review by Karekla, Karademas and Gloster (2018) provides a theoretical rationale for the integration of CSM and ACT constructs to inform the development of interventions for patients with chronic illness. Future studies, specifically with an MCI population, may wish to investigate the relative influence of other CSM (e.g. coping) or ACT processes (e.g. acceptance or experiential avoidance) on adjustment outcomes. This may offer further information on the overlap between these theoretically distinct models.

Clinical implications

To the best of our knowledge, there are currently no best practice guidelines for clinicians in the UK regarding assessment and management of psychological problems in patients with MCI. This is surprising given the published research suggesting there is a higher prevalence of anxiety and depression in this population group (Ismail *et al.*, 2017; Mirza *et al.*, 2016). In the current sample, 21% of participants met clinical criteria for anxiety and 12% met clinical criteria for depression. Presumably, levels of distress were lower in the study sample due to exclusion of care home residents and participants with significant co-morbid physical or mental health issues. Nevertheless, undiagnosed, clinical levels of distress were still present.

Improving assessment procedures for early detection of psychological problems in older adults is necessary due to reduced help-seeking in this population, particularly amongst those with comorbid cognitive or physical health issues (Byres, Arean, Yaffe, 2012; Conner *et al.*, 2010). Our results suggest that health professionals could utilise the IPQ-MCI and the CFQ to identify MCI patients at increased risk of distress or reduced QoL following diagnosis.

Our results also raise some interesting questions about the potential for psychological interventions to improve adjustment outcomes in an MCI population. Threatening appraisals of MCI significantly predicted depression and QoL in the current sample. Cognitive modification treatments, such as CBT, may therefore hold potential to improve mood and life satisfaction in MCI patients by attempting to directly change maladaptive beliefs about the condition. In particular, the current study suggests that negative beliefs about the condition the consequences (e.g. 'MCI will progress to dementia') or cyclic nature (e.g. 'MCI is very unpredictable') of MCI should be targeted. There has only been one controlled study to date investigating the effectiveness of a CBT group intervention for MCI patients (Banningh *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, the study found significantly greater acceptance of MCI, as measured by the Illness

Cognition Questionnaire (ICQ; Evers *et al.*, 2001) following the CBT group when compared to the waiting list control group (p<0.034), but found no significant differences on measures of general wellbeing or distress (Banningh *et al.*, 2011).

Treatments, such like ACT, which directly target cognitive fusion may offer greater potential to reduce distress in patients adjusting to MCI. ACT may be more fitting for MCI patients, as it would aim to change the function rather than the form of threatening illness perceptions. This approach may be preferable to direct cognitive-change techniques synonymous with CBT, as patient perceptions about their condition could be realistic (e.g. 'MCI strongly affects the way others see or treat me). Rather than attempting to directly modify perceptions, ACT would attempt to reduce the regulatory effect perceptions were having on patient behaviour (e.g. social avoidance). Further research will be necessary to evaluate the utility of ACT with MCI patients, however a recent systematic review suggests that ACT is an effective intervention for reducing distress in older adult populations (Ross, Whitfield, Gillanders & Guzmán, 2018).

Previous research indicates that receiving an MCI diagnosis can evoke a broad range of emotional responses in patients including worry, ambivalence or relief (Dean & Wilcock, 2012; Gomersall *et al.*, 2015; 2017; Meilak, Partridge, Willis & Dhesi, 2016). This is likely to reflect the prognostic uncertainty associated with an MCI diagnosis, whereby cognition may improve with time, remain static or progress to dementia. Our results further highlight the importance of patient interpretations of MCI on psychosocial adjustment outcomes. Correspondingly, it is important for health professionals to remain mindful of the language used to convey an MCI diagnosis.

In the current sample, there was large variability in understanding of MCI. Implementation of a post-diagnostic support (PDS) pathway for MCI patients, their family and/or carers could help increase knowledge and address any misperceptions about the condition. The impact of PDS warrants further investigation in this population, however it could serve as a potential avenue to enhance feelings of personal control via promotion of self-management information. Future studies may wish to explore the impact of a cognitivemodification based PDS intervention on psychosocial adjustment outcomes in MCI patients. Given our findings, the intervention could utilise the Representational Approach to Patient Education, which is an approach informed by the CSM and directly targets illness misperceptions through patient education (Donovan *et al.*, 2007). Scotland's National Dementia Strategy 2017-2012 (The Scottish Government, 2017) strongly advocates that PDS should be offered to patients following dementia diagnosis. Further research is warranted to determine whether PDS could hold utility for patients adjusting to MCI.

At present, our suggestions regarding interventions for adjustment difficulties in MCI are largely speculative and further investigation is warranted. Nevertheless, our study outlines some potential avenues for future research.

Strengths and limitations of the current study

A number of methodological limitations must be acknowledged. The study employs a cross-sectional design, which prohibits inference of causality. We cannot determine whether higher distress symptoms and poorer QoL have caused greater cognitive impairment and increased threat appraisals, or vice versa. A longitudinal design, where outcomes are measured prior to diagnosis and at several time-points post-diagnosis or following psychological intervention, would provide richer data regarding variations in adjustment patterns. Similarly, a limitation of conditional process analyses, is that it only allows for investigation of a linear model, whereby only one predictor, mediator and outcome variable is entered at a time. This is somewhat restrictive, as it does not allow for analyses of multiple interactions between variables. In order to conduct this type of more complex analysis, structural equation modeling would be necessary, however this requires a much larger sample size (n>200) (Kim, 2009). A clear limitation of the study is the low sample size and power. Although bootstrapping methods are robust in dealing with non-parametric data and low sample sizes, Fritz and MacKinnon (2007) suggest the conditional process analyses were only powered to detect large effects. Similarly, *a priori* power calculations suggest the correlation analyses were only powered to detect large effects. The regression analysis was significantly underpowered and accordingly, the results should be interpreted with a degree of caution. The sample size may not have been large enough to detect smaller effects and therefore the findings may be susceptible to type II error. Further, as multiple comparisons have been computed with a small sample this also increases the chance of type I error.

Several factors contributed to low recruitment. Firstly, clinicians referred fewer than expected MCI patients to the study. This may reflect published literature, which suggests that clinicians are less likely to discuss participation in clinical research with older adults, in particular those with cognitive impairment (McMurdo *et al.*, 2011). Several other factors may have prevented clinician referral including time pressures during memory clinic appointments, variation in diagnostic practices and lack of contact with patients in the three to nine months post diagnosis. There is no universally agreed guidance on follow-up appointments with MCI patients and therefore a large proportion of patients are discharged from memory clinic services directly following diagnosis.

Secondly, the opt-in recruitment method may have reduced overall participation in the study. Although this recruitment method was a condition of ethical approval, it may have placed greater demand on the cognitive capabilities of the sample. The memory and thinking difficulties synonymous with MCI may have compromised participants' ability to read, process and retain the study information, complete the 'opt-in' slip and remember to return it in the post. Furthermore, individuals with poorer adjustment, lower life satisfaction, and increased distress may have been less likely to opt-in. Previous literature has highlighted the challenges associated with recruiting older adults with late-life depression (Thompson, Heller & Rody, 1994) and anxiety (Wetherell & Gatz, 2001) into research studies. In order to maximise participation and increase sample representativeness, the sample were offered home visits and flexible appointment times. This did increase uptake amongst older adults with mobility issues (n=8) who completed the study at home.

Finally, participation was reduced as a result of the study eligibility criteria. A strict inclusion and exclusion criteria was employed to reduce the potential for confounding factors; however it led to a significant proportion of MCI patients being excluded following case-note review due to the presence of comorbid problems. It seems probable that the strict eligibility criteria also discouraged clinicians from more readily discussing participation in the study with MCI patients.

Demographic information regarding ethnicity or socioeconomic status was not collected and therefore it is difficult to provide information regarding the diversity of the sample. Accordingly, the results are less generalisable to the wider MCI population

The study has a number of strengths which should be acknowledged. Few studies have explored adjustment to MCI using quantitative methodology. This study has progressed research in this area by investigating theoretically driven, inter-relationships using more sophisticated statistical techniques (conditional process analyses). The study also recruited a clinical sample with a broad age range (62 – 90 years) and a formal MCI diagnosis. Another strength of the study is that it measured adjustment variables within a specific three to nine month time frame post diagnosis. This time period was chosen as the study aimed to investigate individuals living with MCI, as opposed to those initially reacting to the diagnosis. Furthermore, the nine month boundary and the inclusion of a cognitive assessment measure (MoCA) most likely minimized the inclusion of participants who had experienced remittance of cognitive problems or further cognitive decline.

Conclusion

The current study demonstrates additional support for the role of illness perceptions in psychosocial adjustment to MCI. Moreover, the study indicates that cognitive fusion, a construct central to ACT, may play an additional role in determining adjustment outcomes. The results need to be replicated in a larger sample, however the study provides promising evidence to suggest that ACT-based interventions, which cultivate defusion from cognitive content (e.g. illness perceptions), could have utility with individuals experiencing distress in relation to an MCI diagnosis. Furthermore, our findings suggest that illness perceptions could be modified, from within a theoretically consistent ACT-model, to improve QoL amongst patients adjusting to MCI.

References

- Apostolova, L. G., & Cummings, J. L. (2008). Neuropsychiatric manifestations in mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review of the literature. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, *25*(2), 115-126.
- Baka, A., Figgou, L., & Triga, V. (2012). 'Neither agree, nor disagree': a critical analysis of the middle answer category in Voting Advice
 Applications. *International Journal of Electronic Governance*, *5*(3-4), 244-263.
- Banningh, L. W. J. W., Prins, J. B., Vernooij-Dassen, M. J., Wijnen, H. H., Rikkert, M. G. O., & Kessels, R. P. (2011). Group therapy for patients with mild cognitive impairment and their significant others: results of a waiting-list controlled trial. *Gerontology*, *57*(5), 444-454.
- Barnett, V, & Lewis, T. (1994). *Outliers in statistical data (3rd ed.).* New York: Wiley.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, *51*, 1173-1182.
- Beard, R. L., & Neary, T. M. (2013). Making sense of nonsense: experiences of mild cognitive impairment. Sociology of Health & Illness, 35(1), 130-146.
- Biringer, E., Mykletun, A., Dahl, A. A., Smith, A. D., Engedal, K., Nygaard, H. A., & Lund, A. (2005). The association between depression, anxiety, and cognitive function in the elderly general population—the Hordaland Health Study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *20*(10), 989-997.

- Bond, F. W., Hayes, S. C., Baer, R. A., Carpenter, K. M., Guenole, N., Orcutt, H. K., ... & Zettle, R. D. (2011). Preliminary psychometric properties of the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire–II: A revised measure of psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance. *Behavior Therapy*, *42*(4), 676-688.
- Broadbent, E. (2006). The brief illness perception questionnaire scoring instructions. Retrieved on 10th March 2018 from http://www.uib.no/ipq/files/Brief-IPQ.doc
- Byers, A. L., Arean, P. A., & Yaffe, K. (2012). Low use of mental health services among older Americans with mood and anxiety disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, 63(1), 66-72.
- Byrne, G. J., & Pachana, N. A. (2011). Development and validation of a short form of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory – the GAI-SF. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(1), 125-131.
- Byrne, G. J., Pachana, N. A., Arnold, L., Chalk, J. B., & Appadurai, K. (2008). P2-239: Performance characteristics of the geriatric anxiety inventory in memory clinic attendees. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 4(4), T441-T442.
- Clare, L., Goater, T., & Woods, B. (2006). Illness representations in early-stage dementia: a preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21(8), 761-767.
- Conner, K. O., Copeland, V. C., Grote, N. K., Koeske, G., Rosen, D., Reynolds,
 C. F., & Brown, C. (2010). Mental health treatment seeking among older adults with depression: the impact of stigma and race. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *18*(6), 531-543.

- Dean, K., & Wilcock, G. (2012). Living with mild cognitive impairment: the patient's and carer's experience. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(6), 871-881.
- Dempster, M., Howell, D., & McCorry, N. K. (2015). Illness perceptions and coping in physical health conditions: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 79(6), 506-513.
- Dennison, L., Moss-Morris, R., & Chalder, T. (2009). A review of psychological correlates of adjustment in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(2), 141-153.
- Di Lulio, F., Palmer, K., Blundo, C., Casini, A. R., Gianni, W., Caltagirone, C., & Spalletta, G. (2010). Occurrence of neuropsychiatric symptoms and psychiatric disorders in mild Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment subtypes. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 22(4), 629-640.
- Donovan, H. S., Ward, S. E., Song, M. K., Heidrich, S. M., Gunnarsdottir, S., & Phillips, C. M. (2007). An update on the representational approach to patient education. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *39*(3), 259-265.
- Evans, D., & Norman, P. (2009). Illness representations, coping and psychological adjustment to Parkinson's disease. *Psychology and Health*, *24*(10), 1181-1196.
- Evers, A. W., Kraaimaat, F. W., van Lankveld, W., Jongen, P. J., Jacobs, J. W., & Bijlsma, J. W. (2001). Beyond unfavorable thinking: the illness cognition questionnaire for chronic diseases. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69(6), 1026.

- Fang, M. L., Coatta, K., Badger, M., Wu, S., Easton, M., Nygård, L., ... & Sixsmith, A. (2017). Informing understandings of mild cognitive impairment for older adults: Implications from a scoping review. *Journal* of Applied Gerontology, 36(7), 808-839.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behaviour Research Methods*, *41*, 1149-1160.
- Ferenbach, C., Gillanders, D., & Harper, A. (2011). The process of psychological adjustment to multiple sclerosis: comparing the roles of appraisals, acceptance and cognitive fusion. Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (4th ed.)*. London, UK: SAGE.
- Fitzpatrick-Lewis, D., Warren, R., Ali, M. U., Sherifali, D., & Raina, P. (2015). Treatment for mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *CMAJ Open*, *3*(4), E419.
- Foxwell, R., Morley, C., & Frizelle, D. (2013). Illness perceptions, mood and quality of life: a systematic review of coronary heart disease patients. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *75*(3), 211-222.
- Frank, L., Lloyd, A., Flynn, J. A., Kleinman, L., Matza, L. S., Margolis, M. K., ... & Bullock, R. (2006). Impact of cognitive impairment on mild dementia patients and mild cognitive impairment patients and their informants. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *18*(1), 151-162.
- Freitas, S., Simões, M. R., Alves, L., & Santana, I. (2013). Montreal cognitive assessment: validation study for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 27(1), 37-43.
- Fritz, M. S., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2007). Required sample size to detect the mediated effect. *Psychological Science*, 18(3), 233-239.
- Gallagher, D., Fischer, C. E., & Iaboni, A. (2017). Neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment: an update on prevalence, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *62*(3), 161-169.
- Geda, Y. E., Roberts, R. O., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Christianson, T. J., Pankratz, V. S., ... & Rocca, W. A. (2008). Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment and normal cognitive aging: population-based study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(10), 1193-1198.
- Ghasemi, A., & Zahediasl, S. (2012). Normality tests for statistical analysis: a guide for non-statisticians. *International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *10*(2), 486.
- Gillanders, D. T., Bolderston, H., Bond, F. W., Dempster, M., Flaxman, P. E., Campbell, L., ... & Masley, S. (2014). The development and initial validation of the cognitive fusion questionnaire. *Behavior Therapy*, 45(1), 83-101.
- Gillanders, D. T., Sinclair, A. K., MacLean, M., & Jardine, K. (2015). Illness cognitions, cognitive fusion, avoidance and self-compassion as predictors of distress and quality of life in a heterogeneous sample of adults, after cancer. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *4*(4), 300-311.

- Gomersall, T., Astell, A., Nygård, L., Sixsmith, A., Mihailidis, A., & Hwang, A.
 (2015). Living with ambiguity: a metasynthesis of qualitative research on mild cognitive impairment. *The Gerontologist*, *55*(5), 892-912.
- Gomersall, T., Smith, S. K., Blewett, C., & Astell, A. (2017). 'It's definitely not Alzheimer's': Perceived benefits and drawbacks of a mild cognitive impairment diagnosis. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 22(4), 786-804.
- Graham, C. D., Gouick, J., Ferreira, N., & Gillanders, D. (2016). The influence of psychological flexibility on life satisfaction and mood in muscle disorders. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 61(2), 210.
- Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *26*(3), 499-510.
- Groarke, A., Curtis, R., Coughlan, R., & Gsel, A. (2004). The role of perceived and actual disease status in adjustment to rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*, *43*(9), 1142-1149.
- Hagger, M. S., Koch, S., Chatzisarantis, N. L., & Orbell, S. (2017). The common sense model of self-regulation: Meta-analysis and test of a process model. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(11), 1117.
- Hagger, M. S., & Orbell, S. (2003). A meta-analytic review of the common-sense model of illness representations. *Psychology and Health*, *18*(2), 141-184.
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). *Introduction to mediation, moderation and conditional process analysis. A regression-based approach*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). *Acceptance and Commitment Therapy*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (2012). *Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (2nd ed.)*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Hoyl, M., Alessi, C. A., Harker, J. O., Josephson, K. R., Pietruszka, F. M.,
 Koelfgen, M., ... & Rubenstein, L. Z. (1999). Development and testing of a five-item version of the Geriatric Depression Scale. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *47*(7), 873-878.
- Hudson, J. L., Bundy, C., Coventry, P. A., & Dickens, C. (2014). Exploring the relationship between cognitive illness representations and poor emotional health and their combined association with diabetes self-care: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 76(4), 265-274.
- Hurt, C. S., Burns, A., Brown, R. G., & Barrowclough, C. (2010). Perceptions of subjective memory complaint in older adults: the Illness Perception Questionnaire–Memory (IPQ-M). *International Psychogeriatrics*, 22(5), 750-760.
- Hurt, C. S., Burn, D. J., Hindle, J., Samuel, M., Wilson, K., & Brown, R. G. (2014).
 Thinking positively about chronic illness: An exploration of optimism,
 illness perceptions and well-being in patients with Parkinson's
 disease. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *19*(2), 363-379.
- Ismail, Z., Elbayoumi, H., Fischer, C. E., Hogan, D. B., Millikin, C. P., Schweizer, T., ... & Fiest, K. M. (2017). Prevalence of depression in patients with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Jama Psychiatry*, 74(1), 58-67.

- Johnco, C., Knight, A., Tadic, D., & Wuthrich, V. M. (2015). Psychometric properties of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory (GAI) and its short form (GAI-SF) in a clinical and non-clinical sample of older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 27(7), 1089-1097.
- Jopson, N. M., & Moss-Morris, R. (2003). The role of illness severity and illness representations in adjusting to multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 54(6), 503-511.
- Kaptein, A. A., Helder, D. I., Scharloo, M., Van Kempen, G. M., Weinman, J., Van Houwelingen, H. J., & Roos, R. A. (2006). Illness perceptions and coping explain well-being in patients with Huntington's disease. *Psychology and Health*, 21(4), 431-446.
- Karakaya, T., Fußer, F., Schroder, J., & Pantel, J. (2013). Pharmacological treatment of mild cognitive impairment as a prodromal syndrome of Alzheimer's disease. *Current Neuropharmacology*, *11*(1), 102-108.
- Karekla, M., Karademas, E. C., & Gloster, A. T. (2018). The Common Sense Model of Self-Regulation and Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: integrating strategies to guide interventions for chronic illness. *Health Psychology Review*, 1-14.
- Kim, K. H. (2009). The Relation Among Fit Indexes , Power , and Sample Size in Structural Equation Modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling*, *12*(3), 368– 390.
- Koepsell, T. D., & Monsell, S. E. (2012). Reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal or near-normal cognition Risk factors and prognosis. *Neurology*, 79(15), 1591-1598.

- Leventhal, H., Meyer, D., & Nerenz, D. (1980). The common-sense representation of illness danger. In S. Rachman (Ed.), *Contributions to Medical Psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 7–30). New York: Pergamon Press.
- Leventhal, H., Nerenz, D. R., & Steele, D. J. (1984). Illness representation and coping with health threats. In A. Baum, S. E. Taylor, & J. E. Singer (Eds.), *Handbook of Psychology and Health* (pp. 219-252). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Li, X. X., & Li, Z. (2018). The impact of anxiety on the progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia in Chinese and English data bases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 33(1), 131-140.
- Lin, F., & Heidrich, S. M. (2012). Role of older adult's illness schemata in coping with Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 72(5), 357-363.
- Lin, F., Gleason, C. E., & Heidrich, S. M. (2012). Illness representations in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, 5(3), 195-206.
- Lingler, J. H., Terhorst, L., Schulz, R., Gentry, A., & Lopez, O. (2015). Dyadic analysis of illness perceptions among persons with mild cognitive impairment and their family members. *The Gerontologist*, *56*(5), 886-895.
- Logsdon, R. G., Gibbons, L. E., McCurry, S. M., & Teri, L. (2002). Assessing quality of life in older adults with cognitive impairment. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *64*(3), 510-519.

- MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., Hoffman, J. M., West, S. G., & Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test mediation and other intervening variable effects. *Psychological Methods*, 7(1), 83.
- McCracken, L. M., & Vowles, K. E. (2014). Acceptance and commitment therapy and mindfulness for chronic pain: model, process and progress. *American Psychologist*, 69(2), 178-187.
- McMurdo, M. E., Roberts, H., Parker, S., Wyatt, N., May, H., Goodman, C., ... & Dickinson, E. (2011). Improving recruitment of older people to research through good practice. *Age and Ageing*, *40*(6), 659-665.
- Meilak, C., Partridge, J., Willis, R., & Dhesi, J. (2016). Mild Cognitive Impairment: A qualitative exploration of older adults' understanding, concerns and expectations. *Annals of Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 4(1), 1-8.
- Mirza, S. S., Ikram, M. A., Bos, D., Mihaescu, R., Hofman, A., & Tiemeier, H. (2016). Mild cognitive impairment and risk of depression and anxiety: A population-based study. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 12(7), 130-139.
- Mitchell, A. J., & Shiri-Feshki, M. (2009). Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia – meta- analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 119, 252-265.
- Monastero, R., Mangialasche, F., Camarda, C., Ercolani, S., & Camarda, R. (2009). A systematic review of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *18*(1), 11-30.
- Moss-Morris, R., Weinman, J., Petrie, K., Horne, R., Cameron, L. & Buick, D. (2002). The revised Illness Perception Questionaire (IPQ-R). *Psychology and Health*, *17*(1), 1-16.

- Mourao, R. J., Mansur, G., Malloy-Diniz, L. F., Castro Costa, E., & Diniz, B. S. (2016). Depressive symptoms increase the risk of progression to dementia in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *31*(8), 905-911.
- Nadler, J. T., Weston, R., & Voyles, E. C. (2015). Stuck in the middle: the use and interpretation of mid-points in items on questionnaires. *The Journal* of general psychology, 142(2), 71-89.
- Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... & Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *53*(4), 695-699.
- O'Donovan, C. E., Painter, L., Lowe, B., Robinson, H., & Broadbent, E. (2016). The impact of illness perceptions and disease severity on quality of life in congenital heart disease. *Cardiology in the Young*, *26*(1), 100-109.
- Pachana, N. A., Byrne, G. J., Siddle, H., Koloski, N., Harley, E., & Arnold, E.
 (2007). Development and validation of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory.
 International Psychogeriatrics, 19(1), 103-114
- Palmer, K., Berger, A. K., Monastero, R., Winblad, B., Bäckman, L., & Fratiglioni,
 L. (2007). Predictors of progression from mild cognitive impairment to
 Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, *68*(19), 1596-1602.
- Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 256(3), 183-194.

- Petersen, R. C., Caracciolo, B., Brayne, C., Gauthier, S., Jelic, V., & Fratiglioni, L. (2014). Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 275(3), 214-228.
- Petersen, R. C., Smith, G. E., Waring, S. C., Ivnik, R. J., Tangalos, E. G., & Kokmen, E. (1999). Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. *Archives of Neurology*, *56*(3), 303-308.
- Reisberg, B., Ferris, S. H., de Leon, M. J., Franssen, E. S. E., Kluger, A., Mir, P., ... & Cohen, J. (1988). Stage-specific behavioral, cognitive, and in vivo changes in community residing subjects with age-associated memory impairment and primary degenerative dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Drug Development Research*, *15*(2-3), 101-114.
- Ross, K., Whitfield, D., Gillanders, D., & Guzmán, A. (2018). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy with older adults: a systematic review of psychological and physical health outcomes. Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.
- Sachdev, P. S., Lipnicki, D. M., Crawford, J., Reppermund, S., Kochan, N. A., Trollor, J. N., ... & Lux, O. (2013). Factors predicting reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal cognitive functioning: a population-based study. *PLoS One*, *8*(3), e59649.
- Safran, J. D., & Segal, Z. V. (1990). *Interpersonal process in cognitive therapy*. New York: Basic Books.
- Scott, W., Daly, A., Yu, L., & McCracken, L. M. (2017). Treatment of chronic pain for adults 65 and over: Analyses of outcomes and changes in psychological flexibility following interdisciplinary acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). *Pain Medicine*, *18*(2), 252-264.

- Severeijins, R., Vlaeyen, J. W., van den Hout, M. A., & Weber, W. E. (2001). Pain catastrophizing predicts pain intensity, disability, and psychological distress independent of the level of physical impairment. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *17*(2), 165-172.
- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. In S. Leinhart (Ed.), *Sociological Methodology* (pp. 290-312). San Francisco, USA: Jossey-Bass
- Solé, E., Tomé-Pires, C., De La Vega, R., Racine, M., Castarlenas, E., Jensen,
 M. P., & Miró, J. (2016). Cognitive fusion and pain experience in young
 people. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 32(7), 602-608.
- Solfrizzi, V., D'Introno, A., Colacicco, A. M., Capurso, C., Del Parigi, A., Caselli,
 R. J., ... & Panza, F. (2007). Incident occurrence of depressive symptoms among patients with mild cognitive impairment–the Italian longitudinal study on aging. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 24(1), 55-64.
- Spain, L. A., Tubridy, N., Kilpatrick, T. J., Adams, S. J., & Holmes, A. C. N. (2007). Illness perception and health-related quality of life in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, *116*(5), 293-299.
- Spitz, G., Schönberger, M., & Ponsford, J. (2013). The relations among cognitive impairment, coping style, and emotional adjustment following traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 28(2), 116-125.
- Stevenson, A., Gillanders, D., Ferreira, N., & Gilroy, D. (2014). Psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment: assessing the involvement of illness perceptions, cognitive impairment and psychological flexibility.
 Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.

- Stillman, A. N., Rowe, K. C., Arndt, S., & Moser, D. J. (2012). Anxious symptoms and cognitive function in non-demented older adults: An inverse relationship. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 27(8), 792-798.
- Tatsumi, H., Yamamoto, M., Nakaaki, S., Hadano, K., & Narumoto, J. (2011). Utility of the Quality of Life–Alzheimer's Disease Scale for mild cognitive impairment. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 65(5), 533-533.
- Teasdale, J. D., Moore, R. G., Hayhurst, H., Pope, M., Williams, S., & Segal, Z.
 V. (2002). Metacognitive awareness and prevention of relapse in depression: empirical evidence. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *70*(2), 275.
- The Scottish Government. (2017). *Scotland's National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020.* Edinburgh: The Scottish Government.
- Thompson, M. G., Heller, K., & Rody, C. A. (1994). Recruitment challenges in studying late-life depression: Do community samples adequately represent depressed older adults?. *Psychology and Aging*, 9(1), 121.
- Thomson, V., Morris, P., Quigley, A., & Gillanders, G. (2015). Psychological flexibility in an ageing population: Exploring the impact of age on psychological flexibility, the use of selection, optimisation and compensation strategies, and their relationship with psychopathology. Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.
- Valvano, A., Floyd, R. M., Penwell-Waines, L., Stepleman, L., Lewis, K., & House, A. (2016). The relationship between cognitive fusion, stigma, and well-being in people with multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *5*(4), 266-270.

- Wetherell, J. L., & Gatz, M. (2001). Recruiting anxious older adults for a psychotherapy outcome study. *Journal of Clinical Geropsychology*, 7(1), 29-38.
- Whitehouse, P. J. (2007). Mild cognitive impairment a confused concept? *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *3*, 62-63.
- Wilson, K. G., Sandoz, E. K., Kitchens, J., & Roberts, M. (2010). The Valued Living Questionnaire: Defining and measuring valued action within a behavioral framework. *The Psychological Record*, 60(2), 249-272.
- World Health Organisation. (1992). *The ICD-10 classification of mental behaviours and disorders: clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines (10th Ed)*. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- Yesavage, J. A., & Sheikh, J. I. (1986). 9/Geriatric depression scale (GDS) recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *5*(1-2), 165-173.

THESIS PORTFOLIO REFERENCES

Age UK. (2018). Later life in the UK. London: Age UK.

Alexopoulos, G. S., Abrams, R. C., Young, R. C., & Shamoian, C. A. (1988). Cornell scale for depression in dementia. *Biological Psychiatry*, 23(3), 271-284.

Alonso, M. A., López, A., Losada, A., & González, J. L. (2013). Acceptance and commitment therapy and selective optimization with compensation for older people with chronic pain: A pilot study. *Psicologia Conductual*, *21*(1), 59.

Alonso-Fernández, M., López-López, A., Losada, A., González, J. L., & Wetherell, J. L. (2016). Acceptance and commitment therapy and selective optimization with compensation for institutionalized older people with chronic pain. *Pain Medicine*, *17*(2), 264-277.

Altman, D. G. (1991). *Practical statistics for medical research*. London: Chapman and Hall.

Anderson, D. (2011). Age discrimination in mental health services needs to be understood. *The Psychiatrist*, *35*(1), 1-4.

Apostolova, L. G., & Cummings, J. L. (2008). Neuropsychiatric manifestations in mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review of the literature. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, *25*(2), 115-126.

A-Tjak, J. G., Davis, M. L., Morina, N., Powers, M. B., Smits, J. A., & Emmelkamp, P. M. (2015). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of acceptance and commitment therapy for clinically relevant mental and physical health problems. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *84*(1), 30-36. Bach, P. & Hayes, S. C. (2002). The use of acceptance and commitment therapy to prevent the rehospitalization of psychotic patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *70*(5), 1129-1139.

Bach, P., Hayes, S. C., & Gallop, R. (2012). Long term effects of brief acceptance and commitment therapy for psychosis. *Behavior Modification*, *36*, 165-181.

Backman, C. L., & Harris, S. R. (1999). Case studies, single-subject research, and N of 1 randomised trials: Comparisons and Contrasts. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 78(2), 170-176.

Baka, A., Figgou, L., & Triga, V. (2012). 'Neither agree, nor disagree': a critical analysis of the middle answer category in Voting Advice Applications. *International Journal of Electronic Governance*, *5*(3-4), 244-263.

Baltes, P. B., & Baltes, M. M. (1990). Psychological perspectives on successful aging: The model of selective optimization with compensation. *Successful aging: Perspectives from the Behavioral Sciences*, *1*(1), 1-34.

Banningh, L. W. J. W., Prins, J. B., Vernooij-Dassen, M. J., Wijnen, H. H., Rikkert, M. G. O., & Kessels, R. P. (2011). Group therapy for patients with mild cognitive impairment and their significant others: results of a waiting-list controlled trial. *Gerontology*, *57*(5), 444-454.

Barnett, K., Mercer, S. W., Norbury, M., Watt, G., Wyke, S., & Guthrie, B. (2012). Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. *The Lancet*, *380*(9836), 37-43.

Barnett, V, & Lewis, T. (1994). *Outliers in statistical data (3rd ed.).* New York: Wiley.

Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality & Social Psychology*, *51*, 1173-1182.

Beard, R. L., & Neary, T. M. (2013). Making sense of nonsense: experiences of mild cognitive impairment. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, *35*(1), 130-146.

Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. (1996). Beck depression inventory-II. San Antonio, 78(2), 490-8.

Beecham, J., Knapp, M. R. J., Fernández, J. L., Huxley, P., Mangalore, R.,McCrone, P., ... & Winter, B. (2008). *Age discrimination in mental health services*.PSSRU Discussion Paper 2536, Kent, UK: PSSRU.

Bergner, M., Bobbitt, R. A., Carter, W. B., & Gilson, B. S. (1981). The Sickness Impact Profile: development and final revision of a health status measure. *Medical care*, 787-805.

Biringer, E., Mykletun, A., Dahl, A. A., Smith, A. D., Engedal, K., Nygaard, H. A., & Lund, A. (2005). The association between depression, anxiety, and cognitive function in the elderly general population—the Hordaland Health Study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *20*(10), 989-997.

Bluett, E. J., Homan, K. J., Morrison, K. L., Levin, M. E., & Twohig, M. P. (2014). Acceptance and commitment therapy for anxiety and OCD spectrum disorders: An empirical review. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *28*(6), 612-624.

Bond, F. W., Hayes, S. C., Baer, R. A., Carpenter, K. M., Guenole, N., Orcutt, H. K., ... & Zettle, R. D. (2011). Preliminary psychometric properties of the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire–II: A revised measure of psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance. *Behavior Therapy*, *42*(4), 676-688.

Broadbent, E. (2006). The brief illness perception questionnaire scoring instructions. Retrieved on 10th March 2018 from <u>http://www.uib.no/ipq/files/Brief-IPQ.doc</u>

Brooks, J, O., & Hoblyn, J. C. (2007). Neurocognitive costs and benefits of psychotropic medications in older adults. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*. *20*, 199-214.

Broomfield, N. M., Laidlaw, K., Hickabottom, E., Murray, M. F., Pendrey, R., Whittick, J. E., & Gillespie, D. C. (2011). Post-stroke depression: the case for augmented, individually tailored cognitive behavioural therapy. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *18*(3), 202-217.

Butler, J., & Ciarrochi, J. (2007). Psychological acceptance and quality of life in the elderly. *Quality of Life Research*, *16*, 607-615.

Byers, A. L., Arean, P. A., & Yaffe, K. (2012). Low use of mental health services among older Americans with mood and anxiety disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, *63*(1), 66-72.

Byrne, G. J., & Pachana, N. A. (2011). Development and validation of a short form of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory – the GAI-SF. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 23(1), 125-131.

Byrne, G. J., Pachana, N. A., Arnold, L., Chalk, J. B., & Appadurai, K. (2008). P2-239: Performance characteristics of the geriatric anxiety inventory in memory clinic attendees. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, *4*(4), T441-T442.

Canuto, A., Weber, K., Baertschi, M., Andreas, S., Volkert, J., Dehoust, M. C., ... & Crawford, M. J. (2018). Anxiety disorders in old age: psychiatric comorbidities,

quality of life, and prevalence according to age, gender, and country. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *26*(2), 174-185.

Carstensen, L., Isaacowitz, D., & Charles, S. T. (1999). Taking time seriously: A theory of socioemotional selectivity. *American Psychologist*, *54*, 165-181.

Chaplin, R., Farquharson, L., Clapp, M., & Crawford, M. (2015). Comparison of access, outcomes and experiences of older adults and working age adults in psychological therapy. *International Journal of Psychiatry*, *2*, 178-184.

Charles, S. T., & Carstensen, L. L. (2014). Emotion regulation and aging. In J. J. Gross (Ed.) *Handbook of Emotion Regulation* (2nd Ed.), New York: Guilford Press.

Cherbuin, N., Kim, S., & Anstey, K. J. (2015). Dementia risk estimates associated with measures of depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ open*, *5*(12), e008853.

Clare, L., Goater, T., & Woods, B. (2006). Illness representations in early-stage dementia: a preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *21*(8), 761-767.

Cleeland, C. S., & Ryan, K. M. (1994). Pain assessment: global use of the Brief Pain Inventory. *Annals, Academy of Medicine, Singapore*.

Cole, M. G., & Dendukuri, N. (2003). Risk factors for depression among elderly community subjects: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(6), 1147-1156.

Coniasse-Brioude, D. (2016). Traitement d'une phobie de la chute chez une personne âgée. *Journal de Thérapie Comportementale et Cognitive*, 26(2), 70-78.

Conner, K. O., Copeland, V. C., Grote, N. K., Koeske, G., Rosen, D., Reynolds, C. F., & Brown, C. (2010). Mental health treatment seeking among older adults with depression: the impact of stigma and race. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *18*(6), 531-543.

Conwell, Y., Duberstein, P. R., & Caine, E. D. (2002). Risk factors for suicide in later life. *Biological Psychiatry*, *52*(3), 193-204.

Coventry, P. A., & Gellatly, J. L. (2008). Improving outcomes for COPD patients with mild-to-moderate anxiety and depression: A systematic review of cognitive behavioural therapy. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 13(3), 381-400.

Cuijpers, P., Andersson, G., Donker, T., & van Straten, A. (2011). Psychological treatment of depression: results of a series of meta-analyses. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, *65*(6), 354-364.

Cukrowicz, K. C., Ekblad, A. G., Cheavens, J. S. Rosenthal, M. Z., & Lynch, T. R. (2008). Coping and thought suppression as predictors of suicidal ideation in depressed older adults with personality disorders. *Aging & Mental Health*, *12*, 149-157.

Davison, T. E., Eppingstall, B., Runci, S., & O'Connor, D. W. (2017). A pilot trial of acceptance and commitment therapy for symptoms of depression and anxiety in older adults residing in long-term care facilities. *Aging & Mental Health*, *21*(7), 766-773.

Dean, K., & Wilcock, G. (2012). Living with mild cognitive impairment: the patient's and carer's experience. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *24*(6), 871-881.

Dempster, M., Howell, D., & McCorry, N. K. (2015). Illness perceptions and coping in physical health conditions: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *79*(6), 506-513.

Dennison, L., Moss-Morris, R., & Chalder, T. (2009). A review of psychological correlates of adjustment in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *29*(2), 141-153.

Di Lulio, F., Palmer, K., Blundo, C., Casini, A. R., Gianni, W., Caltagirone, C., & Spalletta, G. (2010). Occurrence of neuropsychiatric symptoms and psychiatric disorders in mild Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment subtypes. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *22*(4), 629-640.

Djernes, J. K. (2006). Prevalence and predictors of depression in populations of elderly: a review. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *113*(5), 372-387.

Dobkin, R. D., Menza, M., Allen, L. A., Gara, M. A., Mark, M. H., Tiu, J.,...& Friedman, J. (2011). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for depression in Parkinson's disease: a randomized, controlled trial. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *168*(10), 1066-1074.

Donovan, H. S., Ward, S. E., Song, M. K., Heidrich, S. M., Gunnarsdottir, S., & Phillips, C. M. (2007). An update on the representational approach to patient education. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *39*(3), 259-265.

Downs, S. H., & Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *52*, 377-384.

Evans, D., & Norman, P. (2009). Illness representations, coping and psychological adjustment to Parkinson's disease. *Psychology and Health*, *24*(10), 1181-1196.

Evers, A. W., Kraaimaat, F. W., van Lankveld, W., Jongen, P. J., Jacobs, J. W., & Bijlsma, J. W. (2001). Beyond unfavorable thinking: the illness cognition questionnaire for chronic diseases. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *69*(6), 1026.

Fang, M. L., Coatta, K., Badger, M., Wu, S., Easton, M., Nygård, L., ... & Sixsmith, A. (2017). Informing understandings of mild cognitive impairment for older adults: Implications from a scoping review. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, *36*(7), 808-839.

Farrar, J. T., Portenoy, R. K., Berlin, J. A., Kinman, J. L., & Strom, B. L. (2000). Defining the clinically important difference in pain outcome measures. *Pain*, *88*(3), 287-294.

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behaviour Research Methods*, *41*, 1149-1160.

Ferenbach, C., Gillanders, D., & Harper, A. (2011). *The process of psychological adjustment to multiple sclerosis: comparing the roles of appraisals, acceptance and cognitive fusion.* Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.

Ferssizidis, P., Adams, L. M., Kashdan, T. B., Plummer, C., Mishra, A., & Ciarrochi, J. (2010). Motivation for and commitment to social values: The roles of age and gender. *Motivation and Emotion*, *34*(4), 354-362.

Field, A. (2013). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (4th ed.)*. London, UK: SAGE.

Fitzpatrick-Lewis, D., Warren, R., Ali, M. U., Sherifali, D., & Raina, P. (2015). Treatment for mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *CMAJ Open*, *3*(4), E419. Foxwell, R., Morley, C., & Frizelle, D. (2013). Illness perceptions, mood and quality of life: a systematic review of coronary heart disease patients. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *75*(3), 211-222.

Frank, L., Lloyd, A., Flynn, J. A., Kleinman, L., Matza, L. S., Margolis, M. K., ... & Bullock, R. (2006). Impact of cognitive impairment on mild dementia patients and mild cognitive impairment patients and their informants. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *18*(1), 151-162.

Freitas, S., Simões, M. R., Alves, L., & Santana, I. (2013). Montreal cognitive assessment: validation study for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, *27*(1), 37-43.

Fritz, M. S., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2007). Required sample size to detect the mediated effect. *Psychological Science*, *18*(3), 233-239.

Gallagher, D., Fischer, C. E., & Iaboni, A. (2017). Neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment: an update on prevalence, mechanisms, and clinical significance. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *62*(3), 161-169.

Gaudiano, B. A., & Herbert, J. D. (2006). Acute treatment of inpatients with psychotic symptoms using acceptance and commitment therapy. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *44*, 415-437.

Geda, Y. E., Roberts, R. O., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Christianson, T. J., Pankratz, V. S., ... & Rocca, W. A. (2008). Prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment and normal cognitive aging: populationbased study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *65*(10), 1193-1198.

Geiger, P. J., Boggero, I. A., Brake, C. A., Caldera, C. A., Combs, H. L., Peters, J. R., & Baer, R. A. (2016). Mindfulness-based interventions for older adults: a

review of the effects on physical and emotional wellbeing. *Mindfulness*, 7(2), 296-307.

Ghasemi, A., & Zahediasl, S. (2012). Normality tests for statistical analysis: a guide for non-statisticians. *International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *10*(2), 486.

Gibbons, L. E., Teri, L., Logsdon, R., McCurry, S. M., Kukull, W., Bowen, J., ... & Larson, E. (2002). Anxiety symptoms as predictors of nursing home placement in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Clinical Geropsychology*, *8*(4), 335-342.

Gillanders, D. T., Bolderston, H., Bond, F. W., Dempster, M., Flaxman, P. E., Campbell, L., ... & Masley, S. (2014). The development and initial validation of the cognitive fusion questionnaire. *Behavior Therapy*, *45*(1), 83-101.

Gillanders, D., & Laidlaw, K. (2014). ACT and CBT in older age: Towards a wise synthesis. In N. Pachana & K. Laidlaw (Eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Clinical Geropsychology* (pp. 637-657), Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Gillanders, D. T., Sinclair, A. K., MacLean, M., & Jardine, K. (2015). Illness cognitions, cognitive fusion, avoidance and self-compassion as predictors of distress and quality of life in a heterogeneous sample of adults, after cancer. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *4*(4), 300-311.

Gomersall, T., Astell, A., Nygård, L., Sixsmith, A., Mihailidis, A., & Hwang, A. (2015). Living with ambiguity: a metasynthesis of qualitative research on mild cognitive impairment. *The Gerontologist*, *55*(5), 892-912.

Gomersall, T., Smith, S. K., Blewett, C., & Astell, A. (2017). 'It's definitely not Alzheimer's': Perceived benefits and drawbacks of a mild cognitive impairment diagnosis. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *22*(4), 786-804. Gould, R. L., Coulson, M. C., & Howard, R. J. (2012^a). Cognitive behavioural therapy for depression in older people: A meta-analysis and meta-regression of randomised controlled trials. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, *60*(10), 1817-1830.

Gould, R. L., Coulson, M. C., & Howard, R. J. (2012^b). Efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy for anxiety disorders in older people: A meta-analysis and meta-regression of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *60*(2), 218-229.

Gould, C. E., O'Hara, R., Goldstein, M. K., & Beaudreau, S. A. (2016). Multimorbidity is associated with anxiety in older adults in the Health and Retirement Study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *31*(10), 1105-1115.

Graham, C. D., Gouick, J., Ferreira, N., & Gillanders, D. (2016). The influence of psychological flexibility on life satisfaction and mood in muscle disorders. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *61*(2), 210.

Graham, C. D., Gouick, J., Krahé, C., & Gillanders, D. (2016). A systematic review of the use of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) in chronic disease and long-term conditions. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *46*, 46-58.

Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *26*(3), 499-510.

Groarke, A., Curtis, R., Coughlan, R., & Gsel, A. (2004). The role of perceived and actual disease status in adjustment to rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*, *43*(9), 1142-1149.

Gum, A. M., Arean, P. A., Hunkeler, E., Tang, L., Katon, W., Hitchcock, P., Steffens, D. C.,...Unützer, J. (2006). Depression treatment preferences in older primary care patients. *Gerontologist*, *46*, 14-22.

Gum, A. M., Iser, L., & Petkus, A. (2010). Behavioral health service utilization and preferences of older adults receiving home-based aging services. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *18*(6), 491-501.

Hacker, T., Stone, P., & MacBeth, A. (2016). Acceptance and commitment therapy–Do we know enough? Cumulative and sequential meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *190*, 551-565.

Hagger, M. S., Koch, S., Chatzisarantis, N. L., & Orbell, S. (2017). The common sense model of self-regulation: Meta-analysis and test of a process model. *Psychological Bulletin*, *143*(11), 1117.

Hagger, M. S., & Orbell, S. (2003). A meta-analytic review of the common-sense model of illness representations. *Psychology and Health*, *18*(2), 141-184.

Hayes, A. F. (2013). *Introduction to mediation, moderation and conditional process analysis. A regression-based approach*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

Hayes, S. C., Barnes-Holmes, D., & Roche, B. (Eds.). (2001). *Relational frame theory: A post-Skinnerian account of human language and cognition*. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.

Hayes, S. C., Luoma, J., Bond, F., Masuda, A., & Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: Model, processes, and outcomes. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *44*(1), 1-25. Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). *Acceptance and Commitment Therapy*. New York: Guilford Press.

Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (2012). *Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (2nd ed.)*. New York: Guilford Press.

Higgins, J. P. T. & Green, S. (2011). *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*. The Cochrane Collaboration. Version 5.1.0.2011. Retrieved 7th February 2018 from www.handbook-5-1.cochrane.org/

Hoyl, M., Alessi, C. A., Harker, J. O., Josephson, K. R., Pietruszka, F. M., Koelfgen, M., ... & Rubenstein, L. Z. (1999). Development and testing of a fiveitem version of the Geriatric Depression Scale. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *47*(7), 873-878.

Hudson, J. L., Bundy, C., Coventry, P. A., & Dickens, C. (2014). Exploring the relationship between cognitive illness representations and poor emotional health and their combined association with diabetes self-care: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *76*(4), 265-274.

Hughes, L. S., Clark, J., Colclough, J. A., Dale, E., & McMillan, D. (2017). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) for Chronic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *33*(6), 552-568.

Hurt, C. S., Burns, A., Brown, R. G., & Barrowclough, C. (2010). Perceptions of subjective memory complaint in older adults: the Illness Perception Questionnaire–Memory (IPQ-M). *International Psychogeriatrics*, *22*(5), 750-760.

Hurt, C. S., Burn, D. J., Hindle, J., Samuel, M., Wilson, K., & Brown, R. G. (2014). Thinking positively about chronic illness: An exploration of optimism, illness perceptions and well-being in patients with Parkinson's disease. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *19*(2), 363-379. Ismail, Z., Elbayoumi, H., Fischer, C. E., Hogan, D. B., Millikin, C. P., Schweizer, T., ... & Fiest, K. M. (2017). Prevalence of depression in patients with mild cognitive impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Jama Psychiatry*, *74*(1), 58-67.

Iverson, G. L., & Remick, R. (2004). Diagnostic accuracy of the British Columbia major depression inventory. *Psychological reports*, *95*(3_suppl), 1241-1247.

Johnco, C., Knight, A., Tadic, D., & Wuthrich, V. M. (2015). Psychometric properties of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory (GAI) and its short form (GAI-SF) in a clinical and non-clinical sample of older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *27*(7), 1089-1097.

Jopson, N. M., & Moss-Morris, R. (2003). The role of illness severity and illness representations in adjusting to multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *54*(6), 503-511.

Jourdain, R. L., & Dulin, P. L. (2009). "Giving It Space" A case study examining acceptance and commitment therapy for health anxiety in an older male previously exposed to nuclear testing. *Clinical Case Studies*, *8*(3), 210-225.

Kaptein, A. A., Helder, D. I., Scharloo, M., Van Kempen, G. M., Weinman, J., Van Houwelingen, H. J., & Roos, R. A. (2006). Illness perceptions and coping explain well-being in patients with Huntington's disease. *Psychology and Health*, *21*(4), 431-446.

Karakaya, T., Fußer, F., Schroder, J., & Pantel, J. (2013). Pharmacological treatment of mild cognitive impairment as a prodromal syndrome of Alzheimer's disease. *Current Neuropharmacology*, *11*(1), 102-108.

Karekla, M., Karademas, E. C., & Gloster, A. T. (2018). The Common Sense Model of Self-Regulation and Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: integrating strategies to guide interventions for chronic illness. *Health Psychology Review*, 1-14.

Karlin, B. E., Walser, R. D., Yesavage, J., Zhang, A., Trockel, M., & Taylor, C. B. (2013). Effectiveness of acceptance and commitment therapy for depression:
Comparison among older and younger veterans. *Aging & Mental Health*, *17*(5), 555-563.

Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E.
E. (2005). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *62*(6), 593-602.

Kim, K. H. (2009). The Relation Among Fit Indexes, Power, and Sample Size in Structural Equation Modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling*, *12*(3), 368–390.

Kishita, N., Takei, Y., & Stewart, I. (2017). A meta-analysis of third wave mindfulness-based cognitive behavioral therapies for older people. *International journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *32*(12), 1352-1361.

Kishita, N. & Laidlaw, K. (2017). Cognitive behaviour therapy for generalised anxiety disorder: Is CBT equally efficacious in adults of working age and older adults? *Clinical Psychology Review*, *52*, 124-136.

Koepsell, T. D., & Monsell, S. E. (2012). Reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal or near-normal cognition Risk factors and prognosis. *Neurology*, *79*(15), 1591-1598.

Laidlaw, K., Davidson, K., Toner, H., Jackson, G., Clark, S., Law, J.,...& Cross, S. (2008). A randomised controlled trial of cognitive behaviour therapy vs treatment

as usual in the treatment of mild to moderate late life depression. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 23(8), 843-850.

Laidlaw, K., & Kishita, N. (2015). Age-appropriate augmented cognitive behaviour therapy to enhance treatment outcome for late life depression and anxiety disorders. *Geropsych*, *28*, 57-66.

Law, J., Laidlaw, K., & Peck, D. (2010). Is depression viewed as an inevitable consequence of age? The "understandability phenomenon" in older people. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *33*(3), 194-209.

Leventhal, H., Meyer, D., & Nerenz, D. (1980). The common-sense representation of illness danger. In S. Rachman (Ed.), *Contributions to Medical Psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 7–30). New York: Pergamon Press.

Leventhal, H., Nerenz, D. R., & Steele, D. J. (1984). Illness representation and coping with health threats. In A. Baum, S. E. Taylor, & J. E. Singer (Eds.), *Handbook of Psychology and Health* (pp. 219-252). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Li, X. X., & Li, Z. (2018). The impact of anxiety on the progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia in Chinese and English data bases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *33*(1), 131-140.

Lin, F., & Heidrich, S. M. (2012). Role of older adult's illness schemata in coping with Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *72*(5), 357-363.

Lin, F., Gleason, C. E., & Heidrich, S. M. (2012). Illness representations in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Research in Gerontological Nursing*, *5*(3), 195-206.

Lingler, J. H., Terhorst, L., Schulz, R., Gentry, A., & Lopez, O. (2015). Dyadic analysis of illness perceptions among persons with mild cognitive impairment and their family members. *The Gerontologist*, *56*(5), 886-895.

Logsdon, R. G., Gibbons, L. E., McCurry, S. M., & Teri, L. (2002). Assessing quality of life in older adults with cognitive impairment. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *64*(3), 510-519.

Luanaigh, C. Ó., & Lawlor, B. A. (2008). Loneliness and the health of older people. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *23*(12), 1213-1221.

Lunde, L. H., & Nordhus, I. H. (2009). Combining acceptance and commitment therapy and cognitive behavioral therapy for the treatment of chronic pain in older adults. *Clinical Case Studies*, *8*(4), 296-308.

Lunde, L. H., Nordhus, I. H., & Pallesen, S. (2009). The effectiveness of cognitive and behavioural treatment of chronic pain in the elderly: a quantitative review. *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*, *16*(3), 254-262.

MacKinnon, D. P., Lockwood, C. M., Hoffman, J. M., West, S. G., & Sheets, V. (2002). A comparison of methods to test mediation and other intervening variable effects. *Psychological Methods*, *7*(1), 83.

Mahoney, C. T., Segal, D. L., & Coolidge, F. L. (2015). Anxiety sensitivity, experiential avoidance, and mindfulness among younger and older adults: Age differences in risk factors for anxiety symptoms. *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, *81*(4), 217-240.

Manolov, R., & Moeyaert, M. (2017). Recommendations for choosing single-case data analytical techniques. *Behavior Therapy*, *48*(1), 97-114.

Markota, M., Rummans, T. A., Bostwick, J. M., & Lapid, M. I. (2016). Benzodiazepine use in older adults: dangers, management, and alternative therapies. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *91*(11), 1632-1639.

McCracken, L. M., & Jones, R. (2012). Treatment for chronic pain for adults in the seventh and eighth decades of life: A preliminary study of acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). *Pain Medicine*, *13*(7), 861-867.

McCracken, L. M., & Vowles, K. E. (2014). Acceptance and commitment therapy and mindfulness for chronic pain: model, process and progress. *American Psychologist*, 69(2), 178-187.

McCracken, L. M., Vowles, K. E., & Eccleston, C. (2004). Acceptance of chronic pain: component analysis and a revised assessment method. *Pain*, *107*(1-2), 159-166.

McCracken, L. M., Zayfert, C., & Gross, R. T. (1992). The Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale: development and validation of a scale to measure fear of pain. *Pain*, *50*(1), 67-73.

McMurdo, M. E., Roberts, H., Parker, S., Wyatt, N., May, H., Goodman, C., ... & Dickinson, E. (2011). Improving recruitment of older people to research through good practice. *Age and Ageing*, *40*(6), 659-665.

Meilak, C., Partridge, J., Willis, R., & Dhesi, J. (2016). Mild Cognitive Impairment: A qualitative exploration of older adults' understanding, concerns and expectations. *Annals of Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *4*(1), 1-8.

Melzack, R. (1987). The short-form McGill pain questionnaire. *Pain*, *30*(2), 191-197. Mental Health Foundation. (2009). *All things being equal: Age equality in mental health care for older people in England.* London: Mental Health Foundation.

Mirza, S. S., Ikram, M. A., Bos, D., Mihaescu, R., Hofman, A., & Tiemeier, H. (2016). Mild cognitive impairment and risk of depression and anxiety: A population-based study. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, *12*(7), 130-139.

Mitchell, A. J., & Shiri-Feshki, M. (2009). Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia – meta- analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *119*, 252-265.

Moher, D., Shamseer, L., Clarke, M., Ghersi, D., Liberati, A., Petticrew, M.,...& Stewart, L. A. (2015). Preferred reporting items for systematic review and metaanalysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Systematic Reviews*, *4*(1), 1.

Monastero, R., Mangialasche, F., Camarda, C., Ercolani, S., & Camarda, R. (2009). A systematic review of neuropsychiatric symptoms in mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, *18*(1), 11-30.

Moss-Morris, R., Weinman, J., Petrie, K., Horne, R., Cameron, L. & Buick, D. (2002). The revised Illness Perception Questionaire (IPQ-R). *Psychology and Health*, *17*(1), 1-16.

Mourao, R. J., Mansur, G., Malloy-Diniz, L. F., Castro Costa, E., & Diniz, B. S. (2016). Depressive symptoms increase the risk of progression to dementia in subjects with mild cognitive impairment: systematic review and metaanalysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *31*(8), 905-911.

Nadler, J. T., Weston, R., & Voyles, E. C. (2015). Stuck in the middle: the use and interpretation of mid-points in items on questionnaires. *The Journal of General Psychology*, *142*(2), 71-89.

Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., ... & Chertkow, H. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *53*(4), 695-699.

O'Donovan, C. E., Painter, L., Lowe, B., Robinson, H., & Broadbent, E. (2016). The impact of illness perceptions and disease severity on quality of life in congenital heart disease. *Cardiology in the Young*, *26*(1), 100-109.

Office for National Statistics. (2017). *Overview of the UK population*. Retrieved 5th January 2018 from

www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/population

Pachana, N. A., Byrne, G. J., Siddle, H., Koloski, N., Harley, E., & Arnold, E. (2007). Development and validation of the Geriatric Anxiety Inventory. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 19(1), 103-114

Palmer, K., Berger, A. K., Monastero, R., Winblad, B., Bäckman, L., & Fratiglioni,L. (2007). Predictors of progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, *68*(19), 1596-1602.

Paukert, A. L., Calleo, J., Kraus-Schuman, C., Snow, L., Wilson, N., Petersen, N. J., ...& Stanley, M. A. (2010). Peaceful Mind: an open trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy for anxiety in persons with dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *22*(6), 1012-1021.

Petersen, R. C. (2004). Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, *256*(3), 183-194.

Petersen, R. C., Caracciolo, B., Brayne, C., Gauthier, S., Jelic, V., & Fratiglioni, L. (2014). Mild cognitive impairment: a concept in evolution. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 275(3), 214-228.

Petersen, R. C., Smith, G. E., Waring, S. C., Ivnik, R. J., Tangalos, E. G., & Kokmen, E. (1999). Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. *Archives of Neurology*, *56*(3), 303-308.

Petkus, A. J., Gum, A., & Wetherell, J. L. (2012). Thought suppression is associated with psychological distress in homebound older adults. *Depression and Anxiety*, 29(3), 219-225.

Petkus, A. J., & Wetherell, J. L. (2013). Acceptance and commitment therapy with older adults: Rationale and considerations. *Cognitive and Behavioural Practice*, *20*(1), 47-56.

Prince, M. J., Wimo, A., Guerchet, M. M., Ali, G. C., Wu, Y-T., & Prina, M. (2015) World Alzheimer's Report 2015 – The Global Impact of Dementia: An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends. London: Alzheimer's Disease International. Retrieved 10th March 2018 from https://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2015.pdf

Reisberg, B., Ferris, S. H., de Leon, M. J., Franssen, E. S. E., Kluger, A., Mir, P., ... & Cohen, J. (1988). Stage-specific behavioral, cognitive, and in vivo changes in community residing subjects with age-associated memory impairment and primary degenerative dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Drug Development Research*, *15*(2-3), 101-114.

Roberts, S. L., & Sedley, B. (2016). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy With Older Adults: Rationale and Case Study of an 89-Year-Old With Depression and Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Clinical Case Studies*, *15*(1), 53-67.

Rosenthal, M. Z., Cheavens, J. S., Compton, J. S., Thorp, S. R., & Lynch, T. R. (2005). Thought suppression and treatment outcome in late-life depression. *Aging & Mental Health*, *9*(1), 35-39.

Ross, K., Whitfield, D., Gillanders, D., & Guzmán, A. (2018). Acceptance and *Commitment Therapy with older adults: a systematic review of psychological and physical health outcomes.* Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.

Royal College of Psychiatrists. (2009). *Age discrimination in mental health services: making equality a reality*. (Position Statement PS2/2009). London: Royal College of Psychiatrists.

Ruiz, F. J. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy versus traditional cognitive behavioral therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis of current empirical evidence. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, 12(3), 333-357.

Ruiz Sánchez, L. J., Cangas Díaz, A. J., & Barbero Rubio, A. (2014). Intervención breve de Terapia de Aceptación y Compromiso (ACT) en ancianos institucionalizados con sintomatología depresiva. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, *14*(3), 445-458.

Sachdev, P. S., Lipnicki, D. M., Crawford, J., Reppermund, S., Kochan, N. A., Trollor, J. N., ... & Lux, O. (2013). Factors predicting reversion from mild cognitive impairment to normal cognitive functioning: a population-based study. *PLoS One*, *8*(3), e59649.

Safran, J. D., & Segal, Z. V. (1990). *Interpersonal process in cognitive therapy*. New York: Basic Books.

Scheibe, S., & Carstensen, L. L. (2010). Emotional aging: Recent findings and future trends. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *65B*(2), 135-144.

Scholey, K. A., & Woods, B. T. (2003). A series of brief cognitive therapy interventions with people experiencing both dementia and depression: a description of techniques and common themes. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, *10*(3), 175-185.

Scott, W., Daly, A., Yu, L., & McCracken, L. M. (2017). Treatment of chronic pain for adults 65 and over: Analyses of outcomes and changes in psychological flexibility following interdisciplinary acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT). *Pain Medicine*, *18*(2), 252-264.

Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). (n.d.). *Methodology checklist 1: Systematic reviews and meta-analyses.* Retrieved 23rd May 2017 from <u>http://www.sign.ac.uk/checklists-and-notes.html</u>

Serfaty, M. A., Haworth, D., Blanchard, M., Buszewicz, M., Murad, S., & King, M. (2009). Clinical effectiveness of individual cognitive behavioral therapy for depressed older people in primary care: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *66*(12), 1332-1340.

Severeijins, R., Vlaeyen, J. W., van den Hout, M. A., & Weber, W. E. (2001). Pain catastrophizing predicts pain intensity, disability, and psychological distress independent of the level of physical impairment. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *17*(2), 165-172.

Shenkin, S. D., Harrison, J. K., Wilkinson, T., Dodds, R. M., & Ioannidis, J. P. (2017). Systematic reviews: guidance relevant for studies of older people. *Age and Ageing*, *46*(5), 722-728.

Smith, J. D. (2012). Single-case experimental designs: A systematic review of published research and current standards. *Psychological Methods*, *17*(4), 510.

Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. In S. Leinhart (Ed.), *Sociological Methodology* (pp. 290-312). San Francisco, USA: Jossey-Bass

Solé, E., Tomé-Pires, C., De La Vega, R., Racine, M., Castarlenas, E., Jensen, M. P., & Miró, J. (2016). Cognitive fusion and pain experience in young people. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, *32*(7), 602-608.

Solfrizzi, V., D'Introno, A., Colacicco, A. M., Capurso, C., Del Parigi, A., Caselli, R. J., ... & Panza, F. (2007). Incident occurrence of depressive symptoms among patients with mild cognitive impairment–the Italian longitudinal study on aging. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, *24*(1), 55-64.

Spain, L. A., Tubridy, N., Kilpatrick, T. J., Adams, S. J., & Holmes, A. C. N. (2007). Illness perception and health-related quality of life in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, *116*(5), 293-299.

Spitz, G., Schönberger, M., & Ponsford, J. (2013). The relations among cognitive impairment, coping style, and emotional adjustment following traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, *28*(2), 116-125.

Stevenson, A., Gillanders, D., Ferreira, N., & Gilroy, D. (2014). *Psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment: assessing the involvement of illness perceptions, cognitive impairment and psychological flexibility.* Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.

Stillman, A. N., Rowe, K. C., Arndt, S., & Moser, D. J. (2012). Anxious symptoms and cognitive function in non-demented older adults: An inverse relationship. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *27*(8), 792-798. Tatsumi, H., Yamamoto, M., Nakaaki, S., Hadano, K., & Narumoto, J. (2011). Utility of the Quality of Life–Alzheimer's Disease Scale for mild cognitive impairment. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *65*(5), 533-533.

Teasdale, J. D., Moore, R. G., Hayhurst, H., Pope, M., Williams, S., & Segal, Z.V. (2002). Metacognitive awareness and prevention of relapse in depression:empirical evidence. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *70*(2), 275.

The Scottish Government. (2015). '*The Matrix': A guide to delivering evidence based psychological therapies in Scotland*. Edinburgh: National Education for Scotland (NES) and The Scottish Government.

The Scottish Government. (2017). *Scotland's National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020.* Edinburgh: The Scottish Government.

Thompson, M. G., Heller, K., & Rody, C. A. (1994). Recruitment challenges in studying late-life depression: Do community samples adequately represent depressed older adults?. *Psychology and Aging*, *9*(1), 121.

Thomson, V., Morris, P., Quigley, A., & Gillanders, G. (2015). *Psychological flexibility in an ageing population: Exploring the impact of age on psychological flexibility, the use of selection, optimisation and compensation strategies, and their relationship with psychopathology.* Doctoral thesis: University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.

Turvey, C. L., Conwell, Y., Jones, M. P., Phillips, C., Simonsick, E., Pearson, J.
L., & Wallace, R. (2002). Risk factors for late-life suicide: a prospective, community-based study. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *10*(4), 398-406.
Twohig, M. P., & Levin, M. E. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a treatment for anxiety and depression: A review. *The Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *40*(4), 751-770.

United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. (2015). *World Population Ageing 2015*. Retrieved 24th March 2017 from http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA2 http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/ageing/WPA2

Valvano, A., Floyd, R. M., Penwell-Waines, L., Stepleman, L., Lewis, K., & House, A. (2016). The relationship between cognitive fusion, stigma, and wellbeing in people with multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *5*(4), 266-270.

Veehof, M. M., Trompetter, H. R., Bohlmeijer, E. T., & Schreurs, K. M. G. (2016). Acceptance-and mindfulness-based interventions for the treatment of chronic pain: a meta-analytic review. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, *45*(1), 5-31.

Volkert, J., Schulz, H., Härter, M., Wlodarczyk, O., & Andreas, S. (2013). The prevalence of mental disorders in older people in Western countries–a metaanalysis. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *12*(1), 339-353.

Ware Jr, J. E., & Sherbourne, C. D. (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36): I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care*, 473-483.

Wetherell, J. L., Afari, N., Rutledge, T., Sorrell, J. T., Stoddard, J. A., Petkus, A. J.,...& Atkinson, J. H. (2011^b). A randomized, controlled trial of acceptance and commitment therapy and cognitive-behavioral therapy for chronic pain. *Pain*, *152*(9), 2098-2107.

Wetherell, J. L., & Gatz, M. (2001). Recruiting anxious older adults for a psychotherapy outcome study. *Journal of Clinical Geropsychology*, *7*(1), 29-38.

Wetherell, J. L., Liu, L., Patterson, T. L., Afari, N., Ayers, C. R., Thorp, S. R., ... & Petkus, A. J. (2011^a). Acceptance and commitment therapy for generalized anxiety disorder in older adults: A preliminary report. *Behavior Therapy*, *42*(1), 127-134.

Wetherell, J. L., Petkus, A. J., Alonso-Fernández, M., Bower, E. S., Steiner, A. R., & Afari, N. (2016). Age moderates response to acceptance and commitment therapy vs. cognitive behavioral therapy for chronic pain. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *31*(3), 302-308.

Whitehouse, P. J. (2007). Mild cognitive impairment – a confused concept? *Nature Reviews Neurology*, *3*, 62-63.

Wilson, K. G., Sandoz, E. K., Kitchens, J., & Roberts, M. (2010). The Valued Living Questionnaire: Defining and measuring valued action within a behavioral framework. *The Psychological Record*, *60*(2), 249-272.

World Health Organisation. (1992). *The ICD-10 classification of mental behaviours and disorders: clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines (10th Ed)*. Geneva: World Health Organisation.

World Health Organisation. (2015) Ageing and health: Fact sheet N°404. Retrieved 10th March 2018 from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs404/en/

Yesavage, J. A., Brink, T. L., Rose, T. L., Lum, O., Huang, V., Adey, M., & Leirer,
V. O. (1982). Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening
scale: a preliminary report. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, *17*(1), 37-49.

Yesavage, J. A., & Sheikh, J. I. (1986). 9/Geriatric depression scale (GDS) recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clinical Gerontologist*, *5*(1-2), 165-173.

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science author guidelines

- Appendix B: Quality assessment criteria
- Appendix C: Psychology and Aging author guidelines
- Appendix D: Ethical approval documentation
- Appendix E: Demographic questionnaire
- Appendix F: Participant information sheet
- Appendix G: Preliminary statistical analyses

Appendix A: Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science author guidelines



The Journal welcomes suggestions for Special Issues. Proposals for a themed Special Issue should be sent to the Editor-in-Chief, Emily Sandoz at emilysandoz@louisiana.edu, and should include suggested Executive, Advisory or Guest Editors, a proposed call-for-papers, 6-10 provisional authors and topics (specific titles or general areas), a proposed timeline for submission, peer-reviewing, revision and publication. All manuscripts in a special issue will be subject to the normal process of peer-review.

ABSTRACTING AND INDEXING

PsycINFO Google Scholar Scopus

EDITORIAL BOARD

Editor-in-Chief

Emily K. Sandoz, Dept. of Psychology, University of Louisiana at Lafayette, Lafayette, Louisiana, USA Associate Editors Kirsty L. Dalrymple, Brown Medical School & Memorial Hospital of Rhode Island, Pawtucket, Rhode Island, USA Evelyn R. Gould, McLean Hospital, Belmont, Massachusetts, USA Kim L. Gratz, University of Toledo, Toledo, Ohio, USA Karen Kate Kellum, University of Mississippi, Oxford, Mississippi, USA Michael E. Levin, Utah State University, Logan, Utah, USA Jason Lillis, Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island, USA Jessica A. Madrigal-Bauguss, New Mexico VA Health Care System, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA Daniel W. M. Maitland, Texas A&M University at Corpus Christi (TAMUCC), Corpus Christi, Texas, USA Staci Martin Peron, National Cancer Institute (NCI), Bethesda, Maryland, USA Akihiko Masuda, University of Hawaii at Mãnoa, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA Louise McHugh, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland Jean-Louis Monestès, Université Grenoble Alpes, Grenoble, France Graciela S. Rovner, ACT Institutet Sweden, Göteborg, Sweden Miles Thompson, University of the West of England, Bristol, UK Dennis Tirch, The Center for Compassion Focused Therapy (CFT), New York, New York, USA Matthew T. Tull, University of Toledo, Toledo, Ohio, USA Matthieu Villatte, Evidence-Based Practice Institute of Seattle, Seattle, Washington, USA Timothy M. Weil, Tandem Behavioral Health and Wellness, Tampa, Florida, USA Amie Zarling, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, USA Editorial Board Paul W. B. Atkins, Australian Catholic University, Strathfield, New South Wales, Australia Joseph R. Bardeen, Auburn University, Auburn, Alabama, USA Yvonne Barnes-Holmes, Universiteit Gent, Gent, Belgium Nicholas M. Berens, Fit Learning, New York, New York, USA Anthony Biglan, Oregon Research Institute, Eugene, Oregon, USA Jennifer Block-Lerner, Kean University, Union, New Jersey, USA Frank Bond, Goldsmiths, University of London, London, UK Micheal J. Bordieri, Murray State University, Murray, Kentucky, USA Charlotte Dack, University of Bath, Bath, UK Sabrina M. Darrow, University of California at San Francisco (UCSF), San Francisco, California, USA Laura J. Dixon, University of Mississippi, University, Mississippi, USA Mark R. Dixon, Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, Carbondale, Illinois, USA Chad E. Drake, Southern Illinois University at Carbondale, Carbondale, Illinois, USA Claudia Drossel, Eastern Michigan University, Ypsilanti, Michigan, USA Maureen K. Flynn, Metropolitan State University of Denver, Denver, Colorado, USA John P. Forsyth, University at Albany, SUNY, Albany, New York, USA Brandon A. Gaudiano, Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island, USA David Gillanders, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK Jennifer A. Gregg, San Jose State University, San Jose, California, USA Louise Hayes, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia Ian Hussey, Universiteit Gent, Gent, Belgium Adrienne Juarascio, Drexel University, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA Maria Karekla, University of Cyprus, Nicosia, Cyprus Andreas Larsson, Mid Sweden University, Östersund, Sweden Ciara McEnteggart, Universiteit Gent, Gent, Belgium AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018 2 www.elsevier.com/locate/icbs

Kate L. Morrison, Utah State University	ity, Logan, Utah, USA
Amy R. Murrell, University of North T	Fexas, Denton, Texas, USA
John O'Neill, Contextual Behavioral S	Science Institute, Mankato, Minnesota, USA
Holly K. Orcutt, Northern Illinois Univ	versity, Dekalb, Illinois, USA
Jennifer C. Plumb Vilardaga, Duke	University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina, USA
Ann D. Rost, Missouri State Universit	y, Springfield, Missouri, USA
Laura Silberstein-Tirch, The Center Matthew Smout, University of South	for Compassion Focused Therapy (CFT), New York, New York, USA Australia, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia
Jonathan Tarbox, FirstSteps for Kids	, Inc., Los Angeles, California, USA
Jennifer L. Villatte, University of Wa	shington, Seattle, Washington, USA
Kevin E. Vowles, University of New N	1exico, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA
Jennifer B. Webb, University of North	h Carolina at Charlotte, Charlotte, North Carolina, USA
Nicole H. Weiss, Yale University, New	v Haven, Connecticut, USA
Alvesa Wilson, Saint Louis University	utet, Stockholm, Sweden v St. Louis, Missouri, USA
Kelly G. Wilson, University of Mississ	ippi, University, Mississippi, USA
Robert D. Zettle, Wichita State Unive	ersity, Wichita, Kansas, USA
Michael J. Zvolensky, University of H	Houston, Houston, Texas, USA
Advisorv Board	
David H. Barlow, Boston University,	Boston, Massachusetts, USA
Dermot Barnes-Holmes, Universiteit	t Gent, Gent, Belgium
Jan de Houwer, Universiteit Gent, Ge	ent, Belgium
Steven C. Hayes, University of Nevad Bhilin N. Hingling, Tomple University	la, Reno, Nevada, USA 2 Philadolphia, Poppovilyapia, USA
Carmen Luciano, Universidad de Alm	pería Almería Spain
David Sloan Wilson, Binghamton Un	iversity, Binghamton, New York, USA
G. Terrance Wilson, Rutgers Univers	ity, New Brunswick, New Jersey, USA
Professional Officer	
Troy DuFrene California State Unive	rsity San Marcos, San Marcos, California, USA

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

Types of article

All manuscripts must clearly and explicitly be of relevance to CBS. You may find the JCBS article "Contextual Behavioral Science: creating a science more adequate to the challenge of the human condition" helpful in assessing whether your manuscript is likely to be of interest to readers of this journal.

Articles should fall into one of seven categories:

- 1. Empirical research (up to 6000 words)
- 2. Brief empirical reports (up to 3000 words)
- 3. Review articles (up to 10,000 words)
- 4. Conceptual articles (up to 6000 words)
- 5. In practice (up to 3000 words)
- 6. Practical innovations (up to 3000 words)
- 7. Professional interest briefs (up to 3000 words)

Word limits exclude references, tables and figures but include the abstract

1. Empirical research. JCBS welcomes manuscripts across a breadth of domains from basic behavioral science to clinical trials. Research concerning the measurement and testing of process of change is particularly welcome. Potential methodologies include but are not limited to: randomized controlled trials, single case experimental designs, cross-sectional and prospective cohort studies, mixed-methods designs, small scale analog studies. Papers reporting null findings are also welcome if their methodology is sound and their power sufficient. Authors of such papers will need to emphasize the implications of their findings for future research and practice.

2. Brief empirical reports. Manuscripts in this section may report preliminary, provocative or replicated results. Empirically sound methodology and adequate power remain important considerations.

3. Review articles. Manuscripts reviewing a wide range of topics are encouraged as long as their content is directly relevant to CBS. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses are particularly welcome. Authors are advised to consult relevant MARS (http://www.apa.org/pubs/authors/jars.pdf) and PRISMA resources (http://www.prisma-statement.org/) when preparing such manuscripts.

4. Conceptual articles. Manuscripts in this section should address conceptual or theoretical issues relevant to CBS. This may include papers that discuss relevant philosophical assumptions and traditions, or conceptual papers which explore aspects of or inconsistencies in contextual behavioral theory and science.

5. In practice. Manuscripts in this section are designed to make CBS useful to practitioners from a wide variety of areas. Manuscripts must be written in an accessible style and should be easily understood by practitioners who are not experts in research or basic behavioral science. Manuscripts should provide both clear insights for new practitioners as well as stating the questions that remain to be answered by future research.

6. Practical innovations. Manuscripts in this section seek to apply the findings and applications of CBS to under-studied, under-served or novel areas. The scope of these manuscripts is limited only by the journal's broad mission: creating a science more adequate to the challenge of the human condition.

7. Professional interest briefs. Manuscripts in this section highlight professional issues of relevance to those working in the field of CBS. Examples include manuscripts related to training and supervision, assessment methods in professional settings or opinions on contemporary issues.

The Journal welcomes suggestions for Special Issues. Proposals for a themed Special Issue should be sent to the Editor-in-Chief, Emily Sandoz at emilysandoz@louisiana.edu, and should include suggested Executive, Advisory or Guest Editors, a proposed call-for-papers, 6-10 provisional authors and topics (specific titles or general areas), a proposed timeline for submission, peer-reviewing, revision and publication. All manuscripts in a special issue will be subject to the normal process of peer-review.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Contact details for submission

To contact the Editor-in-Chief prior to your submission with any questions, please email emilysandoz@louisiana.edu

Submission checklist

You can use this list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review. Please check the relevant section in this Guide for Authors for more details.

Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

E-mail address

Full postal address

All necessary files have been uploaded:

Manuscript: Include keywords

- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes) Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Indicate clearly if color should be used for any figures in print

Graphical Abstracts / Highlights files (where applicable)

Supplemental files (where applicable)

Further considerations

· Manuscript has been 'spell checked' and 'grammar checked'

All references mentioned in the Reference List are cited in the text, and vice versa

· Permission has been obtained for use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

• A competing interests statement is provided, even if the authors have no competing interests to declare

Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed

· Referee suggestions and contact details provided, based on journal requirements

For further information, visit our Support Center.

BEFORE YOU BEGIN

Authors should prepare their manuscript for double-blind review, so that only the handling editors have access to author details. Authors must take special care to delete all potentially identifying information from any files that are not the Title Page with author details and the Cover Letter. Note: these two documents are submitted separately to the main manuscript. Any potential author identifying information including, but not limited to, name(s), affiliation(s), geographic location(s), identifying acknowledgments, author notes, or funding details, should be removed from all other files. For authors resubmitting revisions of manuscripts, please ensure that the "Response to reviewers" is also free from author identifying information. Manuscripts that are not appropriately blinded will be rejected without a full content review, although in many cases authors will be invited to re-submit manuscripts without author identifying information. This process will, however, delay review and manuscript processing times and should be avoided if at all possible.

Ethics in publishing

Please see our information pages on Ethics in publishing and Ethical guidelines for journal publication.

Human and animal rights

If the work involves the use of human subjects, the author should ensure that the work described has been carried out in accordance with The Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki) for experiments involving humans; Uniform Requirements for manuscripts submitted to Biomedical journals. Authors should include a statement in the manuscript that informed consent was obtained for experimentation with human subjects. The privacy rights of human subjects must always be observed.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

All animal experiments should comply with the ARRIVE guidelines and should be carried out in accordance with the U.K. Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act, 1986 and associated guidelines, EU Directive 2010/63/EU for animal experiments, or the National Institutes of Health guide for the care and use of Laboratory animals (NIH Publications No. 8023, revised 1978) and the authors should clearly indicate in the manuscript that such guidelines have been followed.

Declaration of interest

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential conflicts of interest include employment, consultancies, stock ownership, honoraria, paid expert testimony, patent applications/ registrations, and grants or other funding. Authors must disclose any interests in two places: 1. A summary declaration of interest statement in the title page file (if double-blind) or the manuscript file (if single-blind). If there are no interests to declare then please state this: 'Declarations of interest: none'. This summary statement will be ultimately published if the article is accepted. 2. Detailed disclosures as part of a separate Declaration of Interest form, which forms part of the journal's official records. It is important for potential interests to be declared in both places and that the information matches. More information.

Submission declaration and verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published previously (except in the form of an abstract, a published lecture or academic thesis, see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyright-holder. To verify originality, your article may be checked by the originality detection service Crossref Similarity Check.

Preprints

Please note that preprints can be shared anywhere at any time, in line with Elsevier's sharing policy. Sharing your preprints e.g. on a preprint server will not count as prior publication (see 'Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication' for more information).

Authorship

All authors should have made substantial contributions to all of the following: (1) the conception and design of the study, or acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data, (2) drafting the article or revising it critically for important intellectual content, (3) final approval of the version to be submitted.

Changes to authorship

Authors are expected to consider carefully the list and order of authors **before** submitting their manuscript and provide the definitive list of authors at the time of the original submission. Any addition, deletion or rearrangement of author names in the authorship list should be made only **before** the manuscript has been accepted and only if approved by the journal Editor. To request such a change, the Editor must receive the following from the **corresponding author**: (a) the reason for the change in author list and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed.

Only in exceptional circumstances will the Editor consider the addition, deletion or rearrangement of authors **after** the manuscript has been accepted. While the Editor considers the request, publication of the manuscript will be suspended. If the manuscript has already been published in an online issue, any requests approved by the Editor will result in a corrigendum.

Reporting clinical trials

Randomized controlled trials should be presented according to the CONSORT guidelines. At manuscript submission, authors must provide the CONSORT checklist accompanied by a flow diagram that illustrates the progress of patients through the trial, including recruitment, enrollment, randomization, withdrawal and completion, and a detailed description of the randomization procedure. The CONSORT checklist and template flow diagram are available online.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Article transfer service

This journal is part of our Article Transfer Service. This means that if the Editor feels your article is more suitable in one of our other participating journals, then you may be asked to consider transferring the article to one of those. If you agree, your article will be transferred automatically on your behalf with no need to reformat. Please note that your article will be reviewed again by the new journal. More information.

Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (see more information on this). An e-mail will be sent to the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution and for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. If excerpts from other copyrighted works are included, the author(s) must obtain written permission from the copyright owners and credit the source(s) in the article. Elsevier has preprinted forms for use by authors in these cases.

For gold open access articles: Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete an 'Exclusive License Agreement' (more information). Permitted third party reuse of gold open access articles is determined by the author's choice of user license.

Author rights

As an author you (or your employer or institution) have certain rights to reuse your work. More information.

Elsevier supports responsible sharing

Find out how you can share your research published in Elsevier journals.

Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement then this should be stated.

Funding body agreements and policies

Elsevier has established a number of agreements with funding bodies which allow authors to comply with their funder's open access policies. Some funding bodies will reimburse the author for the gold open access publication fee. Details of existing agreements are available online.

Open access

This journal offers authors a choice in publishing their research:

Subscription

• Articles are made available to subscribers as well as developing countries and patient groups through our universal access programs.

No open access publication fee payable by authors.

• The Author is entitled to post the accepted manuscript in their institution's repository and make this public after an embargo period (known as green Open Access). The published journal article cannot be shared publicly, for example on ResearchGate or Academia.edu, to ensure the sustainability of peer-reviewed research in journal publications. The embargo period for this journal can be found below. **Gold open access**

• Articles are freely available to both subscribers and the wider public with permitted reuse.

• A gold open access publication fee is payable by authors or on their behalf, e.g. by their research funder or institution.

Regardless of how you choose to publish your article, the journal will apply the same peer review criteria and acceptance standards.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

For gold open access articles, permitted third party (re)use is defined by the following Creative Commons user licenses:

Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY)

Lets others distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts, and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), include in a collective work (such as an anthology), text or data mine the article, even for commercial purposes, as long as they credit the author(s), do not represent the author as endorsing their adaptation of the article, and do not modify the article in such a way as to damage the author's honor or reputation.

Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND)

For non-commercial purposes, lets others distribute and copy the article, and to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), as long as they credit the author(s) and provided they do not alter or modify the article.

The gold open access publication fee for this journal is **USD 2000**, excluding taxes. Learn more about Elsevier's pricing policy: https://www.elsevier.com/openaccesspricing.

Green open access

Authors can share their research in a variety of different ways and Elsevier has a number of green open access options available. We recommend authors see our green open access page for further information. Authors can also self-archive their manuscripts immediately and enable public access from their institution's repository after an embargo period. This is the version that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and in editor-author communications. Embargo period: For subscription articles, an appropriate amount of time is needed for journals to deliver value to subscribing customers before an article becomes freely available to the public. This is the embargo period and it begins from the date the article is formally published online in its final and fully citable form. Find out more.

This journal has an embargo period of 24 months.

Language (usage and editing services)

Please write your text in good English (American or British usage is accepted, but not a mixture of these). Authors who feel their English language manuscript may require editing to eliminate possible grammatical or spelling errors and to conform to correct scientific English may wish to use the English Language Editing service available from Elsevier's WebShop.

Informed consent and patient details

Studies on patients or volunteers require ethics committee approval and informed consent, which should be documented in the paper. Appropriate consents, permissions and releases must be obtained where an author wishes to include case details or other personal information or images of patients and any other individuals in an Elsevier publication. Written consents must be retained by the author and copies of the consents or evidence that such consents have been obtained must be provided to Elsevier on request. For more information, please review the Elsevier Policy on the Use of Images or Personal Information of Patients or other Individuals. Unless you have written permission from the patient (or, where applicable, the next of kin), the personal details of any patient included in any supplementary materials (including all illustrations and videos) must be removed before submission.

Submission

Our online submission system guides you stepwise through the process of entering your article details and uploading your files. The system converts your article files to a single PDF file used in the peer-review process. Editable files (e.g., Word, LaTeX) are required to typeset your article for final publication. All correspondence, including notification of the Editor's decision and requests for revision, is sent by e-mail.

Referees

Please submit the names and institutional e-mail addresses of several potential referees. For more details, visit our <u>Support site</u>. Note that the editor retains the sole right to decide whether or not the suggested reviewers are used.

PREPARATION

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Peer review

This journal operates a double blind review process. All contributions will be initially assessed by the editor for suitability for the journal. Papers deemed suitable are then typically sent to a minimum of two independent expert reviewers to assess the scientific quality of the paper. The Editor is responsible for the final decision regarding acceptance or rejection of articles. The Editor's decision is final. More information on types of peer review.

Use of word processing software

It is important that the file be saved in the native format of the word processor used. The text should be in single-column format. Keep the layout of the text as simple as possible. Most formatting codes will be removed and replaced on processing the article. In particular, do not use the word processor's options to justify text or to hyphenate words. However, do use bold face, italics, subscripts, superscripts etc. When preparing tables, if you are using a table grid, use only one grid for each individual table and not a grid for each row. If no grid is used, use tabs, not spaces, to align columns. The electronic text should be prepared in a way very similar to that of conventional manuscripts (see also the Guide to Publishing with Elsevier). Note that source files of figures, tables and text graphics will be required whether or not you embed your figures in the text. See also the section on Electronic artwork.

To avoid unnecessary errors you are strongly advised to use the 'spell-check' and 'grammar-check' functions of your word processor.

Article structure

Subdivision - unnumbered sections

Divide your article into clearly defined sections. Each subsection is given a brief heading. Each heading should appear on its own separate line. Subsections should be used as much as possible when cross-referencing text: refer to the subsection by heading as opposed to simply 'the text'.

Introduction

State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background, avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.

Material and methods

Provide sufficient details to allow the work to be reproduced by an independent researcher. Methods that are already published should be summarized, and indicated by a reference. If quoting directly from a previously published method, use quotation marks and also cite the source. Any modifications to existing methods should also be described.

Theory/calculation

A Theory section should extend, not repeat, the background to the article already dealt with in the Introduction and lay the foundation for further work. In contrast, a Calculation section represents a practical development from a theoretical basis.

Results

Results should be clear and concise.

Discussion

This should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them. A combined Results and Discussion section is often appropriate. Avoid extensive citations and discussion of published literature.

Conclusions

The main conclusions of the study may be presented in a short Conclusions section, which may stand alone or form a subsection of a Discussion or Results and Discussion section.

Appendices

If there is more than one appendix, they should be identified as A, B, etc. Formulae and equations in appendices should be given separate numbering: Eq. (A.1), Eq. (A.2), etc.; in a subsequent appendix, Eq. (B.1) and so on. Similarly for tables and figures: Table A.1; Fig. A.1, etc.

Essential title page information

• **Title.** Concise and informative. Titles are often used in information-retrieval systems. Avoid abbreviations and formulae where possible.

• **Author names and affiliations.** Please clearly indicate the given name(s) and family name(s) of each author and check that all names are accurately spelled. You can add your name between parentheses in your own script behind the English transliteration. Present the authors' affiliation

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

addresses (where the actual work was done) below the names. Indicate all affiliations with a lowercase superscript letter immediately after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address. Provide the full postal address of each affiliation, including the country name and, if available, the e-mail address of each author.

• **Corresponding author.** Clearly indicate who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing and publication, also post-publication. This responsibility includes answering any future queries about Methodology and Materials. **Ensure that the e-mail address is given and that contact details are kept up to date by the corresponding author.**

• **Present/permanent address.** If an author has moved since the work described in the article was done, or was visiting at the time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address') may be indicated as a footnote to that author's name. The address at which the author actually did the work must be retained as the main, affiliation address. Superscript Arabic numerals are used for such footnotes.

Abstract

A concise and factual abstract is required. The abstract should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results and major conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. For this reason, References should be avoided, but if essential, then cite the author(s) and year(s). Also, non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided, but if essential they must be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

Graphical abstract

Although a graphical abstract is optional, its use is encouraged as it draws more attention to the online article. The graphical abstract should summarize the contents of the article in a concise, pictorial form designed to capture the attention of a wide readership. Graphical abstracts should be submitted as a separate file in the online submission system. Image size: Please provide an image with a minimum of 531 \times 1328 pixels (h \times w) or proportionally more. The image should be readable at a size of 5 \times 13 cm using a regular screen resolution of 96 dpi. Preferred file types: TIFF, EPS, PDF or MS Office files. You can view Example Graphical Abstracts on our information site.

Authors can make use of Elsevier's Illustration Services to ensure the best presentation of their images and in accordance with all technical requirements.

Highlights

Highlights are mandatory for this journal. They consist of a short collection of bullet points that convey the core findings of the article and should be submitted in a separate editable file in the online submission system. Please use 'Highlights' in the file name and include 3 to 5 bullet points (maximum 85 characters, including spaces, per bullet point). You can view example Highlights on our information site.

Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, provide a maximum of 6 keywords, using American spelling and avoiding general and plural terms and multiple concepts (avoid, for example, 'and', 'of'). Be sparing with abbreviations: only abbreviations firmly established in the field may be eligible. These keywords will be used for indexing purposes.

Abbreviations

Define abbreviations that are not standard in this field in a footnote to be placed on the first page of the article. Such abbreviations that are unavoidable in the abstract must be defined at their first mention there, as well as in the footnote. Ensure consistency of abbreviations throughout the article.

Acknowledgements

Collate acknowledgements in a separate section at the end of the article before the references and do not, therefore, include them on the title page, as a footnote to the title or otherwise. List here those individuals who provided help during the research (e.g., providing language help, writing assistance or proof reading the article, etc.).

Formatting of funding sources

List funding sources in this standard way to facilitate compliance to funder's requirements:

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health [grant numbers xxxx, yyyy]; the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA [grant number zzzz]; and the United States Institutes of Peace [grant number aaaa].

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

It is not necessary to include detailed descriptions on the program or type of grants and awards. When funding is from a block grant or other resources available to a university, college, or other research institution, submit the name of the institute or organization that provided the funding.

If no funding has been provided for the research, please include the following sentence:

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Math formulae

Please submit math equations as editable text and not as images. Present simple formulae in line with normal text where possible and use the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line for small fractional terms, e.g., X/Y. In principle, variables are to be presented in italics. Powers of e are often more conveniently denoted by exp. Number consecutively any equations that have to be displayed separately from the text (if referred to explicitly in the text).

Footnotes

Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article. Many word processors can build footnotes into the text, and this feature may be used. Otherwise, please indicate the position of footnotes in the text and list the footnotes themselves separately at the end of the article. Do not include footnotes in the Reference list.

Artwork

Electronic artwork

General points

• Make sure you use uniform lettering and sizing of your original artwork.

• Embed the used fonts if the application provides that option.

• Aim to use the following fonts in your illustrations: Arial, Courier, Times New Roman, Symbol, or use fonts that look similar.

- Number the illustrations according to their sequence in the text.
- Use a logical naming convention for your artwork files.
- Provide captions to illustrations separately.
- Size the illustrations close to the desired dimensions of the published version.
- Submit each illustration as a separate file.
- A detailed guide on electronic artwork is available.

You are urged to visit this site; some excerpts from the detailed information are given here. *Formats*

If your electronic artwork is created in a Microsoft Office application (Word, PowerPoint, Excel) then please supply 'as is' in the native document format.

Regardless of the application used other than Microsoft Office, when your electronic artwork is finalized, please 'Save as' or convert the images to one of the following formats (note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below): EPS (or PDF): Vector drawings, embed all used fonts.

TIFF (or JPEG): Color or grayscale photographs (halftones), keep to a minimum of 300 dpi.

TIFF (or JPEG): Bitmapped (pure black & white pixels) line drawings, keep to a minimum of 1000 dpi. TIFF (or JPEG): Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (color or grayscale), keep to a minimum of 500 dpi.

Please do not:

• Supply files that are optimized for screen use (e.g., GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); these typically have a low number of pixels and limited set of colors;

- Supply files that are too low in resolution;
- Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

Color artwork

Please make sure that artwork files are in an acceptable format (TIFF (or JPEG), EPS (or PDF), or MS Office files) and with the correct resolution. If, together with your accepted article, you submit usable color figures then Elsevier will ensure, at no additional charge, that these figures will appear in color online (e.g., ScienceDirect and other sites) regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in color in the printed version. For color reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from Elsevier after receipt of your accepted article. Please indicate your preference for color: in print or online only. Further information on the preparation of electronic artwork.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Figure captions

Ensure that each illustration has a caption. Supply captions separately, not attached to the figure. A caption should comprise a brief title (**not** on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used.

Tables

Please submit tables as editable text and not as images. Tables can be placed either next to the relevant text in the article, or on separate page(s) at the end. Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text and place any table notes below the table body. Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in them do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article. Please avoid using vertical rules and shading in table cells.

References

Citation in text

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Any references cited in the abstract must be given in full. Unpublished results and personal communications are not recommended in the reference list, but may be mentioned in the text. If these references are included in the reference list they should follow the standard reference style of the journal and should include a substitution of the publication date with either 'Unpublished results' or 'Personal communication'. Citation of a reference as 'in press' implies that the item has been accepted for publication.

Web references

As a minimum, the full URL should be given and the date when the reference was last accessed. Any further information, if known (DOI, author names, dates, reference to a source publication, etc.), should also be given. Web references can be listed separately (e.g., after the reference list) under a different heading if desired, or can be included in the reference list.

Data references

This journal encourages you to cite underlying or relevant datasets in your manuscript by citing them in your text and including a data reference in your Reference List. Data references should include the following elements: author name(s), dataset title, data repository, version (where available), year, and global persistent identifier. Add [dataset] immediately before the reference so we can properly identify it as a data reference. The [dataset] identifier will not appear in your published article.

References in a special issue

Please ensure that the words 'this issue' are added to any references in the list (and any citations in the text) to other articles in the same Special Issue.

Reference management software

Most Elsevier journals have their reference template available in many of the most popular reference management software products. These include all products that support Citation Style Language styles, such as Mendeley and Zotero, as well as EndNote. Using the word processor plug-ins from these products, authors only need to select the appropriate journal template when preparing their article, after which citations and bibliographies will be automatically formatted in the journal's style. If no template is yet available for this journal, please follow the format of the sample references and citations as shown in this Guide.

Users of Mendeley Desktop can easily install the reference style for this journal by clicking the following link:

http://open.mendeley.com/use-citation-style/journal-of-contextual-behavioral-science

When preparing your manuscript, you will then be able to select this style using the Mendeley plugins for Microsoft Word or LibreOffice.

Reference style

Text: Citations in the text should follow the referencing style used by the American Psychological Association. You are referred to the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition, ISBN 978-1-4338-0561-5, copies of which may be ordered online or APA Order Dept., P.O.B. 2710, Hyattsville, MD 20784, USA or APA, 3 Henrietta Street, London, WC3E 8LU, UK. *List:* references should be arranged first alphabetically and then further sorted chronologically if necessary. More than one reference from the same author(s) in the same year must be identified by the letters 'a', 'b', 'c', etc., placed after the year of publication.

Examples:

Reference to a journal publication:

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Van der Geer, J., Hanraads, J. A. J., & Lupton, R. A. (2010). The art of writing a scientific article. *Journal of Scientific Communications*, 163, 51–59.

Reference to a book:

Strunk, W., Jr., & White, E. B. (2000). *The elements of style.* (4th ed.). New York: Longman, (Chapter 4).

Reference to a chapter in an edited book:

Mettam, G. R., & Adams, L. B. (2009). How to prepare an electronic version of your article. In B. S. Jones, & R. Z. Smith (Eds.), *Introduction to the electronic age* (pp. 281–304). New York: E-Publishing Inc.

Reference to a website:

Cancer Research UK. Cancer statistics reports for the UK. (2003). http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/ aboutcancer/statistics/cancerstatsreport/ Accessed 13 March 2003. Reference to a dataset:

[dataset] Oguro, M., Imahiro, S., Saito, S., Nakashizuka, T. (2015). *Mortality data for Japanese oak wilt disease and surrounding forest compositions*. Mendeley Data, v1. https://doi.org/10.17632/xwj98nb39r.1.

Reference to a conference paper or poster presentation:

Engle, E.K., Cash, T.F., & Jarry, J.L. (2009, November). The Body Image Behaviours Inventory-3: Development and validation of the Body Image Compulsive Actions and Body Image Avoidance Scales. Poster session presentation at the meeting of the Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies, New York, NY.

Video

Elsevier accepts video material and animation sequences to support and enhance your scientific research. Authors who have video or animation files that they wish to submit with their article are strongly encouraged to include links to these within the body of the article. This can be done in the same way as a figure or table by referring to the video or animation content and noting in the body text where it should be placed. All submitted files should be properly labeled so that they directly relate to the video file's content. . In order to ensure that your video or animation material is directly usable, please provide the file in one of our recommended file formats with a preferred maximum size of 150 MB per file, 1 GB in total. Video and animation files supplied will be published online in the electronic version of your article in Elsevier Web products, including ScienceDirect. Please supply 'stills' with your files: you can choose any frame from the video or animation or make a separate image. These will be used instead of standard icons and will personalize the link to your video data. For more detailed instructions please visit our video instruction pages. Note: since video and animation cannot be embedded in the print version of the journal, please provide text for both the electronic and the print version for the portions of the article that refer to this content.

AudioSlides

The journal encourages authors to create an AudioSlides presentation with their published article. AudioSlides are brief, webinar-style presentations that are shown next to the online article on ScienceDirect. This gives authors the opportunity to summarize their research in their own words and to help readers understand what the paper is about. More information and examples are available. Authors of this journal will automatically receive an invitation e-mail to create an AudioSlides presentation after acceptance of their paper.

Data visualization

Include interactive data visualizations in your publication and let your readers interact and engage more closely with your research. Follow the instructions here to find out about available data visualization options and how to include them with your article.

Supplementary material

Supplementary material such as applications, images and sound clips, can be published with your article to enhance it. Submitted supplementary items are published exactly as they are received (Excel or PowerPoint files will appear as such online). Please submit your material together with the article and supply a concise, descriptive caption for each supplementary file. If you wish to make changes to supplementary material during any stage of the process, please make sure to provide an updated file. Do not annotate any corrections on a previous version. Please switch off the 'Track Changes' option in Microsoft Office files as these will appear in the published version.

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Research data

This journal encourages and enables you to share data that supports your research publication where appropriate, and enables you to interlink the data with your published articles. Research data refers to the results of observations or experimentation that validate research findings. To facilitate reproducibility and data reuse, this journal also encourages you to share your software, code, models, algorithms, protocols, methods and other useful materials related to the project.

Below are a number of ways in which you can associate data with your article or make a statement about the availability of your data when submitting your manuscript. If you are sharing data in one of these ways, you are encouraged to cite the data in your manuscript and reference list. Please refer to the "References" section for more information about data citation. For more information on depositing, sharing and using research data and other relevant research materials, visit the research data page.

Data linking

If you have made your research data available in a data repository, you can link your article directly to the dataset. Elsevier collaborates with a number of repositories to link articles on ScienceDirect with relevant repositories, giving readers access to underlying data that gives them a better understanding of the research described.

There are different ways to link your datasets to your article. When available, you can directly link your dataset to your article by providing the relevant information in the submission system. For more information, visit the database linking page.

For supported data repositories a repository banner will automatically appear next to your published article on ScienceDirect.

In addition, you can link to relevant data or entities through identifiers within the text of your manuscript, using the following format: Database: xxxx (e.g., TAIR: AT1G01020; CCDC: 734053; PDB: 1XFN).

Mendeley Data

This journal supports Mendeley Data, enabling you to deposit any research data (including raw and processed data, video, code, software, algorithms, protocols, and methods) associated with your manuscript in a free-to-use, open access repository. Before submitting your article, you can deposit the relevant datasets to *Mendeley Data*. Please include the DOI of the deposited dataset(s) in your main manuscript file. The datasets will be listed and directly accessible to readers next to your published article online.

For more information, visit the Mendeley Data for journals page.

Data statement

To foster transparency, we encourage you to state the availability of your data in your submission. This may be a requirement of your funding body or institution. If your data is unavailable to access or unsuitable to post, you will have the opportunity to indicate why during the submission process, for example by stating that the research data is confidential. The statement will appear with your published article on ScienceDirect. For more information, visit the Data Statement page.

AFTER ACCEPTANCE

Online proof correction

Corresponding authors will receive an e-mail with a link to our online proofing system, allowing annotation and correction of proofs online. The environment is similar to MS Word: in addition to editing text, you can also comment on figures/tables and answer questions from the Copy Editor. Web-based proofing provides a faster and less error-prone process by allowing you to directly type your corrections, eliminating the potential introduction of errors.

If preferred, you can still choose to annotate and upload your edits on the PDF version. All instructions for proofing will be given in the e-mail we send to authors, including alternative methods to the online version and PDF.

We will do everything possible to get your article published quickly and accurately. Please use this proof only for checking the typesetting, editing, completeness and correctness of the text, tables and figures. Significant changes to the article as accepted for publication will only be considered at this

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

stage with permission from the Editor. It is important to ensure that all corrections are sent back to us in one communication. Please check carefully before replying, as inclusion of any subsequent corrections cannot be guaranteed. Proofreading is solely your responsibility.

Offprints

The corresponding author will, at no cost, receive a customized Share Link providing 50 days free access to the final published version of the article on ScienceDirect. The Share Link can be used for sharing the article via any communication channel, including email and social media. For an extra charge, paper offprints can be ordered via the offprint order form which is sent once the article is accepted for publication. Both corresponding and co-authors may order offprints at any time via Elsevier's Webshop. Corresponding authors who have published their article gold open access do not receive a Share Link as their final published version of the article is available open access on ScienceDirect and can be shared through the article DOI link.

AUTHOR INQUIRIES

Visit the Elsevier Support Center to find the answers you need. Here you will find everything from Frequently Asked Questions to ways to get in touch.

You can also check the status of your submitted article or find out when your accepted article will be published.

© Copyright 2018 Elsevier | https://www.elsevier.com

AUTHOR INFORMATION PACK 8 Apr 2018

www.elsevier.com/locate/jcbs

Appendix B: Quality assessment criteria

Psychosocial adjustment to mild	cognitive impairment
---------------------------------	----------------------

QUALITY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA

Randomised control trial (RCT)	Good
Non-randomised control trial/ multiple baseline	Fair
Repeated measures design / uncontrolled trial	Poor
Single case experimental design	Unsatisfacto Unclear/ N//
2. Are the recruitment method and inclusion/ exclusion criteria appropriate to representative sample that can be generalised?	o ensure a
A representative recruitment procedure was selected to minimise selection bias and suitable inclusion/ exclusion criteria applied to address the study aims	Good
A convenience recruitment procedure was selected, however adequate effort has been made to ensure sample representativeness. The inclusion/exclusion criteria are adequately appropriate to address the study aims	Fair
A convenience recruitment procedure was selected, however inadequate effort has been made to ensure sample representativeness, to reduce selection bias. The inclusion/ exclusion criteria are inappropriate to address the study aims.	Poor
Recruitment method inappropriate and no attempt made to apply inclusion/ exclusion criteria or address participant characteristics.	Unsatisfacto Unclear/ N//
3. Sample size (power) is sufficient for analysis relating to pre and post outc	ome measure
Number of participants who completed both pre & post measures in the intervention group is sufficient to achieve Power of at least 0.8, where effect size is anticipated to be medium & alpha is 0.05	Good
Number of participants who completed both pre & post measures in the intervention group is sufficient to achieve Power of at least 0.7, where effect size is anticipated to be medium & alpha is 0.05.	Fair
Number of participants who completed both pre & post measures in the intervention group is sufficient to achieve Power of less than 0.7, where effect size is anticipated to be medium & alpha is 0.05.	Poor
Sample size not reported/ Study did not consider power/ study recruited an insufficient number of participants to be adequately powered.	Unsatisfacto Unclear/ N//

4. Is the allocation process appropriate to address allocation bias?	
Appropriate process of allocation to treatment groups is applied to reduce bias and investigators are blinded (e.g. random allocation)	Good
Inadequate process of allocation to groups to reduce bias (e.g. poor randomisation method).	Fair
Control group not randomised	Poor
No control group	Unsatisfactory Unclear/ N/A
Are groups comparable at baseline on key characteristics (e.g. Age, gend severity etc.)	er, problem
The treatment and control groups are comparable at baseline OR sufficient attempts have been made to statistically control for the differences.	Good
The treatment and control groups are only adequately comparable at baseline OR only adequate attempts have been made to control for differences.	Fair
The treatment and control groups are not comparable at baseline and no	Poor
attempts have been made to address the differences.	
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat	Unsatisfactory, Unclear/ N/A xibility are robus
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardized and appropriately administered	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robus ed Good
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered.	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robus ed Good Fair
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered. Less than 50% of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are adequately appropriate, valid and reliable for an older adult population and are adequately administered.	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robus ed Good Fair Poor
 attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered. Less than 50% of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are adequately appropriate, valid and reliable for an older adult population and are adequately administered. Primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are not appropriate for an older adult population OR these are inappropriately standardised/ administered. 	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robusted Good Fair Poor Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A
 attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered. Less than 50% of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are adequately appropriate, valid and reliable for an older adult population and are adequately administered. Primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are not appropriate for an older adult population OR these are inappropriately standardised/ administered. 7. Follow-up measures are administered to evaluate if effects are maintained 	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robusted Good Fair Poor Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered. Less than 50% of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are adequately appropriate, valid and reliable for an older adult population and are adequately administered. Primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are not appropriate for an older adult population OR these are inappropriately standardised/ administered. 7. Follow-up measures are administered to evaluate if effects are maintained Follow-up primary measures are given ≥ 12 months	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robused Good Fair Poor Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered. Less than 50% of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are adequately appropriate, valid and reliable for an older adult population and are adequately administered. Primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are not appropriate for an older adult population OR these are inappropriately standardised/ administered. 7. Follow-up measures are administered to evaluate if effects are maintained Follow-up primary measures are given ≥ 12 months Follow-up primary measures are given ≥ 6 months	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robused Good Fair Poor Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A d long-term Good Fair
attempts have been made to address the differences. No control group. 6. Outcome measures of distress, physical functioning and psychological fle for an older adult population, are appropriately administered and well-validat The primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are suitable, valid and reliable for an older adult population; are standardised and appropriately administered. Most of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are only adequately appropriate, valid and reliable with an older adult population; adequately standardised or only adequately administered. Less than 50% of the primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are adequately appropriate, valid and reliable for an older adult population and are adequately administered. Primary distress, physical functioning and psychological flexibility measures are not appropriate for an older adult population OR these are inappropriately standardised/ administered. 7. Follow-up measures are administered to evaluate if effects are maintained Follow-up primary measures are given ≥ 12 months Follow-up primary measures are given ≥ 6 months Follow-up primary measures are given ≤ 6 months	Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A xibility are robused Good Fair Poor Unsatisfactory/ Unclear/ N/A blong-term Good Fair Poor

8. Treatment protocol is suitable for reducing distress and/or improving physic and/or improving psychological flexibility outcomes with older adults	cal functioning
A sufficiently detailed ACT treatment protocol is used and this is appropriate to reduce distress OR improve physical functioning/ psychological flexibility outcomes (e.g. sufficient number of sessions, clear and valid protocol rationale/ content, sufficient level of therapist input).	Good
An adequately detailed ACT protocol is used or this is only partially appropriate to reduce distress OR improve physical functioning/ psychological flexibility outcomes (number of sessions, protocol rationale/ content, level of therapist input).	Fair
The ACT protocol is not sufficient to ensure reliability or it is not adequate to reduce distress OR improve physical functioning/ psychological flexibility outcomes (number of sessions, protocol rationale/ content, level of therapist input).	Poor
No treatment protocol is used.	Unsatisfactory / Unclear/N/A
9. Intervention is appropriately conducted and adherence to protocol is suitab	ly assessed
The intervention is carried out by therapists with sufficient training in ACT, treatment fidelity is measured (e.g. audio/ video tapes rated independently/ by a supervisor) and fidelity is rated as high.	Good
The intervention is carried out by adequately trained therapists AND fidelity to treatment was suitably measured and considered acceptable OR fidelity was rated as high but some weaknesses in measurement (self or participant rated) OR fidelity was not rated however supervision was provided by a practitioner experienced in ACT.	Fair
Intervention is not carried out by suitably trained therapists OR fidelity to treatment was rated as low AND/ OR had considerable weaknesses in measurement.	Poor
No information about the therapists' background/ training or procedure to assess treatment fidelity.	Unsatisfactory / Unclear/N/A
10. Analysis is appropriate for the study aims, measures or design, and outco appropriately reported.	mes are
An appropriate statistical analysis is conducted (excl. missing data analysis) and the outcomes are appropriately reported.	Good
An adequately appropriate statistical analysis is conducted (excl. missing data analysis), or the outcomes are only adequately reported.	Fair
	Poor
Inappropriate or poorly conducted statistical analysis is used or the outcomes are poorly reported.	I los attafa atam.

11. Attrition rates are low or comparable to control group at post-treatment	
Attrition rates are low (≤ 20%) or equivalent to control group at post- treatment	Good
Attrition rates are moderate (<40%) or moderately different from control group at post-treatment	Fair
Attrition rates are high or differ substantially from control group at post treatment	Poor
Attrition rates are not reported or considered.	Unsatisfactory / Unclear/N/A
12. Attrition rates are low or comparable to control group at follow-up	-
Attrition rates are low (≤ 20%) or equivalent to control group at follow-up	Good
Attrition rates are moderate (<40%) or moderately different from control group at follow-up	Fair
Attrition rates are high or differ substantially from control group at follow-up	Poor
Attrition rates are not reported or considered.	Unsatisfactory / Unclear/N/A
13. Method to address missing data is suitable	-
No missing data or suitable method to address missing data is used (e.g. intention to treat analysis, maximum likelihood estimation).	Good
An adequate method to address missing data is used.	Adequate
Missing data is poorly address.	Poor
No attempt to consider missing data in the analysis.	Unsatisfactory / Unclear/N/A
Overall quality rating	
≥75% of quality items rated as 'good'	High
≥50% of quality items rated as 'good'	Acceptable
	Law

Manuscript Preparation

Prepare manuscripts according to the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association* (6thedition). Manuscripts may be copyedited for bias-free language (see Chapter 3 of the *Publication Manual*). Review APA's <u>Checklist for Manuscript</u> <u>Submission</u> before submitting your article. Double-space all copy.



Other formatting instructions, as well as instructions on preparing tables, figures, references, metrics, and abstracts, appear in the *Manual*. Additional guidance on APA Style is available on the <u>APA Style website</u>.

Length

Articles

Articles do not typically exceed 8,000 words, excluding references, tables, and figures. Shorter manuscripts are equally welcome.

Articles exceeding the 8,000 word limit may be considered if they offer an especially novel theoretical framework, or complex methodology or statistical approach that requires more extensive exposition.

Brief Reports

The Brief Report format is reserved for particularly "crisp," theoretically noteworthy contributions that meet the highest methodological standards. Brief reports are typically no longer than 3,500 words, excluding references, tables, and figures, and include no more than two tables or figures. Papers in this format differ in length from regular articles, but not in rigor. Below are additional instructions regarding the preparation of display equations, computer code, and tables.

Title Page

The first manuscript page is a title page, which includes a title of no more than 12 words, the author byline and institutional affiliation(s) where the work was conducted, a running head with a maximum of 50 characters (including spaces), and the author note.

Abstract and Keywords

All manuscripts must include an abstract typed on a separate page. After the abstract, please supply up to five keywords or brief phrases. For regular articles, abstracts are no longer than 250 words; for brief reports, no longer than 100 words.

References

List references in alphabetical order. Each listed reference should be cited in text, and each text citation should be listed in the References section. Examples of basic reference formats:

 Journal Article: Hughes, G., Desantis, A., & Waszak, F. (2013). Mechanisms of intentional binding and sensory attenuation: The role of temporal prediction, temporal control, identity prediction, and motor prediction. *Psychological Bulletin*, *139*, 133–151. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0028566

Authored Book: Rogers, T. T., & McClelland, J. L. (2004). *Semantic cognition: A parallel distributed processing approach*.Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

 Chapter in an Edited Book: Gill, M. J., & Sypher, B. D. (2009). Workplace incivility and organizational trust. In P. Lutgen-Sandvik & B. D. Sypher (Eds.), *Destructive organizational communication: Processes, consequences, and constructive ways of*

organizing (pp. 53–73). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.

Figures

Graphics files are welcome if supplied as Tiff or EPS files. Multipanel figures (i.e., figures with parts labeled a, b, c, d, etc.) should be assembled into one file. The minimum line weight for line art is 0.5 point for optimal printing.

For more information about acceptable resolutions, fonts, sizing, and other figure issues, please see the general guidelines.

When possible, please place symbol legends below the figure instead of to the side.

APA offers authors the option to publish their figures online in color without the costs associated with print publication of color figures.

The same caption will appear on both the online (color) and print (black and white) versions. To ensure that the figure can be understood in both formats, authors should add alternative wording (e.g., "the red (dark gray) bars represent") as needed.

For authors who prefer their figures to be published in color both in print and online, original color figures can be printed in color at the editor's and publisher's discretion provided the author agrees to pay:

- \$900 for one figure
- An additional \$600 for the second figure
- An additional \$450 for each subsequent figure

Additional instructions for equations, computer code, and tables follow:

Display Equations

We strongly encourage you to use MathType (third-party software) or Equation Editor 3.0 (built into pre-2007 versions of Word) to construct your equations, rather than the equation support that is built into Word 2007 and Word 2010. Equations composed with the built-in Word 2007/Word 2010 equation support are

converted to low-resolution graphics when they enter the production process and must be rekeyed by the typesetter, which may introduce errors. To construct your equations with MathType or Equation Editor 3.0:

- Go to the Text section of the Insert tab and select Object.
- Select MathType or Equation Editor 3.0 in the drop-down menu.
- If you have an equation that has already been produced using Microsoft Word 2007 or 2010 and you have access to the full version of MathType 6.5 or later, you can convert this equation to MathType by clicking on MathType Insert Equation. Copy the equation from Microsoft Word and paste it into the MathType box. Verify that your equation is correct, click File, and then click Update. Your equation has now been inserted into your Word file as a MathType Equation. Use Equation Editor 3.0 or MathType only for equations or for formulas that cannot be produced as Word text using the Times or Symbol font.

Computer Code

Because altering computer code in any way (e.g., indents, line spacing, line breaks, page breaks) during the typesetting process could alter its meaning, we treat computer code differently from the rest of your article in our production process. To that end, we request separate files for computer code.

In Online Supplemental Material

We request that runnable source code be included as supplemental material to the article. For more information, visit <u>Supplementing Your Article With Online</u> <u>Material</u>.

In the Text of the Article

If you would like to include code in the text of your published manuscript, please submit a separate file with your code exactly as you want it to appear, using Courier New font with a type size of 8 points. We will make an image of each segment of code in your article that exceeds 40 characters in length. (Shorter snippets of code that appear in text will be typeset in Courier New and run in with the rest of the text.) If an appendix contains a mix of code and explanatory text, please submit a file that contains the entire appendix, with the code keyed in 8-point Courier New.

Tables

Use Word's Insert Table function when you create tables. Using spaces or tabs in your table will create problems when the table is typeset and may result in errors.

Academic Writing and English Language Editing Services

Authors who feel that their manuscript may benefit from additional academic writing or language editing support prior to submission are encouraged to seek out such services at their host institutions, engage with colleagues and subject matter experts, and/or consider several <u>vendors that offer discounts to APA</u> authors.

Please note that APA does not endorse or take responsibility for the service providers listed. It is strictly a referral service.

Use of such service is not mandatory for publication in an APA journal. Use of one or more of these services does not guarantee selection for peer review, manuscript acceptance, or preference for publication in any APA journal.

Submitting Supplemental Materials

APA can place supplemental materials online, available via the published article in the PsycARTICLES[®] database. Please see <u>Supplementing Your Article With</u> <u>Online Material</u> for more details.

Permissions

Authors of accepted papers must obtain and provide to the editor on final acceptance all necessary permissions to reproduce in print and electronic form any copyrighted work, including test materials (or portions thereof), photographs, and other graphic images (including those used as stimuli in experiments). On advice of counsel, APA may decline to publish any image whose copyright status is unknown.

Download Permissions Alert Form (PDF, 13KB)

Publication Policies

APA policy prohibits an author from submitting the same manuscript for concurrent consideration by two or more publications.

See also <u>APA Journals[®] Internet Posting Guidelines</u>.

APA requires authors to reveal any possible conflict of interest in the conduct and reporting of research (e.g., financial interests in a test or procedure, funding by pharmaceutical companies for drug research).

Download Disclosure of Interests Form (PDF, 38KB)

In light of changing patterns of scientific knowledge dissemination, APA requires authors to provide information on prior dissemination of the data and narrative interpretations of the data/research appearing in the manuscript (e.g., if some or all were presented at a conference or meeting, posted on a listserv, shared on a website, including academic social networks like ResearchGate, etc.). This information (2–4 sentences) must be provided as part of the Author Note. Authors of accepted manuscripts are required to transfer the copyright to APA.

- For manuscripts not funded by the Wellcome Trust or the Research Councils UK <u>Publication Rights (Copyright Transfer) Form (PDF, 83KB)</u>
- For manuscripts funded by the Wellcome Trust or the Research Councils UK Wellcome Trust or Research Councils UK Publication Rights Form (PDF, 34KB)

Ethical Principles

It is a violation of APA Ethical Principles to publish "as original data, data that have been previously published" (Standard 8.13).

In addition, APA Ethical Principles specify that "after research results are published, psychologists do not withhold the data on which their conclusions are based from other competent professionals who seek to verify the substantive claims through reanalysis and who intend to use such data only for that purpose, provided that the confidentiality of the participants can be protected and unless legal rights concerning proprietary data preclude their release" (Standard 8.14). APA expects authors to adhere to these standards. Specifically, APA expects authors to have their data available throughout the editorial review process and for at least 5 years after the date of publication.

Authors are required to state in writing that they have complied with APA ethical standards in the treatment of their sample, human or animal, or to describe the details of treatment.

 Download Certification of Compliance With APA Ethical Principles Form (PDF, 26KB)

The APA Ethics Office provides the full <u>Ethical Principles of Psychologists and</u> <u>Code of Conduct</u> electronically on its website in HTML, PDF, and Word format. You may also request a copy by <u>emailing</u> or calling the APA Ethics Office (202-336-5930). You may also read "Ethical Principles," December 1992, *American Psychologist*, Vol. 47, pp. 1597–1611.

Appendix D: Ethical approval documentation

Lounan NHS DOA	rd	South East Scotland Research Ethics Committee 01	ЛП
		Waverley Gate 2-4 Waterloo Place Edinburgh EH1 3EG	Lothia
		Telephone 0131 536 9000	
		www.nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk	
Please note: This is the fa opinion of the REC only and does not a	avourable llow you to	Date 15 December 2016 Your Ref Our Ref	
start your study at NHS s	sites in HRA	Enquiries to: Sandra Wyllie	
Approval		Extension: 35473 Direct Line: 0131 465 5473	
		Email: Sandra.Wyllie@nhslothian.scot	.nhs.uk
15 December 2016			
Miss Kerry Ross Trainee Clinical Psycho NHS Lothian Clinical Psychology Dep Doorway 6, Old Medical Teviot Place, Edinburgh EH8 9AG	logist partment, School of Ho I School I	ealth in Social Science	
Dear Miss Ross			
Study title:	Psychological in older adults impairment ar	l adjustment to mild cognitive impa s: The role of illness perceptions, o nd cognitive fusion.	airment cognitive
HEC reference:	212507		
IRAS project ID:			
IRAS project ID: The Research Ethics Co December 2016. Than	ommittee reviewed the k you for attending to	e above application at the meeting he discuss the application.	eld on 07
IRAS project ID: The Research Ethics Co December 2016. Than We plan to publish your together with your conta this favourable opinion I studies that receive an e wish to make a request Mrs Sandra Wyllie, sand for student research wh exemption to the publica	ommittee reviewed the k you for attending to research summary w act details. Publication etter. The expectation athical opinion but sho to defer, or require fu dra.wyllie@nhslothian ich has received an u ation of the study.	e above application at the meeting he discuss the application. Fording for the above study on the HR will be no earlier than three months n is that this information will be public puld you wish to provide a substitute of ther information, please contact the .scot.nhs.uk. Under very limited circu nfavourable opinion), it may be possi	A website, from the date of shed for all contact point, REC Manager imstances (e.g. ble to grant an
IRAS project ID: The Research Ethics Co December 2016. Than We plan to publish your together with your conta this favourable opinion I studies that receive an of wish to make a request Mrs Sandra Wyllie, sand for student research wh exemption to the publica Ethical opinion	ommittee reviewed the k you for attending to research summary w act details. Publication etter. The expectation sthical opinion but sho to defer, or require fu dra.wyllie@nhslothian ich has received an u ation of the study.	e above application at the meeting he discuss the application. Fording for the above study on the HF will be no earlier than three months in is that this information will be publis buld you wish to provide a substitute of ther information, please contact the scot.nhs.uk. Under very limited circun favourable opinion), it may be possi	eld on 07 A website, from the date of shed for all contact point, REC Manager imstances (e.g. ble to grant an
IRAS project ID: The Research Ethics Co December 2016. Than We plan to publish your together with your conta this favourable opinion I studies that receive an of wish to make a request Mrs Sandra Wyllie, sand for student research wh exemption to the publica Ethical opinion The members of the Co on the basis described i the conditions specified	ommittee reviewed the k you for attending to research summary w act details. Publication etter. The expectation ethical opinion but sho to defer, or require fu dra.wyllie@nhslothian ich has received an u ation of the study.	e above application at the meeting he discuss the application. Fording for the above study on the HF a will be no earlier than three months in is that this information will be public buld you wish to provide a substitute orther information, please contact the .scot.nhs.uk. Under very limited circu nfavourable opinion), it may be possi e a favourable ethical opinion of the a b, protocol and supporting documenta	eld on 07 A website, from the date of shed for all contact point, REC Manager imstances (e.g. ble to grant an bove research tion, subject to
IRAS project ID: The Research Ethics Co December 2016. Than We plan to publish your together with your conta this favourable opinion I studies that receive an e wish to make a request Mrs Sandra Wyllie, sand for student research wh exemption to the publica Ethical opinion The members of the Co on the basis described i the conditions specified	ommittee reviewed the k you for attending to research summary w act details. Publication etter. The expectation ethical opinion but sho to defer, or require fu dra.wyllie@nhslothian ich has received an u ation of the study. mmittee present gave n the application form below.	e above application at the meeting he discuss the application. Fording for the above study on the HR will be no earlier than three months in is that this information will be public buld you wish to provide a substitute of the information, please contact the .scot.nhs.uk. Under very limited circun favourable opinion), it may be possi e a favourable ethical opinion of the a b, protocol and supporting documenta Headquarters Waverley Gate, 2-4 Waterloo Place, Edinbu	eld on 07 A website, from the date of shed for all contact point, REC Manager imstances (e.g. ble to grant an ble to grant an bove research tion, subject to

	NH:
Queen's Medical Research Institute 47 Little France Crescent, Edinburgh, EH16 4TJ	Lothia
FM/CF/approval	
26 January 2017	Research & Development Room E1.12 Tel: 0131 242 3330
Ms Kerry Ross NHS Lothian Lothian Older People's Psychology Service	Email: accord@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk
Morningside Terrace, Edinburgh EH10 5HF	Director: Professor David E Newby
Dear Ms Ross	
Lothian R&D Project No: 2016/0320	REC No: 16/SS/0215
Title of Research: Psychological adjustment to a d	diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment 1
Participant Information Sheet: Version 3.0, dated 24 January 2017 (Clinic) Version 3.0, dated 24 January 2017 (Casenote)	Consent Form: Version 1.0, dated 8 November 2016
Protocol: Version 2.0, dated 22 January 2017	
I am pleased to inform you this letter provides Site study and you may proceed with your research, su	Specific approval for NHS Lothian for the above bject to the conditions below.
Please note that the NHS Lothian R&D Office must amendments to the protocol, funding, recruitment, Lothian.	t be informed of any changes to the study such as personnel or resource input required of NHS
Substantial amendments to the protocol will require approved your study and the MHRA where applica	e approval from the ethics committee which ble.
Please keep this office informed of the following str	udy information:
 Date you are ready to begin recruitment, d the quarterly recruitment figures thereafter Date the final participant is recruited and th Date your study (trial is completed within I 	ate of the recruitment of the first participant and he final recruitment figures.
wish you every success with your study.	
Yours sincerely	
Ms Fiona McArdle Deputy R&D Director	
CC: Mr Tim Montgomery, Director of Operations, F Mr Aris Tyrothoulakis, General Manager for D Miss Amanda Stevenson, NHS Lothian, Psyci	REH iagnostic Services, RIE hology Department

Appendix E: Demographic questionnaire





Psychosocial adjustment to a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment in older adults: The role of illness perceptions, cognitive fusion and cognitive impairment.

Participant Information Sheet

Invitation

We're inviting you to take part in a research study. Before you decide if you want to take part, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it would involve for you.

Please take time to read the following information about the study, and perhaps talk it over with others. If there is anything that is unclear, or if you have any questions, please do not hesitate to ask the Chief Investigator (contact details at the end of this information sheet).

What's the study for?

We're interested in how people adjust to getting a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment (sometimes referred to as memory and/or thinking problems).

We know that the beliefs people have about their health can affect their emotional wellbeing and quality of life. We want to understand more about this relationship and whether other factors affect how people adjust emotionally and socially to this diagnosis.

Why have I been chosen?

Because you have been given a diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment in the past 3 to 9 months.

PIS Clinic - Version 4 17-02-17 Page 1 of 5

Do I have to take part?

No - taking part in the study is entirely up to you.

If you do agree to take part, you can leave the study at any time. You won't be asked to give a reason and leaving won't affect the care you get from the NHS.

What happens if I take part in the study?

If you decide to take part, we'll ask you to:

- Sign a consent form which states that you understand the nature of the research and that you are willing to take part.
- Meet with the Chief Investigator for an appointment, which will last about **1 hour**.

Appointments will be held at NHS clinics across the Lothians and Lanarkshire. Please note that we cannot provide you with travel expenses to attend appointments. For this reason, we will try to meet you at an NHS clinic close to where you live. Home visits may also be possible.

The Chief Investigator will book your appointment with you over the phone. You can tell her the place, date and time that suit you best.

At the appointment we'll assess your memory and your thinking. Then you'll complete six questionnaires. The Chief Investigator will help you to fill these out if needed.

Will I benefit from taking part?

You will not benefit directly from taking part in the study. However, taking part would help us to boost research in this area. We hope that this research will help us to better understand and help others in the future.

PIS Clinic - Version 4 17-02-17 Page 2 of 5

What are the possible risks or disadvantages of taking part?

Some of the questionnaires ask about sensitive things, and explore your mental health and diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment. It is possible that some people may find this tiring or upsetting. If this happens to you, the Chief Investigator will be able to provide immediate support and will offer you a break or the option to come back another time. The Chief Investigator can also tell you about support services if needed.

Is taking part kept confidential?

All of the personal data we collect from you will stay confidential. Your data will be stored securely at an NHS site. Only the Chief Investigator and their Clinical and Research Supervisors will see your data - but also the study Sponsor, an authorised individual from NHS Scotland or the University of Edinburgh might also want to review your data to make sure the study is being carried out to a high standard and in line with study protocol.

We'll write to your GP just to say that you are taking part in the study. We'll only tell your GP more than that if your answers to the questionnaires indicate you're having significant difficulties or distress that need investigated further, for example a significant decline in your memory or thinking ability. We have a duty of care to pass on information to your GP or other professionals (e.g. a psychiatrist), if we have concerns about you, or someone else's, safety or wellbeing. The Chief Investigator would discuss this with you and let you know what other professionals could do to help.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results of the study will form part of a University of Edinburgh Doctoral thesis. The results of the study will also be submitted to academic journals for publication.

If you opt on the consent form to hear about the results of the study, we'll send you a written summary when the study ends (approximately March 2018).

PIS Clinic - Version 4 17-02-17 Page 3 of 5

Who's organising and funding the research

The study is being organised by Kerry Ross (Chief Investigator and Trainee Clinical Psychologist) under the supervision of Dr. Azucena Guzman (Chartered Clinical Psychologist and Lecturer in Health and Ageing, University of Edinburgh) and Dr. Amanda Stevenson (Clinical Psychologist NHS Lothian/ NHS Lanarkshire). Both NHS Lothian and the University of Edinburgh are supporting the study.

Who has reviewed the study?

It's been reviewed and approved by:

- The School of Humanities and Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee at the University of Edinburgh
- The South East Scotland Research Ethics Committee

What to do now?

If you're interested in taking part in the study, please complete the slip at the end of your invite letter and return to the NHS clinician who gave you this information sheet. You can also return the slip via post in the stamped address envelope provided. The Chief Investigator will then phone you in the coming weeks to talk it over with you. If you decide to go ahead, we'll arrange an appointment with you.

Who can I contact if I have questions or concerns about the research?

If you have any questions or queries about the study, phone the Chief Investigator, Kerry Ross on 0131 537 6901 or email her at (Kerry.Ross@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk).

If you would like to discuss this study with someone independent of the research, you can contact:

Dr Angus MacBeth (Department of Clinical and Health Psychology, University of Edinburgh) on <u>0131 650 3893</u>.

If any problems happen during the study, you can contact:

Professor Charlotte Clarke (Head of School) on 0131 650 4327.

PIS Clinic - Version 4 17-02-17 Page 4 of 5

Psychosocial adjustment to mild cognitive impairment
If you wish to make a formal complaint, you can contact:
Patient Experience Team 2nd Floor, Waverley Gate 2 - 4 Waterloo Place Edinburgh EH1 3EG Tel: 0131 536 3370
reedback@misiotman.scot.mis.uk.
Thank you for considering taking part in this study.

PIS Clinic - Version 4 17-02-17

Γ

Page 5 of 5
Appendix G: Preliminary analyses: meeting the assumptions of parametricity

The following outlines the steps that were completed to ensure assumptions of parametric testing were met prior to conducting correlation and regression analyses.

Linearity and homoscedasticity

Standardised residual plots were visually inspected and assumptions of linearity were confirmed. Independence of residuals was checked using the Durbin-Watson statistic and all were found to be close to 2, indicating no presence of autocorrelation in the sample (Field, 2009). Residual scatterplots were visually inspected for the regression analyses and confirmed the assumption of homoscedasticity was met as there was no clear evidence of linearity or funneling.

Multi-collinearity

Pearson's correlations were conducted to test the assumption of multi-collinearity. The strongest correlation (r=.69) was below the recommended level (r≥.90) (Field, 2009) and therefore multi-collinearity was ruled out. The variance inflation factor (VIF) and tolerance statistics were also checked and were well within suitable limits (VIF <1.01) and (tolerance >.99)

Normality

As recommended by Field (2009), histograms and QQ-plots were visually inspected to assess the normality of the data. To ensure parametricity, transformations were performed on variables with a skewed distribution. A square root transformation resulted in the most normal distribution for GAI, GDS and chronic timeline variables, whilst a logarithmic 10 transformation was optimal for the treatment control variable. Although on visual inspection the CFQ histogram showed a slight positive skew, skew and kurtosis z-scores were within acceptable

limits (<1.96) (Ghasemi & Zahediasi, 2012), therefore no transformation was carried out. Details of z-scores and transformations are provided in Table C1.

	Untransformed		Transformed		
Variable	Visual of histogram/ QQ-plot	Z-scores skew/ kurtosis	Method	Z-scores skew/ kurtosis	Conclusion
MoCA	Normal	0.33/ 0.69	N/A		Normal
GAI-SF	Postive skew	0.34/ 1.14	Sqrt	0.05/1.44	Normal
GDS-5	Positive skew	1.21/ 1.79	Sqrt	0.63/ 0.17	Normal
CFQ	Slight positive skew	0.66/ 0.41			Normal
QoL-AD	Normal	0.49/ 0.10			Normal
Identity	Normal	0.41/ 0.38			Normal
Chronicity	Slight negative skew	0.83/ 0.13	Sqrt	0.29/ 1.06	Normal
Consequences	Normal	0.50/ 0.69			Normal
Personal control	Normal	0.88/ 0.44			Normal
Treatment control	Negative skew	1.57/ 3.93	Log10	0.48/ 1.14	Normal
Coherence	Normal	0.01/ 0.93			Normal
Cyclic	Normal	0.19/ 0.79			Normal
Emotional representation	Normal	0.01/ 0.27			Normal

Table C1: Variable transformations

Note: CFQ: cognitive fusion questionnaire; **GAI-SF**: Geriatric anxiety inventory – short form; **GDS-5**: Geriatric depression scale – five item; **Log10**: Logarithmic 10; **MoCA**: Montreal cognitive assessment; **Sqrt**: Square root; **QoL-AD**: Quality of Life – Alzheimer's disease

Outliers

Mahalanobi's distance statistic was utilised to check for the presence of significant outliers. Based on the number of predictors and sample size, Barnett and Lewis' (2004) critical value table suggests that a Mahalanobi's distance value greater than 13.82 indicates the presence of an influential outlier. Across the three regression analyses the Mahalanobi's statistic did not exceed 8.99, therefore indicating the presence of no significant outliers.